
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

May 7, 2025 
2:00 p.m. 

Hospital Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 

 

Mission: Compassionate Care For Every Life We Touch 

Vision: To be our community’s trusted healthcare leader. 

I. Call to Order  Barbara Sowada 

 A.  Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Mission and Vision Nena James 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Approval of Agenda (For Action)  Barbara Sowada 

A. Requests for Consent Agenda items to be removed to New Business 

(If not removed, no questions/discussion) 

B. Requests for Senior Leader or Board Committee Reports to be removed to New Business 

(if not removed, no questions/discussion) 

III. Community Communication  Barbara Sowada 

IV. New Business 

A. Infection Preventionist Appointment Letter (For Approval)   Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer 

B. Infection Prevention Annual Update  Barbara MacDonald, Infection Prevention 

V. Old Business Barbara Sowada 

A. Quarterly Progress Report on Strategic Plans and Goals 

B. Behavioral Health Plan (Still in progress)                          Irene Richardson 

C. Professional Practice Review Plan (For Review)          Stephanie Mlinar, Director of Quality 

D. CAH - Employee Health Plan (For Review)          Ann Marie Clevenger 

E. Patient Safety 

VI. Consent Agenda (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

A. Approval of Meeting Minutes 

B. Approval of Capital Expenditure Requests 

C. Approval of Bad Debts 

D. Suspend Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms (PolicyStat 
ID 16797170, Active Status) 

E. Policies from the Governance Committee  Marty Kelsey 

1. Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies  

and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital 

of Sweetwater County  

2. MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix  

3. Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines 

and Forms (PolicyStat ID 17862888, Draft Status)  

  

1/244



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

May 7, 2025 
2:00 p.m. 

Hospital Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 

 

Mission: Compassionate Care For Every Life We Touch 

Vision: To be our community’s trusted healthcare leader. 

VII. New Business Continued (For Review and Questions/Comments) Barbara Sowada 

A. CAH – Plan of Care & Scope of Services Marty Kelsey 

B. BOT – Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting Guidelines Marty Kelsey 

C. BOT – Senior Leadership Plan: Filling CEO Absences & Vacancies; Marty Kelsey 

Filling Senior Leader Absences & Vacancies; Identifying & Developing 

Internal Senior Leaders 

VIII. Reports 

A. Chief Executive Officer and Guests Verbal Reports 

1. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

2. Medical Staff Services Chief of Staff Report  Dr. Alicia Gray 

3. County Commissioner Liaison Report  Taylor Jones 

B. Senior Leader and Board Committee Reports 

1. Senior Leader Written Reports 

a. Chief Clinical Officer Kari Quickenden 

b. Chief Experience Officer Cindy Nelson 

c. Chief Financial Officer Tami Love 

d. Chief Nursing Officer Ann Marie Clevenger 

2. Board Committee Written or Verbal Reports 

a. Joint Conference Committee Barbara Sowada 

b. Building and Grounds Committee Craig Rood 

1) For your information – No change to Charter 

c. Compliance Committee Kandi Pendleton 

d. Governance Committee Marty Kelsey 

e. Quality Committee Barbara Sowada 

f. Human Resources Committee Kandi Pendleton 

g. Finance and Audit Committee Marty Kelsey 

h. Foundation Board Report Craig Rood 

i. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee             Barbara Sowada 
IX. Education 

A. A Foundation In Infection Prevention PowerPoint & Quiz 

X. Good of the Order Barbara Sowada 

XI. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix))       Barbara Sowada 

XII. Action Following Executive Session Barbara Sowada 

XIII. Adjourn Barbara Sowada 

2/244



3/244



    

ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date: 5/7/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: Letter of Appointment for Infection 

Preventionist 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ______ Revision 
 ____X__ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: Barbara MacDonald, previously the interim 
infection preventionist has begun full time employment with MHSC as infection 
preventionist. Seeking approval on recommendation for appointment of Ms. 
McDonald. 

 

  
 
Board Committee Action: 
 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     _______ For Review Only 
 ____X___ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 _______ In House Comments: 
 _______ Board  Comments: 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: Approve appointment of Barbara 
MacDonald as Infection Preventionist at MHSC. 

4/244



 

April 23, 2025 

MHSC Board of Trustees, 

 

This letter acknowledges that I, Irene Richardson (CEO) of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater (MHSC), 

fully support the MHSC Infection Prevention (IP) Program. MHSC is committed to actively promoting and 

implementing infection prevention and control principles and advancing the objectives set forth by the 

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid, and The Joint 

Commission. 

MHSC is committed to ensuring an effective, well-managed infection prevention and control program. 

To achieve this outcome, Barbara MacDonald RN, CIC, previous Interim Infection Preventionist, has been 

deemed the person at MHSC with clinical authority over the infection prevention and control program 

based on the recommendations of medical staff and nursing leadership. Ms. MacDonald began full-time 

employment at MHSC on February 24, 2025. She reports directly to Noreen Hove MSN, RN, CNOR, and 

collaborates with Dr. Karn. 

I respectfully request that the MHSC Board of Trustees join me in appointing Barbara McDonald as the 

individual responsible for the infection prevention and control program at the MHSC. 

 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 

Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

 

Joint Commission CAH IC. 01.01.01 EP 1-6: For hospitals that use Joint Commission accreditation for 

deemed status purposes: An individual(s) who is qualified through education, training, experience, or 

certification in infection prevention and control is appointed by the governing body to be responsible for 

the infection prevention and control program. The appointment is based on recommendations of medical 

staff leadership and nursing leadership. 

5/244



6/244



7/244



8/244



9/244



10/244



11/244



12/244



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:5/7/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
Policy – Professional Practice Review Plan 
We are proposing a change in the title to “Medical Staff Peer Review and 

Professional Practice Plan” 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 

 FPPE used to be part of the Professional Practice Evaluation Plan.  However, a new policy was drafted, and 

it is lengthy, so it was removed from this plan and is now a separate policy.   

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Review requested for the Professional Practice Review Plan and all attachments 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☒ For Review Only 

 ☐ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments:  

 ☐ Board  Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
This plan will be taken to PPEC and MEC for review and approval May 2025.    

13/244



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 18063944 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

Medical Staff 

Reg. 
Standards 

TJC MS 
05.01.01, TJC 
MS 06.01.05,
TJC MS 
08.01.01 
+ 2 more 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer 
Review) 

Statement of Purpose 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) Medical Staff professional practice review (peer 
review) process provides a standardized mechanism to measure, assess, improve, and evaluate medical 
staff member's performance, professionalism, competency, and behaviors through the conduct of peer 
and chart review. The process involves monitoring and analyzing data, along with identifying trends and/
or adverse outcomes, which may impact patient safety and quality of care. This process provides for 
continuous quality improvement as well as opportunity to address any potential problems in a timely 
manner. The information identified through this process is also factored into decisions to grant clinical 
privileges through the credentialing process. 

Plan 
I. Objectives 

The goal of the Medical Staff Peer Review Plan is to outline processes to: 

A. Assist in driving healthcare quality by following the Institute of Medicine’s six aims 
(STEEEP): 

1. Safe: avoiding harm to patients from the care that is intended to help them 

2. Timely: reducing wait times and sometimes harmful delays for both those 
who receive and those who give care 

3. Efficient: avoiding waste, including waste of equipment, supplies, ideas, 
and energy 

4. Effective: providing services based on scientific knowledge to all who 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 14

14/244



DRAFT

could benefit and refraining from providing services to those not likely to 
benefit 

5. Equitable: providing care that does not vary in quality because of personal 
characteristics such as gender, ethnicity, geographic location, and 
socioeconomic status 

6. Patient-centered: providing care that is respectful of and responsive to 
individual patient preferences, needs, and values and ensuring that patient 
values guide all clinical decisions 

B. Provide a mechanism for review and ongoing evaluation of Practitioner clinical 
competence and professional performance through systematic, data-driven 
processes. 

C. Identify and resolve Practitioner performance and clinical competency issues. 

D. Comply with The Joint Commission standards for Medical Staff Ongoing 
Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE). 

E. Create and participate in a Just Culture. See Just Culture Policy. 

F. Assist in organizational process improvement strategies based on identified 
opportunities and in congruence with MHSC's Performance Improvement and 
Patient Safety (PIPS) Plan and organizational strategic plan. 

II. Definitions 

A. Health Care Quality: A person-centered commitment to excellence, consistently 
using best practice to achieve the best outcomes for our patients and 
community. MHSC uses the following terminology interchangeably: quality 
improvement and performance improvement. 

B. Just Culture: A value supported system of accountability between the organization 
and employee that fosters a fair, learning culture which allows individuals to report 
adverse events, Good Catches, and hazards in an atmosphere of trust. 

C. Medical Staff: The group of all Practitioners privileged through the organized 
Medical Staff process and are subject to the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules, and 
Regulations. See Medical Staff Bylaws. 

D. Practitioner: Refers to all members of categories of the Physician Medical Staff, as 
well as Non-Physician Providers and Advance Practice Providers per the MHSC 
Medical Staff Bylaws. 

E. Professional Performance and Peer Review:  A process that allows the Medical Staff 
to evaluate an individual's professional practice and/or system issues that may 
affect the delivery of quality care.  The evaluation may identify systems or processes 
of care that do not adequately protect against foreseeable human error. 

F. Professional Practice Evaluation Committee (PPEC): A multidisciplinary peer review 
committee authorized to conduct peer review for the Medical Staff. This committee 
will also function to review and monitor the ongoing evaluation of Practitioner 
performance trends and provide recommendations and follow-up as appropriate. 

1. The PPEC chair shall be selected by the Chief of Staff. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 14

15/244



DRAFT

2. The Vice Chair of each department (Medicine and Surgery) shall serve on 
PPEC. 

3. Three other Physicians will be appointed by the Chief of Staff to serve on 
the committee. 

4. An Advance Practice Provider shall also be appointed to serve. 

G. Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE): A summary of ongoing data 
collected for the purpose of assessing a Practitioner's clinical competence and 
professional behavior. PPEC’s role in OPPE is outlined in Section IV. OPPE. 

H. Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE): is a systematic process to ensure 
the current competency of Practitioners at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County.  FPPE occurs routinely whenever the Hospital grants new privileges, such as 
when new privileges are initially granted to a Practitioner who is new to the 
organization or when an existing Practitioner requests a new privilege. See Focused 
Professional Practice Evaluation Plan. 

I. Professional Behavior: Adherence to MHSC's Medical Staff Code of Conduct within 
the Medical Staff Bylaws is expected of each individual member of the Medical Staff 
at MHSC to promote an environment conducive to providing the highest quality of 
care. 

J. Medical Staff Quality Reviewer:  A reviewer appointed by the Chief of Staff annually 
to perform initial case reviews to determine if the cases require peer review by the 
PPEC. 

K. Conflict of Interest:  A Medical Staff member requested to complete a peer review 
may have a conflict of interest if: 

1. They may not be able to render an unbiased opinion. 

2. An automatic conflict of interest would result if the Practitioner is involved 
in any way in the case under review. 

3. Relative conflicts of interest are either due to a Practitioner’s involvement 
in the patient’s care not related to the issues under review or because of a 
relationship with the Practitioner involved as a direct competitor, partner, 
or key referral source. 

4. It is the responsibility of the PPEC to determine on a case by case basis if 
a potential conflict exists and if substantial enough to prevent the 
individual from participating in the review. If a potential conflict exists, the 
individual may not participate or be present during peer review 
discussions or decisions other than to provide specific information 
requested. 

L. Low Volume/No Activity Practitioners or Specialties: Alternate data collection 
methods may be developed and used as approved by the Professional Practice 
Evaluation Committee for Practitioners in low volume specialties or specialties in 
which objective data is unable to be obtained. 

M. Peer:  An individual practicing in the same profession and who has expertise in the 
appropriate subject matter. The level of subject matter expertise required to provide 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 14

16/244



DRAFT

meaningful evaluation of a Practitioner’s performance will determine what 
“practicing in the same profession” means on a case by case basis. (Example: for 
quality issues related to general medical care, a physician may review the care of 
another physician. For specialty-specific clinical issues, such as evaluating the 
technique of a specialized surgical procedure, a peer is an individual who is well-
trained and competent in that surgical specialty). 

N. Rate Indicators: Medical Staff approved OPPE indicators that will be reviewed by 
PPEC annually to identify outliers, trends, and provide feedback, education, initiate 
performance improvement plan, or recommend FPPE with the individual as 
appropriate. Refer to the OPPE process flow. 

O. Review Indicators: Medical Staff approved review indicators that are automatically 
sent for an initial case review by a designated Medical Staff Quality Reviewer. 

P. Rule Indicators: Specific events that are tracked to ensure compliance with 
established guidelines, policies, and standards, including sentinel events that are 
automatically sent to the PPEC for peer review. See Sentinel Event Policy. 

III. Review Process 

A. Referral of Cases 

1. All cases that may require peer review by PPEC will be processed through 
the Quality Department. 

a. Any employee, Medical Staff member, of Committee who may be 
aware of a case for peer review will contact the Director of 
Quality or Quality Analyst. 

b. Should the person requesting a peer review wish to remain 
anonymous, they must clearly indicate this in their request. 

B. Initial Case Review 

1. Medical Staff approved review indicators are sent for an initial case review 
by a designated Medical Staff Quality Reviewer. 

2. All cases requiring an initial case review will be processed through the 
Quality Department. 

3. Six Medical Staff Quality Reviewers will be appointed by the Chief of Staff. 
Three will be appointed from the Medicine Department and three from the 
Surgery Department. In the event a designated Medical Staff Quality 
Reviewer is unable to fulfill the term, a new reviewer will be appointed by 
the Chief of Staff, as a replacement. 

4. Medical Staff Quality Reviewers will be notified via the quality 
management system of cases needing review as they occur. The review of 
the case and outcome determination is expected to be completed in a 
timely manner. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 14

17/244



DRAFT

5. Initial Case Review Outcome Determination: 

a. Appropriate Care: after careful review, this designation 
adjudicates that there was no clear deviation from standard of 
practice. The case will be closed and this outcome 
determination will be displayed on the Practitioner's OPPE 
report. 

b. Further Review Needed: after careful review, this designation 
adjudicates that there may be a deviation from standard of 
practice, a system improvement opportunity, or when an 
outcome is undertermined. These cases will be referred to PPEC 
for evaluation and outcome determination. 

C. Peer Review 

1. PPEC will meet ten (10) times per year, ideally monthly. They may meet 
more or less often, as needed, dependent on the volume of cases requiring 
review by the committee.  

2. The PPEC will be provided with a list of patients with case summaries for 
review from the Quality Department prior to the meeting. 

3. It is the responsibility of the PPEC members to review cases prior to the 
set meeting date for discussion and final outcome determination at the 
PPEC meeting.   

4. All reviews from PPEC will be documented directly in the quality 
management system using a secure log-in by a designated member of the 
committee or may be transcribed from meeting minutes by Quality. 

5. Outcome determinations for final conclusions must be made by a 
consensus of members present at PPEC. 

6. The PPEC reserves the right to halt the peer review process for a 
Practitioner that has separated from the organization for any reason. 

a. Judgment of whether or not the case needs to be reviewed is 
left up to PPEC. 

b. A letter formulated by the Quality Department will be placed in 
the separated Practitioner’s file indicating that there is/are 
unclosed Peer Review case(s) should the Practitioner wish to be 
recredentialed at a future time. 

7. Peer Review Outcome Determination: 

a. Care Appropriate: despite a complication, adverse outcome, or 
other question regarding the quality delivery of care, it is 
determined that a majority of peers would have responded 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 14

18/244



DRAFT

similarly under similar circumstances. This designation 
adjudicates that there was no clear deviation from standard of 
practice. The case is closed and this outcome determination will 
be displayed on the Practitioner's OPPE report. 

b. Improvement Opportunity: care that involved a simple error in 
diagnosis, treatment or judgment, or inadvertently doing other 
than what should have been done: a slip, lapse, or mistake. 
PPEC will determine the appropriate follow-up or may delegate 
follow-up to another peer. Once follow-up is completed, the case 
will be closed and this outcome determination will be displayed 
on the Practitioner's OPPE report. 

c. At Risk Behavior: care that requires education or coaching to 
prevent recurrence, or behavioral choice that increases risk 
where risk is not recognized or is mistakenly believed to be 
justified. Cases with this determination are automatically 
referred to MEC for final outcome determination and 
recommendation for the next action.The case is closed upon 
referral to MEC and this outcome determination will be displayed 
on the Practitioner's OPPE report. 

d. Reckless Behavior: care that suggests reckless disregard of the 
Practitioner's duty to the patient through gross negligence, 
general incompetence, or actual intent to provide substandard 
care, or behavioral choice to consciously disregard a substantial 
and unjustifiable risk. Cases with this determination are 
automatically referred to MEC for final outcome determination 
and recommendation for the next action. The case is closed 
upon referral to MEC and this outcome determination will be 
displayed on the Practitioner's OPPE report. 

8. System Improvement Outcome Determination: 

a. System Improvement Opportunity: designates an event as 
resulting at least in part from an opportunity to improve the care 
system to reduce caregiver errors, mitigate the effects of any 
future errors, or otherwise better support the care process.This 
outcome is not Practitioner specific and will not be displayed on 
the Practitioner's OPPE report. 

b. System improvement opportunities will be delegated to the 
appropriate department for evaluation. 

9. If the PPEC is unable to determine the final outcome, the case will be 
referred to MEC for evaluation and final determination. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 14

19/244



DRAFT

D. Patient Complaints and Grievances 

1. A grievance will be entered into the electronic occurrence reporting 
system. 

2. After Grievance Committee reviews the grievance, they may decide to send 
it through peer review and to MEC. If this is decided, the Quality 
Department will receive an action with instructions to send the grievance 
through peer review and the Medical Staff Services (MSS) office will 
receive an action with instructions to send to MEC. These actions will 
automatically generate a notification email to both the departments. 

3. Quality and the Medical Staff Services Office will ensure that the grievance 
is sent to the peer review committee (PPEC) before going to MEC. 

4. The grievance will also be sent to the Chief of Staff. 

5. PPEC will determine whether or not the standard of care was met for the 
grievance case. Quality will notify Medical Staff Services of PPEC’s 
determination, and MSS will relay that information to MEC. 

6. The Chief of Staff will discuss the grievance with the practitioner to obtain 
their side of the story. 

7. Medical Staff Services will request the practitioner’s peer review file to 
determine if he or she had any other grievances (within the past 24 
months.) MSS will draft a summary of any grievances for review at MEC. 

8. The grievance (and summary of past grievances) will then go to MEC and 
will be discussed during executive session. 

9. MEC will discuss and decide on appropriate action for the grievance. Each 
complaint will be handled on a case-by-case basis, but here are several 
possible outcomes: 

a. A letter will be sent to the practitioner informing them that the 
grievance was determined NOT to be an episode of disruptive 
behavior. The case will be closed and a copy of the letter will be 
placed in the practitioner’s peer review file. This will not be 
reported to Quality for tracking on the practitioner’s OPPE profile. 

b. A letter will be sent to the practitioner informing them that the 
grievance was determined to be an episode of disruptive 
behavior. They will be reminded to follow the code of conduct. 
The case will be closed and a copy of the letter will be placed in 
the practitioner’s peer review file. This will be reported to Quality 
for tracking on the practitioner’s OPPE profile. 

c. In addition to the disruptive behavior letter, the Chief of Staff 
may counsel the Practitioner. 

d. MEC can determine that the grievance is serious enough to 
investigate further, and may initiate corrective action. 

10.  Once the case is closed, Medical Staff Services will enter any comments 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 7 of 14

20/244



DRAFT

and close the case in the electronic quality management system. 

E. External Reviews 

1. The PPEC or MEC may require use of external peer review consultation in 
cases including, but not limited to: 

a. The absence of an appropriate Practitioner able to render an 
opinion regarding a peer review or FPPE. 

b. The presence of a significant conflict of interest. 

c. Potential for litigation. 

d. Ambiguity, especially when dealing with vague or conflicting 
recommendations from internal reviewers. 

e. Any case they deem necessary for external review. 

2. If a case is sent for external review by in house legal/risk, results of the 
external review as they pertain to individual Practitioner performance are 
requested to be presented to the PPEC and entered into MHSC's internal 
peer review process if indicated. Initial findings and subsequent reporting 
is the purview of in-house legal. 

F. PPEC may request the Practitioner in question to present the case to PPEC before an 
outcome determination can be made. 

1. The Practitioner whose patient’s clinical course of treatment is scheduled 
for discussion of a possible deviation from standard clinical practice at a 
Department, Service or Committee meeting, shall be notified in writing 
from the Department, Service or Committee’s chair at least one week prior 
to the scheduled date of presentation. 

a. The involved Practitioner will be given a brief case summary 
including the medical record number, encounter number, and 
reason for review. 

b. If a case has been sent for external review, a copy of the external 
review will be provided to the Practitioner involved. 

c. The involved Practitioner may request the names of the 
attendees of PPEC and MEC where their case(s) were reviewed. 

d. To protect the integrity of the peer review process, the names or 
other identifying information of individuals requesting the peer 
review will not be provided to the involved Practitioner. 

e. Attendance by the involved Practitioner shall be mandatory. 
Failure to appear or to secure postponement from the chair may 
be deemed “unprofessional conduct”, and result in corrective 
action as outlined in Article XVII of the Medical Staff Bylaws. 
This rule is not to be construed as applying to discussion of 
cases identified by routine monitoring of patient care. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 8 of 14

21/244



DRAFT

f. Except as explicitly provided in Article XVIII of Medical Staff 
Bylaws in connection with the exercise of applicable hearing and 
appeal rights, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
the Medical Staff Documents, no Practitioner shall have the right 
to be represented or accompanied by an attorney at any meeting 
of the Medical Staff, or any committee (standing or ad hoc), 
Department, or section thereof, or when meeting with any 
Medical Staff officer.    

G. Whenever possible, a Practitioner involved as a member of the MEC, PPEC, or any 
other ad hoc committee tasked with peer review should vote in only one (1) level of 
the decision-making process. In situations in which this is not possible, Practitioners 
are expected to limit their involvement in multiple levels of review. 

H. Prior to closing an FPPE cycle, the personnel involved may ask the Quality 
Department and the Chair of PPEC if there are any open cases for review by PPEC. 

I. Documentation 

1. All initial case reviews and peer reviews shall be documented directly in 
the quality management system. 

2. Designated member of the committee or medical staff quality reviewers 
may document notes and final conclusions directly in the quality 
management system. 

3. Notes may be transcribed from meeting minutes or delegated to Quality 
during meetings for entry in the quality management system. 

J. Confidentiality of, and Access to, Medical Staff Peer Review files 

1. Refer to Confidentiality of, and Access to Medical Staff and Peer Review 
Files Policy in PolicyStat.  insert link 

IV. OPPE 

A. The organized Medical Staff are responsible for defining the OPPE process. 

B. The following general competencies are included in OPPE: 

1. Patient Care: Practitioners are expected to provide patient care that is 
compassionate, appropriate and effective for the promotion of health, 
prevention of illness, treatment of disease and care at the end of life. 

2. Medical Knowledge: Practitioners are expected to demonstrate knowledge 
of established and evolving biomedical, clinical and social sciences, and 
the application of their knowledge to patient care and the education of 
others. 

3. Practice-based Learning and Improvement: Practitioners are expected to 
be able to use scientific evidence and methods to investigate, evaluate and 
improve patient care practices. 

4. Interpersonal & Communication: Practitioners are expected to 
demonstrate interpersonal and communication skills that enable them to 
establish and maintain professional relationships with patients, families 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 9 of 14

22/244



DRAFT

and other members of healthcare interdisciplinary teams. 

5. Professionalism: Practitioners are expected to demonstrate behaviors that 
reflect a commitment to continuous professional development, ethical 
practice, an understanding and sensitivity to diversity, and a responsible 
attitude toward patients, families, colleagues, their profession, and society. 

6. Systems-based Practice: Practitioners are expected to demonstrate both 
an understanding of the contexts and systems in which healthcare is 
provided, and the ability to apply this knowledge to improve and optimize 
healthcare. 

C. Specialty specific data will be recommended for inclusion on the OPPE report and 
approved by each specialty, PPEC and MEC. 

D. OPPE data from outside organizations may be included in addition to MHSC data for 
selected specialties as approved by PPEC and MEC. 

E. While the practitioner is on FPPE, specialty specific OPPE data may be concurrently 
monitored. 

F. OPPE is factored into the decision to maintain, revise, limit, or revoke existing 
medical staff privileges by the Credentials Committee. 

G. Quality Department Responsibilities: 

1. Meet with Medical Staff specialties to determine meaningful data to be 
included on OPPE reports. 

2. Collaborate with other MHSC Departments to collect and validate data for 
OPPE. 

3. Compile the annual OPPE reports 

4. Notify individual Practitioners when their report is ready for review. 

H. PPEC Responsibilities 

1. Ensure consistent implementation of the OPPE process. 

2. Complete, at a minimum, one annual review of each Practitioner's OPPE 
report in the quality management system. 

3. Evaluate Practitioner performance, identify trends and intervene when 
appropriate. 

4. PPEC may request additional information from the Quality Department for 
further review, if a Practitioner's data does not meet the benchmark 
selected for that indicator. 

5. Communicate feedback and opportunities for improvement with individual 
Practitioners when appropriate. 

6. Develop an improvement plan for a Practitioner when appropriate. 

7. Evaluate the effectiveness of the improvement plan and recommend 
initiation of an FPPE when appropriate. 

8. Communicate with the appropriate Department Chair/Vice Chair for 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 10 of 14

23/244



DRAFT

follow-up actions when appropriate. 

I. Medical Staff Department Leadership are responsible for ensuring completion of any 
recommended follow up from the PPEC. 

V. Authority for Peer Review 

A. WY Stat § 35-2-910. Quality management functions for health care facilities; 
confidentiality; immunity; whistle blowing; peer review. 

1. (c) No hospital shall be issued a license or have its license renewed unless 
it provides for the review of professional practices in the hospital for the 
purpose of reducing morbidity and mortality and for the improvement of 
the care of patients in the hospital. This review shall include, but not be 
limited to: 

(i) The quality and necessity of the care provided to patients as rendered in 
the hospital; 
(ii) The prevention of complications and deaths occurring in the hospital; 
(iii) The review of medical treatments and diagnostic and surgical 
procedures in order to ensure safe and adequate treatment of patients in 
the hospital; and 
(iv) The evaluation of medical and health care services and the 
qualifications and professional competence of persons performing or 
seeking to perform those services. 
 

2. (d) The review required in subsection (c) of this section shall be performed 
according to the decision of a hospital's governing board by: 

(i) A peer review committee appointed by the organized medical staff of 
the hospital. 

VI. Confidentiality 

A. WY Stat § 35-2-910. Quality management functions for health care facilities; 
confidentiality; immunity; whistle blowing; peer review. Subsection A. "Each licensee 
[hospital, healthcare facility and health services] shall implement a quality 
management function to evaluate and improve patient and resident care and 
services in accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the division. 
Quality management information relating to the evaluation or improvement of the 
quality of health care services is confidential. Any person who in good faith and 
within the scope of the functions of a quality management program participates in 
the reporting, collection, evaluation, or use of quality management information or 
performs other functions as part of a quality management program with regards to a 
specific circumstance shall be immune from suit in any civil action based on such 
functions brought by a health care Practitioner or person to whom the quality 
information pertains. In no event shall this immunity apply to any negligent or 
intentional act or omission in the provision of care" (Wyoming Laws, 2015). 

B. WY Stat § 35-17-103. Exemption from liability; exception: A professional standard 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 11 of 14

24/244



DRAFT

review organization or a society or person rendering services as a member of a 
professional standard review organization functioning pursuant to this act is not 
liable either independently or jointly for any civil damages as a result of acts or 
omissions in his capacity as a member of any such organization or society. Such 
persons or organizations or societies are not immune from liability for intentional or 
malicious acts or omissions resulting in harm or any grossly negligent acts or 
omissions resulting in harm. 

C. WY Stat § 35-17-105. Information of review organizations to be confidential and 
privileged. All reports, findings, proceedings and data of the professional standard 
review organizations is confidential and privileged, and is not subject to discovery or 
introduction into evidence in any civil action, and no person who is in attendance at a 
meeting of the organization shall be permitted or required to testify in any civil action 
as to any evidence or other matters produced or presented during the proceedings 
of the organization or as to any findings, recommendations, evaluations, opinions or 
other actions of the organization or any members thereof. 

D. Confidentiality shall be maintained, based on full respect of the patient's right to 
privacy and in keeping with hospital policy and state and federal regulations 
governing the confidentiality of quality and patient safety work. All quality and 
patient safety data and information shall be considered the property of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County. 

E. Only the following individuals will have access to Practitioner-specific peer review 
information and only for purposes of evaluation and improvement of the quality of 
care rendered in the hospital: 

1. The specific Practitioner. 

2. The Chief of Staff for purposes of considering corrective action. 

3. Department chairpersons (for members of their department only) for 
purposes of initial chart review or considering corrective action. 

4. Members of the PPEC, MEC, and Credentials Committees for purposes of 
considering corrective action and as part of the appointment/
reappointment process. 

5. Medical staff service professionals supporting the credentialing process 
and to the extent that the access to this information is necessary for re-
credentialing or formal corrective action. 

6. The Quality Department for purposes of tracking peer review processes, 
OPPE report compilation, and generating reports as requested by parties 
privileged to the information. 

7. Individuals performing surveys for accrediting bodies with appropriate 
jurisdiction (i.e. TJC, CMS, DHS, etc.). 

8. The Hospital Chief Executive Officer (CEO) when information is needed to 
take immediate formal corrective action for purposes of summary 
suspension by the CEO. 

F. No copies of peer review documents will be created and distributed unless 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 12 of 14

25/244



DRAFT

authorized by medical staff policy or bylaws, the MEC, PPEC, Credentials Committee, 
or by mutual agreement between the Chief of Staff and CEO for purposes of 
deliberations regarding corrective action on specific cases. 

G. No copies of peer review information will be given to other facilities or agencies 
without specific written authorization from the Practitioner. 

Reviewed and Approved: 

PPEC 9/18/2024 

MEC 10/30/2024 

Board of Trustees 12/2/2024 

References 

Joint Commission Resources. (2024) Policy Source Hospital: POLH24_MS_Ongoing Professional Practice 
Evaluation Policy. Retrieved January, 2024 from https://store-jcrinc.ae-admin.com/assets/1/7/
POLH24_MS_Ongoing_Professional_Practice_Evaluation_Policy.docx 

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ]. (2022). Quality. https://www.ahrq.gov/topics/
quality.html 

Institute of Medicine [IOM]. (1990). Medicare: A strategy for quality assurance: Volume II sources and 
methods. Institute of Medicine (US) committee to design a strategy for quality review and assurance in 
Medicare. Washington (DC): National Academies Press. 

The Christ Hospital. (2013). Ongoing professional practice evaluation. Retrieved from 
https://www.thechristhospital.com/Documents/.../Medical_Staff_Bylaws.pdf. 

Adapted for MHSC use, with modifications, with written electronic mail permission from Jeni, 
Medical Staff Services Manager at The Christ Hospital received March 21, 2017. 

The Greeley Company, LLC. (2017). Physician and hospital leadership seminars: Peer review bootcamp. 
Materials presented at: Peer Review Bootcamp. Physician and Hospital Leadership Seminar; 2017 
January 19-21; Desert Springs, CA. 

The Greeley Company, LLC. (2019). Physician and hospital leadership seminars: Peer review bootcamp. 
Materials presented at: Peer Review Bootcamp. Physician and Hospital Leadership Seminar; 2019 
March; New Orleans, LA. 

Stanford Health Care. (2016). Peer review and focused professional practice evaluation (FPPE) policy for 
medical staff and advanced practice Practitioners (APPs). Retrieved from 
https://stanfordhealthcare.org/content/dam/SHC/health-care-professionals/medical-staff/policies/
peer-review-and-focused-professional-practice-evaluation-fppe-4-16.pdf 

Adapted for MHSC use, with modifications, with written electronic mail permission from Debra, 
Administrative Director, Medical Staff Services and Pediatric Residency Program at Stanford 
Health Care received February 27, 2017. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 13 of 14

26/244



DRAFT

Attachments 

  Medical Staff Professional Practice Indicators 2024 - 2025 UPDATED 9.4.2024.pdf 

  Medical Staff Professional Practice- Peer Review Flow- OPPE 2024-2025.pdf 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Reg. Standards 

TJC MS 05.01.01, TJC MS 06.01.05, TJC MS 08.01.01, TJC MS 08.01.03, TJC MS 09.01.01 

Wyoming Laws. (2021). Title 35, Public Health and Safety. Wyoming Statute W.S. §35-2-910 (1977). 
Quality management functions for health care facilities; confidentiality; immunity; whistle blowing; peer 
review. Retrieved from Thomson Reuters WestlawNext. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 05/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/18063944/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 14 of 14

27/244



 

ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
Board Meeting Date: May 7, 2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: Policy Stat Document: 
Employee Health Plans  
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ___x___ Revision 
 ______ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: The Joint Commission IC 04.01.01 and 
04.01.03 Hospital has a hospital-wide infection prevention and control program 
for surveillance, prevention, and control of healthcare-associated infections.  
OSHA 1910.10 occupational exposure to blood and potentially infectious material.  
Recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC. 
Combined the Employe Health Plan and the Student, Contractors, and Medical 
Staff Service contract to one policy.   
 
Board Committee Action: 
 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     __x_____ For Review Only 
 _______ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 _______ In House Comments: 
 _______ Board  Comments: 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Approve first read by the Board. 

28/244



COPY

Status Pending PolicyStat ID 15508214 

Approved N/A 

Review Due 1 year after 
approval 

Document 
Area 

Employee Health 

Reg. 
Standards 

CDC, OSHA 
29 CFR 
1910.1030,
TJC IC 
04.01.03 
+ 1 more 

CAH- Employee Health Plan 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 
The primary goal of the Employee Health Plan is to maintain the confidentiality of Memorial Hospital of 
Sweetwater County (MHSC) staff members' records while promoting a high standard of health, wellness, 
and safety among all employees. This inclusive plan applies to all employees, medical staff, contractors, 
students, job shadowers, and volunteers, fostering a unified teamwork approach. 

Screening will be performed to ensure compliance with state and federal recommendations and 
regulations regarding patient care activities, including adherence to the vaccination guidelines set forth 
by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (OSHA). 

DEFINITIONS 
• Antibody titer - A laboratory blood test determining immunity or susceptibility to a specific 

disease 

• Bacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) - A vaccine for tuberculosis (TB) disease 

• Communicable Disease - An illness that can spread from one person or animal to another 

• FIT Test - A procedure to determine whether a respirator or other protective equipment fits 
properly and provides an adequate seal 

• Hazardous Substance - A material that can cause harm to people, animals, or the environment 

• Hepatitis B - Also known as Hep B of HBV, is a viral infection that attacks the liver 

• Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA) - a blood test that detects tuberculosis 

• Influenza - Flu, seasonal flu, or novel influenza. The flu season is categorized as October 
through May 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 12

29/244



COPY

• Immunity - The status of being protected from catching a communicable disease because of 
antibody production, either from a previous disease or an appropriately completed 
immunization series 

• Medical Exemption - permission granted by a health care professional for an individual to be 
excused from a requirement or obligation due to a medical condition 

• Measles, Mumps, Rubella (MMR) - A triple antigen vaccine against measles, mumps and 
rubella: 

◦ Measles – Rubeola, red, hard, or ten-day measles 

◦ Mumps - Also known as infectious parotitis 

◦ Rubella - Also known as German measles or three-day measles 

• Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

• Staff- All people who provide care, treatment, or services in the organization, including licensed 
practitioners; permanent, temporary, and part-time personnel; contract employees; volunteers; 
and health profession students. The (Contracted staff provided through a written agreement 
with another organization, agency, or person. The agreement specifies the services or personnel 
to be provided on behalf of the applicant organization and the fees to provide these services or 
personnel) Staff at MHSC: 

◦ Employed Staff - Full-time, Part-time, PRN, and Temporary 

◦ Volunteer Staff - Individual who performs service hours to MHSC without promise, 
expectation, or receipt of compensation for services rendered 

◦ Permanent Contract Staff - Cardinal and Unidine 

◦ Temporary Contract Staff - Travelers and Elwood 

◦ Non - Employed Staff - Students, Shadowers 

• Tetanus-Diphtheria-Pertussis (Tdap) - A combination of three vaccines in a single injection 

• Titer- Laboratory blood test that measures the amount of a specific type of antibodies in the 
blood to assist in determining levels of immunity 

• Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) - Also known as the Mantoux test, is a diagnostic procedure to 
detect active or latent tuberculosis (TB) infection 

• Tuberculosis (TB) - A bacterial infection caused by the germ Mycobacterium tuberculosis. 

• Varicella - Also known as Chickenpox, a highly contagious viral infection caused by the 
Varicella-zoster virus 

• Vaccine Information Statement (VIS) - A sheet from the CDC that explains both the benefits 
and risks of a vaccine 

• Work-Related Injury - An injury that occurs on the job or is caused by something at work 

ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT OF THE 
PLAN 

I. AUTHORITY 

A. The final authority on employee health issues is the Chief Executive Officer. 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 12

30/244



COPY

1. Except in cases of communicable disease outbreak control, when 
emergency measures are instituted by Employee Health with approval of 
the Infection Control Medical Director or their designee, and/or the 
Infection Control Officer appointed per CMS, with knowledge of the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

II. RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. The Employee Health Department receives regular guidance from the Infection 
Control Committee and the Environment of Care Committee. 

B. Each department director is responsible for implementing and enforcing the 
Employee Health Plan. 

EMPLOYEE HEALTH REQUIREMENTS 
I. Employed, Volunteer, and Permanent Contract Staff 

A. Health Inventory: All staff are required to complete a Health Inventory Form upon 
employment. (Form #802926 or #800263). 

B. TB 

1. All staff must provide documentation of a TST in the last 12 months or a 
negative IGRA in the past year. If unable to provide documentation, a 
2-step TST shall be completed. The first step shall be completed before 
starting, and the second step shall be completed 1 to 3 weeks after the 
first step and before patient contact. 

a. Staff with a positive TST history will be reassessed annually 
using the converter form (Form #802691). An experienced 
primary care provider will determine the frequency of CXR; 
however, the CDC does not recommend that it be done annually 
or at a regularly scheduled time. 

i. The employee health nurse will inform staff about the 
signs and symptoms to watch regarding conversion. 

ii. If a new staff member has had a previous positive TST, 
they will need to provide a copy of their last chest X-
ray or obtain a two-view (PA/Lateral) chest X-ray. 

iii. A chest x-ray and evaluation by an experienced 
provider will be ordered if symptoms develop 
(persistent cough, weight loss, anorexia, fever) in a 
staff with a history of TB or if recently exposed to TB. 

b. The employee health provider shall be notified of all positive TST 
reactions. 

c. The Wyoming Department of Health shall be notified of all TB 
conversions. 

d. The hospital is not responsible for any reimbursement for 
medical care of TST-positive staff at the time of hire. 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 12

31/244



COPY

e. All staff shall be tested for TB at hire and after suspected or 
confirmed exposure. 

f. BCG - Many people born outside the U.S. have been vaccinated 
with the BCG vaccine. This may cause a false-positive TB Skin 
Test reaction. There is no reliable way to distinguish a positive 
TB skin reaction caused by the vaccine or an actual TB 
infection.  TB blood tests IGRA is the preferred test for people 
who have received the BCG vaccine. BCG does not induce 
positive results when a TB blood test is used.  Staff with 
documented BCG and a positive TST shall have an IGRA test 
completed. 

C. MMR 

1. Required evidence of immunity to Measles, Mumps, and Rubella shall be 
documented. 

a. Documentation of two MMR vaccines or documented laboratory 
evidence of immunity to all three components. 

b. If not immune, staff shall be given MMR vaccinations according 
to manufacturer guidelines at no cost. 

c. In the event of an outbreak, those without documented immunity 
or vaccine documentation will be excluded from high-risk areas. 

D. Varicella (Chickenpox)  

1. Required evidence of immunity to Varicella shall be documented. 

a. Documentation of two Varicella immunizations or documented 
titer that proves immunity to Varicella. 

b. If no documentation is available and the titer does not prove 
immunity, the staff shall receive the Varicella vaccine as per CDC 
guidelines. CDC Chickenpox (Varicella) 

E. Hepatitis B 

1. The required evidence of immunity to the Hepatitis B virus shall be 
documented. 

a. Immunity will be determined by documented positive antibody 
for Hepatitis B. 

b. If not immune, staff will be given Hepatitis B vaccination 
according to manufacturer guidelines and the MHSC Hepatitis B 
Vaccine for Adult Protocol. Adult Hepatitis B Vaccine for Adults 
Protocol  Staff may start working at MHSC if the Employee 
Health requirements are being met and the CDC guidelines for 
Hepatitis B vaccine administration are being followed. 

c. If the staff has received the maximum number of Hepatitis B 
vaccines and fails to show immunity, they will be documented as 
a "non-responder" and counseled on the increased risk in the 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 12

32/244



COPY

event of an exposure. 

F. Tdap 

1. Documentation of a Tdap within the past 10 years is required. 

2. If there is no documentation of Tdap within the past 10 years, a single 
dose of Tdap will be administered regardless of the time since their last 
tetanus or diphtheria toxoid (Td) vaccine. 

a. All Employed Staff, Volunteer Staff, and Contracted Permanent 
Staff will be offered the appropriate booster every 10 years. 

G. Respiratory Protection 

1. The employee health nurse will evaluate all staff for their need to wear a 
tight-fitting respirator. If deemed necessary for their job duties, they will 
complete the OSHA respirator medical evaluation questionnaire (Form 
#802187) and, if medically able, be tested. 

a. Staff failing fit testing or being unable to be tested will be 
excluded from patient care areas requiring Airborne Precautions. 

H. To meet federal guidelines, the most up-to-date Vaccine Information Statement will 
be offered to the staff for all vaccine administrations. 

STAFF MAY ATTEND ORIENTATION/EDUCATION WHILE AWAITING BLOOD TESTING RESULTS IF NOT 
IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE UPON HIRE.  NO STAFF WILL BE PERMITTED TO HAVE PATIENT CONTACT 
UNTIL RESULTS HAVE BEEN VERIFIED BY EMPLOYEE HEALTH. 

EMPLOYEE HEALTH REQUIREMENTS 
I. NON-EMPLOYED STAFF 

A. Students and Shadowers at MHSC will meet basic health requirements and 
participate in established screening programs outlined by the Employee Health Plan 
above. Starting July 1, 2025, updated requirements for Hepatitis B proof of immunity 
or documentation of non-responder will be enforced. 

B. The employee health nurse will receive documentation and a copy of the verified 
immunization records for Students and Shadowers. Verification will be obtained 
before starting clinical at MHSC. 

C. Before their assigned student experience, which has received prior approval from the 
director overseeing the clinical area and the Senior Leader responsible for the 
specific department, the following will be completed: 

1. The student or instructor will provide contact information in writing to 
Human Resources before starting the clinical. 

2. Students will comply with the Employee Health Plan standards. Students 
who do not meet these requirements will not be accepted for practice in 
the hospital. 

3. The contracting academic institution is responsible for providing the 
Employee Health Department with documentation of student compliance 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 12

33/244



COPY

upon request. 

4. Students will be involved in case contact workups related to an exposure 
to a communicable disease and for follow-up if exposed. 

5. Students who become ill will be referred to their private provider or to the 
ED in case of a medical emergency. The student assumes all costs for 
care and treatment. 

6. Letters of attestation are not acceptable for vaccines. 

7. Any immunization or titer must be completed before starting at MHSC. 

8. Students must have documentation of a current FIT test and approval 
from their institutes' faculty to take care of a patient on airborne isolation 
precautions. This will be decided on a case-by-case basis. 

II. CONTRACTED TEMPORARY STAFF 

A. Contracted staff will comply with all requirements of the Employee Health Plan. 
Starting July 1, 2025, updated requirements for Hepatitis B proof of immunity or 
documentation of non-responder will be enforced. 

B. The employee health nurse will receive documentation with a copy of the verified 
immunization record for contract personnel or be allowed access to the employee 
health nurse to review documents. Verification will be obtained before contract 
personnel begin work at MHSC. Any immunization or titer must be completed before 
starting at MHSC. 

RECORD KEEPING 
I. The employee health records are maintained in the Employee Health Department and 

considered confidential. 

II. All people treating, testing, or accessing the staff's health record hold all employee health 
information in strict confidence. 

III. The following people may access the Employee Health Record: 

A. Employee Health Department and Infection Control Department 

B. The individual staff member with written consent 

C. OSHA or other regulatory personnel on site 

IV. The format and content of the employee health records are standardized and include the 
following: 

A. Employee Health Inventory for Employed Staff 

B. Immunizations and titers 

C. Fit test record and OSHA Respirator Medical Evaluation Questionnaire 

D. Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA), or Converter's 
Assessment and Chest X-ray (CXR) record, if applicable 

E. Influenza immunization 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 12

34/244



COPY

F. Color Vision for clinical staff upon hire by the Education Department 

G. All other work-related documents 

V. The employee health nurse maintains health records for all MHSC staff. 

VI. Records shall be maintained for 30 years following termination.  After 30 years, they will be 
destroyed.Retention of Hospital Records 

VII. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITY 

A. The Employee Health Department budgets all projected expenses incurred and 
identified in the Employee Health Plan. 

B. Treatment plan expenses, except for worker's compensation claims, delineated by 
the employee health requirements, are paid for from the Employee Health budget. 

C. MHSC will cover the costs of Employed, Volunteer, and Permanent Contracted Staff 
except for pre-existing conditions (for example, TB infection before hire). 

D. Non-Employed and Temporary Contracted Staff will be financially responsible for 
meeting the plan's requirements before arrival. 

MEDICAL EXEMPTIONS 
I. All staff must receive all the required vaccines for the safety of their patients and their safety. 

If the staff member has a stated medical contraindication to vaccination, they shall submit a 
medical exemption to Employee Health for review and approval by the MHSC Medical 
Exemption Committee. 

A. Medical exemption may include the following: 

1. Immune deficiency suppresses immune responses that occur with 
leukemia and lymphoma, as well as therapy with corticosteroids, 
antimetabolites, or radiation 

2. Pregnancy 

3. Allergy 

B. Staff will have 30 days from notification of delinquency to comply with the Employee 
Health Plan. 

C. Staff will not be permitted to work past the 30-day notification and will be required to 
use PTO for time off during this time. If the staff has not complied with this 
requirement within two (2) weeks of the final notification, the staff will be terminated 
unless there are approved conditions or situations that prevent the staff from 
completing the requirement. The Chief Executive Officer must approve all exceptions 
to terminations. 

D. Non-employed and Contract Temporary Staff must submit medical exemptions to 
Employee Health for review and approval by the MHSC Medical Exemption 
Committee before starting at MHSC. 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 7 of 12

35/244



COPY

ANNUAL REQUIREMENTS 
I. Employee Health and Infection Control will conduct an annual TB facility assessment to 

determine the current TB risk and the need for annual testing. 

II. All staff must participate in the Annual Influenza Vaccine Clinic. Annual Influenza Vaccine 
Program 

III. All staff whose job duties require a tight-fitting respirator will be tested annually. 

EMPLOYED STAFF ILLNESS OR WORK-RELATED 
INJURY 

I. Staff who become ill before they begin work will notify their supervisor before the designated 
starting time according to personnel policy. Supervisors shall then notify Employee Health. 

II. Staff who report to work ill or become sick will notify their supervisor immediately.  At the 
supervisor's discretion, the staff may be sent to the Employee Health Department. The 
employee health nurse will determine whether to send the staff home or to the ER for 
examination by an emergency room physician or private physician. 

III. Staff off work because of illness or injury for longer than two days or returning from medical 
leave of absence may be asked to present a work release signed by their private physician to 
their supervisor. Staff restricted from work because of a significant communicable disease 
shall have their work releases evaluated by the employee health nurse before they may return 
to work. Work releases are to be sent to Employee Health. Employee Health will forward a copy 
to Human Resources, if not already provided. 

IV. It's essential that all staff, regardless of the severity of their injury, complete an Employee 
Packet / Injury and Exposure (which includes the Wyoming Report of Injury Form) and notify 
their supervisor. If the employee health nurse is unavailable, the staff should report to the 
emergency department for an evaluation. Supervisors play a key role in the reporting process. 
They are responsible for completing the Supervisor Investigation portion of the incident report, 
ensuring the employee has completed their portion, submitting an incident report in the MHSC 
reporting system, and returning the packet to the employee health nurse. 
It's important to remember that not reporting injuries within 72 hours of their occurrence may 
have serious consequences. Staff may be ineligible for hospital-funded treatment for injuries' 
complications. Notification within 24 hours is preferred. 

EMPLOYED STAFF EXPOSURE TO 
COMMUNICABLE DISEASE 

I. In the MHSC occurrence reporting system, an incident report will be completed for any staff 
member who may have been exposed to a communicable disease. The staff's supervisor will 
fill out the Employee Packet/Injury and Exposure (which includes the Supervisor Investigation 
of Employee Accident Form) and sign the Worker's Compensation forms. Employee Health 
performs contact tracing for staff related to exposures.  The Infection Preventionist will 
conduct case contact investigations and provide recommendations aligning with delineated 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 8 of 12

36/244



COPY

Infection Control policies. 

II. Once the determination, through case contact investigation, of a staff member's true exposure 
to a communicable disease is made, work restrictions will be instituted according to the CDC 
guidelines. 

A. MHSC follows current CDC guidelines for exposures to communicable diseases, 
including time off work and job restrictions due to disease. 

III. See policy  Reporting Communicable Diseases. 

EMPLOYED STAFF EXPOSED TO HAZARDOUS 
SUBSTANCES 

I. All staff with routine exposure to hazardous substances, such as chemotherapy medications, 
will have medical screening, TST, and/or basic laboratory testing performed annually as 
indicated by the Employee Health Provider. 

II. Females who are pregnant or breastfeeding and/or any person actively trying to conceive a 
child will acknowledge that they are aware of the risks involved with handling hazardous 
medications. These individuals will wear the appropriate personal protective equipment (PPE) 
for handling hazardous drugs. The Hazardous Drug Risk Acknowledgement form, Hazardous 
Drug Risk Acknowledgment, will be signed upon hire or transfer. If possible, staff members 
may ask to be reassigned. 

PERMANENT CONTRACT, TEMPORARY 
CONTRACT, AND NON-EMPLOYEE STAFF WITH 
WORK-RELATED INJURY, EXPOSURE TO 
COMMUNICABLE DISEASE, AND HAZARDOUS 
SUBSTANCES 

I. Staff shall contact and report the event to their academic institute or their agency's Employee 
Health Department and or Human Resource Department. 

A. Once the determination, through case contact investigation, of a staff member's true 
exposure to a communicable disease is made, work restrictions will be instituted 
according to the CDC guidelines. Work restrictions may be initiated by a department 
director with consideration of Employee Health and Infection Control but are 
enforced by the Infection Control Committee. 

B. MHSC follows current CDC guidelines for exposures to communicable diseases, 
including time off work and job restrictions due to disease. 

C. See policy Reporting Communicable Diseases. 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 9 of 12

37/244



COPY

Employee Health Links- Included but not limited to the 
following: 
Accidental Bloodborne Exposure to Blood and Bodily Fluids 

Annual Influenza Vaccine Program 

CDC TB Screening- Testing 

Chemical and Drug Handlers Health Surveillance History 

Hepatitis B Vaccine for Adults Protocol 

Employee Packet- Illness/ Injury/ Blood Exposure 

Exposure Control Plan 

Hazardous Drug Risk Acknowledgment 

Hazardous Spill and Exposure Response- Emergency Operation Plan 

HIV Post-Exposure Prophylaxis 

Reporting Communicable Disease 

TB Control Plan 

Reporting Communicable Disease 

Retention of Hospital Records 

Reviewed and Approved: 
Infection Control Committee: 4/17/2025 

MEC: 4/22/2025 

MHSC Board: 

REFERENCE: 
BCG Vaccine and TB Testing-CDC Guidelines.  Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb/hcp/vaccines/
index.html 

CDC Chickenpox (Varicella).  Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/chickenpox/index.html 

CDC Management of Potentially Infectious Exposure and Illnesses.  Retrieved from 
https://www.cdc.gov/infection-control/hcp/healthcare-personnel-infrastructure-routine-practices/
exposure-managment.html 

Frequency of Tuberculosis Screening and Testing for Health Care Personnel/TB Prevention in Health 
Care Settings.  Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb-healthcare-settings/hcp/screening-testing/

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 10 of 12

38/244



COPYAttachments 

  800263P Employee Health Inventory 03.24R.pdf 

  802187 - OSHA Respirator Medical Evaluation Questionnaire 04.24R.pdf.pdf 

  802769 - Employee Health Requirements 1.24.pdf 

  802926 - Employee Health Inventory for Students-Shadowers- Observer & Volunteer 

  802973 - Employee Health Provider Orders 4.25.pdf 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Ann Marie Clevenger: CNO Pending 

Medical Director Cielette Karn: Laboratory & IP 
Medical Director, T&B Chair 

03/2025 

Patty O'Lexey: Education 
Director 

03/2025 

Nicole Burke: Employee Health 
Supervisor 

03/2025 

frequency.html 

Health Care Workers and Employers-Occupation Safety and Health Administration.  Retrieved from 
https://www.osha.gov/healthcare. 

Immunization of Health Care Personnel -Center for Disease Control and Prevention.  Retrieved from 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/ 

Medical Surveillance for Health Care Workers Exposed to Hazardous Drugs/ OSHA and Department of 
Health and Human Services. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/wp-solutions/2007-117/
pdfs/2007-117.pdf 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration/ Health Care.  Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/
healthcare. 

Oncology Nursing Society-Safe Handling of Hazardous Drug.  Retrieved from https://www.ons.org/store/
books/safe-handling-hazardous-drugs-fourth-edition 

The Joint Commission.  Retrieved from https://edition.jcrinc.com/ 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 11 of 12

39/244



COPY

Reg. Standards 

CDC, OSHA 29 CFR 1910.1030, TJC IC 04.01.03, TJC IC.06.01.01 EP 5 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 12 of 12

40/244



COPY

Status Pending PolicyStat ID 15508214 

Approved N/A 

Review Due 1 year after 
approval 

Document 
Area 

Employee Health 

Reg. 
Standards 

CDC, OSHA 
29 CFR 
1910.1030,
TJC IC 
04.01.03 
+ 1 more 

CAH- Employee Health Plan 

INTRODUCTION 
The primary goal of the Employee Health Plan is to provide a high level of health, wellness and safety 
among hospital employees. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County strives to provide a safe working 
environment by ensuring that all employees are trained in the proper use of machinery, safety 
precautions and personal protective equipment. Employees will be screened to ensure they meet the 
minimum employee health standards to perform patient care activities and meet the recommendations 
of the CDC for vaccination of health care providers. The policy applies to all employees, contract 
employees, students, shadowers, medical staff, and volunteers (hereafter referred to as the "employee"). 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 
The primary goal of the Employee Health Plan is to maintain the confidentiality of Memorial Hospital of 
Sweetwater County (MHSC) staff members' records while promoting a high standard of health, wellness, 
and safety among all employees. This inclusive plan applies to all employees, medical staff, contractors, 
students, job shadowers, and volunteers, fostering a unified teamwork approach. 

Screening will be performed to ensure compliance with state and federal recommendations and 
regulations regarding patient care activities, including adherence to the vaccination guidelines set forth 
by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (OSHA). 

DEFINITIONS 
• Antibody titer - A laboratory blood test determining immunity or susceptibility to a specific 

disease 

• Bacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) - A vaccine for tuberculosis (TB) disease 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 17

41/244



COPY

• Communicable Disease - An illness that can spread from one person or animal to another 

• FIT Test - A procedure to determine whether a respirator or other protective equipment fits 
properly and provides an adequate seal 

• Hazardous Substance - A material that can cause harm to people, animals, or the environment 

• Hepatitis B - Also known as Hep B of HBV, is a viral infection that attacks the liver 

• Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA) - a blood test that detects tuberculosis 

• Influenza - Flu, seasonal flu, or novel influenza. The flu season is categorized as October 
through May 

• Immunity - The status of being protected from catching a communicable disease because of 
antibody production, either from a previous disease or an appropriately completed 
immunization series 

• Medical Exemption - permission granted by a health care professional for an individual to be 
excused from a requirement or obligation due to a medical condition 

• Measles, Mumps, Rubella (MMR) - A triple antigen vaccine against measles, mumps and 
rubella: 

◦ Measles – Rubeola, red, hard, or ten-day measles 

◦ Mumps - Also known as infectious parotitis 

◦ Rubella - Also known as German measles or three-day measles 

• Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

• Staff- All people who provide care, treatment, or services in the organization, including licensed 
practitioners; permanent, temporary, and part-time personnel; contract employees; volunteers; 
and health profession students. The (Contracted staff provided through a written agreement 
with another organization, agency, or person. The agreement specifies the services or personnel 
to be provided on behalf of the applicant organization and the fees to provide these services or 
personnel) Staff at MHSC: 

◦ Employed Staff - Full-time, Part-time, PRN, and Temporary 

◦ Volunteer Staff - Individual who performs service hours to MHSC without promise, 
expectation, or receipt of compensation for services rendered 

◦ Permanent Contract Staff - Cardinal and Unidine 

◦ Temporary Contract Staff - Travelers and Elwood 

◦ Non - Employed Staff - Students, Shadowers 

• Tetanus-Diphtheria-Pertussis (Tdap) - A combination of three vaccines in a single injection 

• Titer- Laboratory blood test that measures the amount of a specific type of antibodies in the 
blood to assist in determining levels of immunity 

• Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) - Also known as the Mantoux test, is a diagnostic procedure to 
detect active or latent tuberculosis (TB) infection 

• Tuberculosis (TB) - A bacterial infection caused by the germ Mycobacterium tuberculosis. 

• Varicella - Also known as Chickenpox, a highly contagious viral infection caused by the 
Varicella-zoster virus 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 17

42/244



COPY

• Vaccine Information Statement (VIS) - A sheet from the CDC that explains both the benefits 
and risks of a vaccine 

• Work-Related Injury - An injury that occurs on the job or is caused by something at work 

ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT OF THE 
PLAN 

I. RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. The employee health department receives regular input from the Infection Control 
Committee and the Environment of Care Committee. Pertinent policies and 
procedures must be approved by the appropriate committee before being 
incorporated or appended to the plan. 

B. Each individual department Director is responsible for implementing and enforcing 
the Employee Health Plan within his/her department. 

II. AUTHORITY 

A. The final authority on employee health issues is the Chief Executive Officer 

1. Except in cases of communicable disease outbreak control, when 
emergency measures are instituted by Employee Health with approval of 
the Infection Control Physician or designee, and/or the chair of the 
Infection Control Committee, with knowledge of the Chief Executive Officer 

III. RECORD KEEPING 

A. The employee health records are maintained in the Employee Health Department 
and are considered confidential records. 

B. The following persons may access the Employee Health Record: 

1. Employee health nurse or infection control/employee health director 

2. Anyone who has WRITTEN consent from the employee 

3. The employee with WRITTEN consent 

4. OSHA or other regulatory personnel on site 

C. The format and content of the employee health record are standardized. 

1. Employee Health Inventory (Form # 800263 - attached) or the Employee 
Health Inventory for Students/Shadower/Observer (Form # 802926 - 
attached) 

2. Immunizations and titers 

3. Fit test record and OSHA Respirator Medical Evaluation Questionnaire 

4. TST, IGRA or Converter's Assessment/CXR record (if applicable) 

5. Influenza immunizations 

6. All other work related documents 

D. Health records of hospital auxiliaries are maintained by the employee health nurse, 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 17

43/244



COPY

persons who have access to employee health records also have access to the 
volunteer health records. 

E. Records will be maintained for 30 years following termination. After 30 years these 
records will be destroyed. 

IV. CONFIDENTIALITY 

A. All employee health information is held in strict confidence by all persons treating or 
testing the employee, or having access to the employee health record. 

B. To reduce the possibility of intentional or inadvertent leaks of confidential 
information, employee identification numbers may be used on all employee health 
documents and correspondence, unless the document or correspondence is being 
directed out of the hospital to an equally confidential source. 

C. Employee health information may be released only after the employee has signed a 
Consent to Release of Medical Information. 

V. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITY 

A. All projected expenses incurred by the Employee Health Plan are budgeted by the 
Infection Prevention Department. 

B. Expenses incurred by treatment plans, with the exception of worker's compensation 
claims, delineated by the employee health requirements, are paid for from the budget 
of the Infection Prevention Department. 

C. New hires, current employees, and volunteer staff costs will be covered by Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County with the exception of pre-exsisting conditions (for 
example TB infection prior to hire) 

D. Non-employed staff, students, and shadowers will be financially responsible for 
meeting the requirements of the plan prior to arrival, please see policy #941517 

I. AUTHORITY 

A. The final authority on employee health issues is the Chief Executive Officer. 

1. Except in cases of communicable disease outbreak control, when 
emergency measures are instituted by Employee Health with approval of 
the Infection Control Medical Director or their designee, and/or the 
Infection Control Officer appointed per CMS, with knowledge of the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

II. RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. The Employee Health Department receives regular guidance from the Infection 
Control Committee and the Environment of Care Committee. 

B. Each department director is responsible for implementing and enforcing the 
Employee Health Plan. 

EMPLOYEE HEALTH REQUIREMENTS 
I. Employment 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 17

44/244



COPY

A. Health Inventory: Employees are required to complete a Health Inventory Form upon 
employment (Form #802672 or #802926). 

B. TB 

1. Tuberculin skin test (TST), Annual PPD Converter's Assessment (Form # 
802691), plus chest x-ray or IGRA test results if history of past positive 
reaction are required. TST will be done on all employees at hire, and after a 
suspected or confirmed exposure to Tuberculosis (TB). All non employed 
staff will be required to submit annual test results. 

a. Employees who have not had a documented TST in the last 12 
months, will have a 2 step TST done 1 to 3 weeks after the first, 
with the first being completed prior to patient contact. 

b. Employees who have history of a positive TST will be 
reassessed annually using the converter form. Frequency of CXR 
will be determined by an experienced primary care provider, 
however, annually or at a regularly scheduled time is not 
recommended by the CDC. 

i. Education will be provided by the Employee Health 
Nurse regarding what signs and symptoms the 
employee should watch for regarding conversion. 

ii. If a new employee has had a previous positive TST, the 
employee will need to provide a copy of the last chest 
x-ray or have a two view (PA/Lateral) performed. 

iii. A chest x-ray and evaluation by an experienced 
provider will be ordered if symptoms develop 
(persistent cough, weight loss, anorexia, fever) in an 
employee with a history of TB or if recently exposed to 
TB. 

c. The employee health physician will be notified of all positive TST 
reactions. 

d. The Wyoming Department of Health will be notified of all TB 
conversions. 

e. The hospital is not responsible for any reimbursement for 
medical care of an employee who is TST positive at time of hire. 

C. Mumps, Rubella, Rubeola, and Varicella 

1. Required immunity to Rubella, Rubeola, Mumps and Varicella will be 
documented. 

a. Laboratory evidence of serologic immunity or 2 MMR and 2 
Varicella vaccines. 

b. If not immune, employee will be given MMR or Varicella 
vaccination according to manufacturer guidelines at no cost to 
the employee. 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 17

45/244



COPY

c. In the event of an outbreak, those without documented immunity 
or documentation of vaccines will be excluded from high-risk 
areas. 

D. Hepatitis B 

1. Required immunity to Hepatitis B virus will be documented. 

a. Immunity will be determined by the presence of a 3 dose 
Hepatitis B vaccination series AND positive serologic immunity. 

b. If not immune, employee will be given Hepatitis B vaccination 
according to manufacturer guidelines at no cost to the 
employee. 

c. If the employee has received the maximum number of hepatitis 
B vaccine and fails to show immunity the employee will be 
documented as a "nonresponder" and will be counseled on the 
increased risk in the event of an exposure. 

E. Tetanus, Diptheria and Pertussis 

1. A TDAP or TD will be given to all new employees who are not up to date or 
who have not been immunized for pertussis, especially in areas in contact 
with children or neonates. 

a. All employees will be offered the appropriate booster every 10 
years. 

F. Respiratory Protection 

1. All employees will be evaluated by Employee Health for their need to wear 
a tight fitting respirator. If deemed necessary for their job duties, they will 
complete the OSHA respirator medical evaluation questionnaire (Form 
#802187) and if medically able, will be fit tested. . 

a. Employees failing fit testing or unable to be tested will be 
excluded from patient care areas where Airborne Precautions 
are required. 

G. All employees will receive a Employee Health Requirements checklist (Form # 
802672 - attached) prior to hire to aid them in compiling the necessary requirements. 

II. Exemptions 

A. It is mandatory for employees to receive all of the above vaccines for the safety of 
their patients and for their own personal safety. If the employee has a stated medical 
contraindication to vaccination they will be evaluated by the employee health 
physician and may be granted exemption. 

1. Medical exemption may include the following: 

a. Immune deficiency, suppressed immune responses that occur 
with leukemia, lymphoma, therapy with corticosteroids, 
antimetabolites, or radiation. 

b. Pregnancy 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 17

46/244



COPY

c. Allergy 

B. Employees will have 30 days from notification of a delinquency to comply with the 
Employee Health Plan. 

C. Employees will not be permitted to work past the 30 day notification and employees 
will be required to use PTO for time off during this time. If the employee has not 
complied with this requirement within two (2) weeks of the final notification the 
employee will be terminated unless there are approved conditions or situations that 
prevent the employee from completing the requirement. All exceptions to 
terminations must be approved by the Chief Executive Officer. 

For all vaccine administrations, the most up to date vaccine information statement (VIS) will be offered 
to the employee at time of administration to meet federal guidelines. 

I. Employed, Volunteer, and Permanent Contract Staff 

A. Health Inventory: All staff are required to complete a Health Inventory Form upon 
employment. (Form #802926 or #800263). 

B. TB 

1. All staff must provide documentation of a TST in the last 12 months or a 
negative IGRA in the past year. If unable to provide documentation, a 
2-step TST shall be completed. The first step shall be completed before 
starting, and the second step shall be completed 1 to 3 weeks after the 
first step and before patient contact. 

a. Staff with a positive TST history will be reassessed annually 
using the converter form (Form #802691). An experienced 
primary care provider will determine the frequency of CXR; 
however, the CDC does not recommend that it be done annually 
or at a regularly scheduled time. 

i. The employee health nurse will inform staff about the 
signs and symptoms to watch regarding conversion. 

ii. If a new staff member has had a previous positive TST, 
they will need to provide a copy of their last chest X-
ray or obtain a two-view (PA/Lateral) chest X-ray. 

iii. A chest x-ray and evaluation by an experienced 
provider will be ordered if symptoms develop 
(persistent cough, weight loss, anorexia, fever) in a 
staff with a history of TB or if recently exposed to TB. 

b. The employee health provider shall be notified of all positive TST 
reactions. 

c. The Wyoming Department of Health shall be notified of all TB 
conversions. 

d. The hospital is not responsible for any reimbursement for 
medical care of TST-positive staff at the time of hire. 

e. All staff shall be tested for TB at hire and after suspected or 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 7 of 17

47/244



COPY

confirmed exposure. 

f. BCG - Many people born outside the U.S. have been vaccinated 
with the BCG vaccine. This may cause a false-positive TB Skin 
Test reaction. There is no reliable way to distinguish a positive 
TB skin reaction caused by the vaccine or an actual TB infection. 
TB blood tests IGRA is the preferred test for people who have 
received the BCG vaccine. BCG does not induce positive results 
when a TB blood test is used. Staff with documented BCG and a 
positive TST shall have an IGRA test completed. 

C. MMR 

1. Required evidence of immunity to Measles, Mumps, and Rubella shall be 
documented. 

a. Documentation of two MMR vaccines or documented laboratory 
evidence of immunity to all three components. 

b. If not immune, staff shall be given MMR vaccinations according 
to manufacturer guidelines at no cost. 

c. In the event of an outbreak, those without documented immunity 
or vaccine documentation will be excluded from high-risk areas. 

D. Varicella (Chickenpox) 

1. Required evidence of immunity to Varicella shall be documented. 

a. Documentation of two Varicella immunizations or documented 
titer that proves immunity to Varicella. 

b. If no documentation is available and the titer does not prove 
immunity, the staff shall receive the Varicella vaccine as per CDC 
guidelines. CDC Chickenpox (Varicella) 

E. Hepatitis B 

1. The required evidence of immunity to the Hepatitis B virus shall be 
documented. 

a. Immunity will be determined by documented positive antibody 
for Hepatitis B. 

b. If not immune, staff will be given Hepatitis B vaccination 
according to manufacturer guidelines and the MHSC Hepatitis B 
Vaccine for Adult Protocol. Adult Hepatitis B Vaccine for Adults 
Protocol Staff may start working at MHSC if the Employee 
Health requirements are being met and the CDC guidelines for 
Hepatitis B vaccine administration are being followed. 

c. If the staff has received the maximum number of Hepatitis B 
vaccines and fails to show immunity, they will be documented as 
a "non-responder" and counseled on the increased risk in the 
event of an exposure. 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 8 of 17

48/244



COPY

F. Tdap 

1. Documentation of a Tdap within the past 10 years is required. 

2. If there is no documentation of Tdap within the past 10 years, a single 
dose of Tdap will be administered regardless of the time since their last 
tetanus or diphtheria toxoid (Td) vaccine. 

a. All Employed Staff, Volunteer Staff, and Contracted Permanent 
Staff will be offered the appropriate booster every 10 years. 

G. Respiratory Protection 

1. The employee health nurse will evaluate all staff for their need to wear a 
tight-fitting respirator. If deemed necessary for their job duties, they will 
complete the OSHA respirator medical evaluation questionnaire (Form 
#802187) and, if medically able, be tested. 

a. Staff failing fit testing or being unable to be tested will be 
excluded from patient care areas requiring Airborne Precautions. 

H. To meet federal guidelines, the most up-to-date Vaccine Information Statement will 
be offered to the staff for all vaccine administrations. 

AN EMPLOYEESTAFF MAY ATTEND ORIENTATION/EDUCATION WHILE AWAITING BLOOD TESTING
RESULTS OF BLOOD TESTING IF NOT IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE UPON HIRE. ANNO STAFF WILL BE 
PERMITTED TO HAVE PATIENT CONTACT UNTIL RESULTS HAVE BEEN VERIFIED BY EMPLOYEE WILL 
NOT BE PERMITTED TO HAVE PATIENT CONTACT UNTIL RESULTS HAVE BEEN VERIFIED BY EMPLOYEE 
HEALTH. 

EMPLOYEE HEALTH REQUIREMENTS 
I. NON-EMPLOYED STAFF 

A. Students and Shadowers at MHSC will meet basic health requirements and 
participate in established screening programs outlined by the Employee Health Plan 
above. Starting July 1, 2025, updated requirements for Hepatitis B proof of immunity 
or documentation of non-responder will be enforced. 

B. The employee health nurse will receive documentation and a copy of the verified 
immunization records for Students and Shadowers. Verification will be obtained 
before starting clinical at MHSC. 

C. Before their assigned student experience, which has received prior approval from the 
director overseeing the clinical area and the Senior Leader responsible for the 
specific department, the following will be completed: 

1. The student or instructor will provide contact information in writing to 
Human Resources before starting the clinical. 

2. Students will comply with the Employee Health Plan standards. Students 
who do not meet these requirements will not be accepted for practice in 
the hospital. 

3. The contracting academic institution is responsible for providing the 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 9 of 17

49/244



COPY

Employee Health Department with documentation of student compliance 
upon request. 

4. Students will be involved in case contact workups related to an exposure 
to a communicable disease and for follow-up if exposed. 

5. Students who become ill will be referred to their private provider or to the 
ED in case of a medical emergency. The student assumes all costs for 
care and treatment. 

6. Letters of attestation are not acceptable for vaccines. 

7. Any immunization or titer must be completed before starting at MHSC. 

8. Students must have documentation of a current FIT test and approval 
from their institutes' faculty to take care of a patient on airborne isolation 
precautions. This will be decided on a case-by-case basis. 

II. CONTRACTED TEMPORARY STAFF 

A. Contracted staff will comply with all requirements of the Employee Health Plan. 
Starting July 1, 2025, updated requirements for Hepatitis B proof of immunity or 
documentation of non-responder will be enforced. 

B. The employee health nurse will receive documentation with a copy of the verified 
immunization record for contract personnel or be allowed access to the employee 
health nurse to review documents. Verification will be obtained before contract 
personnel begin work at MHSC. Any immunization or titer must be completed before 
starting at MHSC. 

RECORD KEEPING 
I. The employee health records are maintained in the Employee Health Department and 

considered confidential. 

II. All people treating, testing, or accessing the staff's health record hold all employee health 
information in strict confidence. 

III. The following people may access the Employee Health Record: 

A. Employee Health Department and Infection Control Department 

B. The individual staff member with written consent 

C. OSHA or other regulatory personnel on site 

IV. The format and content of the employee health records are standardized and include the 
following: 

A. Employee Health Inventory for Employed Staff 

B. Immunizations and titers 

C. Fit test record and OSHA Respirator Medical Evaluation Questionnaire 

D. Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA), or Converter's 
Assessment and Chest X-ray (CXR) record, if applicable 

E. Influenza immunization 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 10 of 17

50/244



COPY

F. Color Vision for clinical staff upon hire by the Education Department 

G. All other work-related documents 

V. The employee health nurse maintains health records for all MHSC staff. 

VI. Records shall be maintained for 30 years following termination. After 30 years, they will be 
destroyed.Retention of Hospital Records 

VII. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITY 

A. The Employee Health Department budgets all projected expenses incurred and 
identified in the Employee Health Plan. 

B. Treatment plan expenses, except for worker's compensation claims, delineated by 
the employee health requirements, are paid for from the Employee Health budget. 

C. MHSC will cover the costs of Employed, Volunteer, and Permanent Contracted Staff 
except for pre-existing conditions (for example, TB infection before hire). 

D. Non-Employed and Temporary Contracted Staff will be financially responsible for 
meeting the plan's requirements before arrival. 

MEDICAL EXEMPTIONS 
I. All staff must receive all the required vaccines for the safety of their patients and their safety. 

If the staff member has a stated medical contraindication to vaccination, they shall submit a 
medical exemption to Employee Health for review and approval by the MHSC Medical 
Exemption Committee. 

A. Medical exemption may include the following: 

1. Immune deficiency suppresses immune responses that occur with 
leukemia and lymphoma, as well as therapy with corticosteroids, 
antimetabolites, or radiation 

2. Pregnancy 

3. Allergy 

B. Staff will have 30 days from notification of delinquency to comply with the Employee 
Health Plan. 

C. Staff will not be permitted to work past the 30-day notification and will be required to 
use PTO for time off during this time. If the staff has not complied with this 
requirement within two (2) weeks of the final notification, the staff will be terminated 
unless there are approved conditions or situations that prevent the staff from 
completing the requirement. The Chief Executive Officer must approve all exceptions 
to terminations. 

D. Non-employed and Contract Temporary Staff must submit medical exemptions to 
Employee Health for review and approval by the MHSC Medical Exemption 
Committee before starting at MHSC. 

ANNUAL REQUIREMENTS 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 11 of 17

51/244



COPY

I. Annual Requirements 

A. An Annual TB Facility Assessment will be conducted by the Employee Health Nurse 
which will determine the current TB risk, and the need for annual testing. 

B. All Employees are required to take part in the Annual Influenza Vaccine Clinic, Policy 
#1103869. 

C. All employees whose job duties require the use of a tight fitting respirator will be fit 
tested annually. 

II. Student/Shadowers and Contract Health Requirements 

A. Refer to Student/Contract Employees/Medical Staff Health Requirements Policy 
#941517 

B. Costs for volunteers (MHSC Auxiliary members) will be paid by the hospital and 
follow the same standards as hospital employees 

III. Employee Health and Infection Control will conduct an annual TB facility assessment to 
determine the current TB risk and the need for annual testing. 

IV. All staff must participate in the Annual Influenza Vaccine Clinic. Annual Influenza Vaccine 
Program 

V. All staff whose job duties require a tight-fitting respirator will be tested annually. 

EMPLOYEEEMPLOYED STAFF ILLNESS OR 
WORK-RELATED INJURY 

1. Employees who become ill before they begin work will notify their supervisor before the 
designated starting time according to personnel policy. Supervisors will then notify Employee 
Health. 

2. Employees who report to work ill, or who become ill at work, will notify their supervisor 
immediately. At the supervisor's discretion, the employee may be sent to the Employee Health 
Department. The Employee Health Nurse will determine the need to send the employee home, 
to the ER for examination by an emergency room physician, or to a private physician. 

3. Employees off work because of illness or injury for longer than two days, or who are returning 
to work from a medical leave of absence, may be asked to present a work release signed by 
their their private physician to their supervisor. Employees restricted from work because of a 
significant communicable disease will have their work releases evaluated by the Employee 
Health Nurse or Infection Control, before they may return to work. Work releases are to be sent 
to Infection Control/Employee Health. In turn, Employee Health will forward a copy to Human 
Resources, if not already given to HR. 

4. Any employee with a work-related injury who seeks medical treatment must present a work 
release or restriction document to their Department Supervisor before returning to work. The 
Department Supervisor will then forward the document to Employee Health or Human 
Resources. 

5. Employees injured on the job – however minor the injury may appear – are encouraged to 
complete an Employee Packet (which includes Wyoming Report of Injury Form) and notify their 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 12 of 17

52/244



COPY

supervisor who will complete a Supervisors Investigation of an Employee Incident report 
(Refer to Employee Packet) in its entirety, and report to the Employee Health Department, or 
Emergency Department if after hours for evaluation. Employees who do not report injuries 
within 72 hours of occurrence may be ineligible for hospital funded treatment for 
complications of the injury. Notification within 24 hours is preferred. 

I. Staff who become ill before they begin work will notify their supervisor before the designated 
starting time according to personnel policy. Supervisors shall then notify Employee Health. 

II. Staff who report to work ill or become sick will notify their supervisor immediately. At the 
supervisor's discretion, the staff may be sent to the Employee Health Department. The 
employee health nurse will determine whether to send the staff home or to the ER for 
examination by an emergency room physician or private physician. 

III. Staff off work because of illness or injury for longer than two days or returning from medical 
leave of absence may be asked to present a work release signed by their private physician to 
their supervisor. Staff restricted from work because of a significant communicable disease 
shall have their work releases evaluated by the employee health nurse before they may return 
to work. Work releases are to be sent to Employee Health. Employee Health will forward a copy 
to Human Resources, if not already provided. 

IV. It's essential that all staff, regardless of the severity of their injury, complete an Employee 
Packet / Injury and Exposure (which includes the Wyoming Report of Injury Form) and notify 
their supervisor. If the employee health nurse is unavailable, the staff should report to the 
emergency department for an evaluation. Supervisors play a key role in the reporting process. 
They are responsible for completing the Supervisor Investigation portion of the incident report, 
ensuring the employee has completed their portion, submitting an incident report in the MHSC 
reporting system, and returning the packet to the employee health nurse. 
It's important to remember that not reporting injuries within 72 hours of their occurrence may 
have serious consequences. Staff may be ineligible for hospital-funded treatment for injuries' 
complications. Notification within 24 hours is preferred. 

EMPLOYED STAFF EXPOSURE TO 
COMMUNICABLE DISEASE 

I. AnIn the MHSC occurrence reporting system, an incident report will be completed for any 
employee potentiallystaff member who may have been exposed to a communicable disease in 
the MHSC occurrence reporting system.The employee The staff's supervisor will complete the 
gray packetfill out the Employee Packet/Injury and Exposure (which includes the Supervisor 
Investigation of Employee Accident Form) and sign the Worker's Compensation forms). 
Employee Health performs contact tracing for staff related to exposures. The Infection 
Preventionist will conduct case contact investigations and provide recommendations aligning 
with delineated Infection Control Nurse will conduct case contact investigations as needed 
and delineated in Infection Control Policypolicies. 

A. Once the determination, through case contact investigation, of true exposure of an 
employee or employees to a communicable disease is made, work restrictions will 
be instituted according to the CDC guidelines. Work restrictions may be initiated by a 
department director with consideration of the Infection Control/Employee Health 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 13 of 17

53/244



COPY

Director, but are enforced by the Infection Control Committee. 

II. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County follows currentOnce the determination, through case 
contact investigation, of a staff member's true exposure to a communicable disease is made, 
work restrictions will be instituted according to the CDC guidelines for exposures to 
communicable diseases, including time off work, and job restrictions due to disease. 

A. MHSC follows current CDC guidelines for exposures to communicable diseases, 
including time off work and job restrictions due to disease. 

III. See policy Reporting Communicable Diseases. 

EXPOSUREEMPLOYED STAFF EXPOSED TO 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 

I. All employees identified as havingstaff with routine exposure to hazardous substances, such 
as chemotherapy medications, will have a medical screening, TST, and/or basic laboratory 
testing performed annually as indicated by the Employee Health PhysicianProvider. 

II. Females who are pregnant or breast-feeding and/or any person actively trying to conceive a 
child will be reassigned to duties that do not involve the handling of hazardous medications. 

III. Link to Chemical and Drug Handlers Health Surveillance History 

IV. Females who are pregnant or breastfeeding and/or any person actively trying to conceive a 
child will acknowledge that they are aware of the risks involved with handling hazardous 
medications. These individuals will wear the appropriate personal protective equipment (PPE) 
for handling hazardous drugs. The Hazardous Drug Risk Acknowledgement form, Hazardous 
Drug Risk Acknowledgment, will be signed upon hire or transfer. If possible, staff members 
may ask to be reassigned. 

Approval: 
Infection Control Committee - Nov. 7, 2018; HR Committee - February 18, 2019 

REFERENCES: 
PERMANENT CONTRACT, TEMPORARY 
CONTRACT, AND NON-EMPLOYEE STAFF WITH 
WORK-RELATED INJURY, EXPOSURE TO 
COMMUNICABLE DISEASE, AND HAZARDOUS 
SUBSTANCES 

I. Staff shall contact and report the event to their academic institute or their agency's Employee 
Health Department and or Human Resource Department. 

A. Once the determination, through case contact investigation, of a staff member's true 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 14 of 17

54/244



COPY

exposure to a communicable disease is made, work restrictions will be instituted 
according to the CDC guidelines. Work restrictions may be initiated by a department 
director with consideration of Employee Health and Infection Control but are 
enforced by the Infection Control Committee. 

B. MHSC follows current CDC guidelines for exposures to communicable diseases, 
including time off work and job restrictions due to disease. 

C. See policy Reporting Communicable Diseases. 

Employee Health Links- Included but not limited to the 
following: 
Accidental Bloodborne Exposure to Blood and Bodily Fluids 

Annual Influenza Vaccine Program 

CDC TB Screening- Testing 

Chemical and Drug Handlers Health Surveillance History 

Hepatitis B Vaccine for Adults Protocol 

Employee Packet- Illness/ Injury/ Blood Exposure 

Exposure Control Plan 

Hazardous Drug Risk Acknowledgment 

Hazardous Spill and Exposure Response- Emergency Operation Plan 

HIV Post-Exposure Prophylaxis 

Reporting Communicable Disease 

TB Control Plan 

Reporting Communicable Disease 

Retention of Hospital Records 

Reviewed and Approved: 
Infection Control Committee: 4/17/2025 

MEC: 4/22/2025 

MHSC Board: 

REFERENCE: 
BCG Vaccine and TB Testing-CDC Guidelines. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb/hcp/vaccines/
index.html 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 15 of 17

55/244



COPY
Attachments 

  800263P Employee Health Inventory 03.24R.pdf 

  802187 - OSHA Respirator Medical Evaluation Questionnaire 04.24R.pdf.pdf 

  802769 - Employee Health Requirements 1.24.pdf 

  802926 - Employee Health Inventory for Students-Shadowers- Observer & Volunteer 

  802973 - Employee Health Provider Orders 4.25.pdf 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

CDC Chickenpox (Varicella). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/chickenpox/index.html 

CDC Management of Potentially Infectious Exposure and Illnesses. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/
infection-control/hcp/healthcare-personnel-infrastructure-routine-practices/exposure-managment.html 

Frequency of Tuberculosis Screening and Testing for Health Care Personnel/TB Prevention in Health 
Care Settings. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/tb-healthcare-settings/hcp/screening-testing/
frequency.html 

Health Care Workers and Employers-Occupation Safety and Health Administration. Retrieved from 
https://www.osha.gov/healthcare. 

Immunization of Health Care Personnel -Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/ 

Medical Surveillance for HealthcareHealth Care Workers Exposed to Hazardous Drugs Department of 
Health and Human Services https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/wp-solutions/2013-103/pdfs/
2013-103.pdf/ OSHA and Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from 
https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/wp-solutions/2007-117/pdfs/2007-117.pdf 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration/ Health Care. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/
healthcare. 

Healthcare WorkersOncology Nursing Society-Safe Handling of Hazardous Drugs Should Be Monitored in 
Surveillance Program Oncology Nursing Society https://www.ons.org/practice-resources/clinical-
practice/healthcare-workers-handling-hazardous-drugs-should-be-monitoredDrug. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.org/store/books/safe-handling-hazardous-drugs-fourth-edition 

The Joint Commission. Retrieved from https://edition.jcrinc.com/ 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 16 of 17

56/244



COPY

Ann Marie Clevenger: CNO Pending 

Medical Director Cielette Karn: Laboratory & IP 
Medical Director, T&B Chair 

03/2025 

Patty O'Lexey: Education 
Director 

03/2025 

Nicole Burke: Employee Health 
Supervisor 

03/2025 

Reg. Standards 

CDC, OSHA 29 CFR 1910.1030, TJC IC 04.01.03, TJC IC.06.01.01 EP 5 

CAH- Employee Health Plan. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
15508214/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 17 of 17

57/244



Separator Page

Minutes for April 2 2025 Regular Meeting Draft

58/244



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

April 2, 2025 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session on April 

2, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

CALL TO ORDER 

Dr. Sowada welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order.  

Dr. Sowada requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees were 

present: Judge Nena James, Mr. Marty Kelsey, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Mr. Craig Rood, and Dr. 

Barbara Sowada.  

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Alicia 

Gray, Chief of Medical Staff; Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel; and Mr. Taylor Jones, 

Sweetwater Board of County Commissioners. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Dr. Sowada led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Mission and Vision 

Mr. Kelsey read aloud the mission and vision statements. 

Mission Moment 

Ms. Richardson shared a personal mission moment involving the care of a loved one. He was 

admitted after testing in the Emergency Department. He has a complicated case and comments 

were shared that everyone providing care was excellent. Ms. Richardson said Dr. Gray took such 

good care of him. Nursing staff was wonderful. Everyone was great across the board. He told Ms. 

Richardson he is very grateful and she said she is also grateful.  

AGENDA 

Dr. Sowada asked for requests for any items to be moved from the Consent Agenda to New 

Business. There were no changes. Dr. Sowada asked if there were requests for Senior Leader or 

Board Committee Reports to be removed to New Business. There was a request to move Finance 

and Audit Committee to New Business. The motion to approve the agenda with the item noted as 

moved to New Business as requested was made by Judge James; second by Mr. Rood. Motion 

carried.  

Mr. Kelsey clarified why Employee Policies – Access to Personnel Files was included under Old 

Business this month. He said there was no official document or record of what was passed so he 

asked for it to be placed on the April agenda to verify approval. Mr. Kelsey said he agrees with all 

of the changes made by the attorney. Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. Kelsey for bringing this to the 

Board’s attention. Mr. Kelsey also noted we have an official online agenda item in the packet for 

Approval of Bad Debt under the Consent Agenda.  

59/244



 

 

Minutes of the April 2, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 of 6 

 

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

There were no comments.  

 

OLD BUSINESS 

Quarterly Progress Report on Strategic Plans and Goals 

Ms. Richardson gave a shout out to staff and said everyone is on the same page in regard to working 

on the Strategic Plan. She reviewed the update provided to the Board in the portal and shared 

updates on each of the Strategic Pillars: Patient Experience, Employee Experience, Quality and 

Safety, Community Services and Growth, and Financial Stewardship. Mr. Kelsey thanked Ms. 

Richardson for the very nice report and asked if it would be possible to explore graphing the key 

metrics for patient satisfaction.  

 

Employee Policies – Access to Personnel Files 

 

The motion to approve the policy as presented was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. 

Motion carried.  

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by 

Judge James. Motion carried. Items approved: March Meeting Minutes, Capital Expenditure 

Requests, Bad Debt, Quality Committee Charter Update. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Behavioral Health Plan 

 

Dr. Sowada said Dr. Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer, and Ms. Crystal Hamblin, 

Director of Cardiopulmonary Services, have developed a Behavioral Health Plan, which is a huge 

project and a big plan. Dr. Sowada said the purpose at the meeting is not to approve/disapprove 

but to gather information. Dr. Clevenger thanked the group. She provided a summary of how the 

plan was developed. She said bringing this forward helps to build the clinic and address strategic 

priorities alignment. Dr. Clevenger said we want to improve access to care. She said Southwest 

Counseling has made a big impact in providing services and QLER has also helped. She said many 

staff members across multiple departments have helped develop the plan. Dr. Gray recognized Dr. 

Clevenger and her team for all the work they have done. She said the physicians recognize there 

are barriers and are supportive and happy to answer any questions. Dr. Gray reviewed the process 

acute care patients go through. Mr. Kelsey thanked the group for the presentation. He said he has 

questions revolving around mental health, our responsibility, and the responsibility of other cunty 

organizations. The Board requested a workshop to review the information in more detail.  

 

Policies from the Governance Committee 

 

Mr. Kelsey said this journey began about nine months ago. The Committee looked at current 

policies with staff and proposals were developed. Mr. Kelsey said it became apparent there were 

60/244



 

 

Minutes of the April 2, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 of 6 

 

some legal implications and so they involved legal counsel. The information presented is primarily 

the work of Mr. Phillips. Mr. Kelsey said these are the bedrock or foundational policies that govern 

how we handle policies at MHSC. He said there are extremely critical legal implications. Mr. 

Phillips reviewed the process and said we must have a proper separation of powers regarding the 

development of policies and we must ensure that we identify who is going to be adopting, 

approving, developing, etc. He said as a government entity we retain our sovereign immunity. The 

Board has a statutory duty. He said the matrix is really the key. Mr. Kelsey said as we move 

forward if we run into trouble we can tweak it. He said staff was wonderful with their help to 

develop the policies. Dr. Sowada thanked everyone involved for their work.  

 

Request from the Medical Staff – Changes to Emergency Medicine Privileges and Pediatric 

Privileges 

 

Dr. Sowada asked the Board for their pleasure to review or to approve on first review. The motion 

to approve the Changes to the Emergency Medicine Privileges as presented was made by Ms. 

Pendleton; second by Judge James. Motion carried. The motion to approve the Changes to the 

Pediatric Privileges as presented was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Judge James. Motion 

carried.  

 

Patient Safety 

 

Dr. Sowada said 20% of each Board meeting should be spent on patient safety. She said how 

information is brought to the Board will be a work in progress. She said in the late 1990’s, a large 

study was conducted. “To Err Is Human” was a report issued that found there were a number of 

deaths that occurred due to errors in the practice of medicine. The total study was reviewed again 

two or three years ago and the numbers hadn’t really changed. Dr. Sowada said when Quality 

Department staff and other staff look at our hospital scores, we show we are doing really well. She 

said hat’s off to everybody. Dr. Sowada said we have a lot in our community to be thankful for 

including good processes and good people in place.  

 

Finance and Audit Committee  

 

Mr. Kelsey said Mr. Ron Cheese, Patient Financial Services Director, brought to Finance and 

Audit an update on the revenue cycle project started by Clifton Larson Allen. He said Mr. Cheese 

did a good job with his report and Mr. Kelsey thinks this is something the entire Board should be 

aware of. He said the information is available in the portal. Mr. Kelsey asked Trustees to review 

the information carefully. Mr. Rood said it is a nice report and it is good to see we are making 

progress. He said we need to stay on top of that. Ms. Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer, said the 

update will be included monthly in the Finance and Audit Committee meeting packet. Mr. Kelsey 

said a question was asked at the recent Committee meeting about when will we be all caught up 

with the old billing. Staff said hopefully by the end of May. Mr. Kelsey suggested by the end of 

the fiscal year. He said he knows we are submitting piecemeal for a reason and said he thinks that 

is a good idea. Mr. Kelsey noted net patient revenues were down through February. He said 

expenditures were also down. Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. Kelsey.  

 

  

61/244



 

 

Minutes of the April 2, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 of 6 

 

REPORTS 

 

Chief Executive Officer Report 

 

Ms. Richardson thanked everyone for the work done related to Critical Access designation. She 

said we started in January 2023 and involved the Medical Staff. She said she thinks it really is the 

best thing we could do for this hospital and our community. Ms. Richardson said many of the OB 

units have closed around us. She said we are committed to keeping our unit open. We added Dr. 

Ken Holt and Dr. Cesar Hernandez to our group and they are helping us solidify our presence here. 

Ms. Richardson said we have been extremely busy and we are grateful to have great providers and 

great staff. We presented a proposal to the County Commissioners for remodeling of our OB unit 

with some remaining funds. The Commissioners asked us to explore grant funding. Ms. 

Richardson asked staff to investigate. The Lab renovation is coming along nicely and we plan to 

have the work done by the end of the calendar year. Ms. Richrdson said we are very busy right 

now with annual education, competencies, evaluations, and our operating and capital budget 

process. As we prepare our budget to submit to the County, we are mindful county revenues are 

down and we will adjust our budget accordingly. Ms. Richardson said Doctors Day was March 30 

and we are celebrating our physicians April 10. She said we are so lucky to have them at MHSC. 

We will celebrate Hospital Week May 12-16 and a service award banquet event will be held that 

week. Ms. Richardson will attend the American Hospital Association Annual Meeting in 

Washington D.C. May 4-6. She said she is honored to have been asked to introduce Senator John 

Barrasso as one of the speakers. The Wyoming Hospital Association (WHA) CEO and Trustee 

Spring Meeting will be in Casper May 30. Ms. Richardson will attend the WHA Region 4 CEO 

Meeting in Afton June 11. The WHA Board Retreat is in Jackson June 12-13. The WHA Annual 

Meeting will be in Laramie September 3-4. Ms. Richardson ended her report with a huge shout 

out to staff for their hard work. She said she is happy to be part of it.  

 

Medical Staff Services Chief of Staff Report 

 

Dr. Gray highlighted Dr. Cody Christensen and Emily James, NP, for their great care. She shared 

some of the recent comments shared by patients and said we are grateful for these great providers. 

The Medical Staff are reviewing readmission rates and collaborating with the Emergency 

Department to improve outcomes. We continue to focus on the Pain Task Force. We are working 

to improve care coordination between departments. Dr. Gray recognized Dr. Banu Symington for 

her recent appointment as Chair-Elect to the American Society of Clinical Oncology’s State 

Affiliate Council. Dr. Gray said we are all dedicated to improving patient care.  

 

County Commissioner Liaison Report 

 

Commissioner Jones said Dr. Sowada announced she will be stepping away from the Board at the 

end of June. He asked that anyone interested in serving on the Board complete an application with 

the County. He said typically the Liaison pre-screens. Commissioner Jones said he believes 

strongly that Trustees not be afraid to ask questions. The Liaison then makes a recommendation 

and the Commissioners vote. The more people who apply, the better the selection. Commissioner 

Jones provided a budget update.  

  

62/244



 

 

Minutes of the April 2, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 of 6 

 

CONTRACTS 

 

Wolters Kluwer 

 

The motion to approve the contract as presented was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. 

Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

EDUCATION 

 

Ms. Pendleton said she thought the Veralon Community Partnerships: A Strategic Imperative 

Parts 1 and 2 was very good and timely. Mr. Rood said he thought it was interesting that we look 

at the money as well as the cause. He agreed it was timely. Dr. Sowada liked the questions the 

Board should ask about partnerships.  

 

GOOD OF ORDER 

 

Ms. Richardson said a family member wanted her to give a shout out to the Health Information 

Management Department for all of the requests he has made and they are so responsive and helpful 

every time. 

 

Mr. Kelsey said he needed to give an admonition to the staff. He said that as a prior CFO, he knows 

we are always under pressure to add staff. He urges everyone to be very careful and scrutinize 

every request carefully. He said he will be looking at that closely and cautioned everyone to be 

mindful and careful.  

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session at 4:01 p.m. to discuss legal, personnel, contracts, and 

items considered confidential by law was made by Mr. Rood; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion 

carried.  

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 

 

The motion to leave the executive session and return to the regular session at 5:14 p.m. was made 

by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Pursuant to the notice provided in the agenda, the Board of Trustees held discussions and action 

was taken.  

 

The motion to grant clinical privileges and appointments to the medical staff as discussed in 

executive session was made by Judge James; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. 

 

  

63/244



 

 

Minutes of the April 2, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 of 6 

 

Credentials Committee Recommendations to the Board of Trustees for Granting Clinical 

Privileges and Granting Appointment to the Medical Staff from March 11, 2025 

1. Initial Appointment to Associate Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Benjamin Childs, Orthopedic Surgery 

 Dr. Joginder Singh, Medical Oncology 

2. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff (1 year) 

 Paul Crane, Tele-Neuro (U of U) 

3. Initial Appointment to Advance Practice Provider Staff (1 year) 

 Mariah Pacheco, Family Nurse Practitioner 

4. Reappointment to Active Staff (3 year) 

 Dr. Kurt Hunter, Family Medicine 

 Dr. Wagner Veronese, OB/GYN 

 Dr. David Dansie, Family Medicine 

 Dr. Brytton Long, Family and Occupational Medicine 

 Dr. Jacques Denker, Orthopedics and Sports Medicine 

 Dr. Joshua Binks, Radiation Oncology 

 Dr. Rahul Pawar, Nephrology 

 Dr. Augusto Jamias, General Surgery 

5. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (3 year) 

 Dr. Ethan Tumarkin, Cardiovascular Disease (U of U) 

 Dr. Clark Moser, Tele-Neurology (U of U) 

 Dr. Robert Kadish, Tele-Neurology (U of U) 

 Dr. Frank Rembert, Tele-Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. Jana Wold, Tele-Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Stephanie Lyden, Tele-Stroke (U of U) 

6. New Business 

 Dr. Name Change 

 Revised Pediatric and Emergency Medicine Privileges 

 

The motion to approve contracts and authorize the CEO to sign as discussed in executive session 

was made by Judge James; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 5:15 p.m.  

 

 

  

  __________________________________ 

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Judge Nena James, Secretary 

64/244



Separator Page

Minutes for April 22 2025 Special Meeting Draft

65/244



 

MINUTES FROM THE SPECIAL MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

April 22, 2025 
 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in a special meeting on 

April 22, 2025, at 8:30 a.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada called the meeting to order. The following Trustees were present: Judge Nena James, 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, and Dr. Barbara Sowada. Mr. Marty Kelsey attended via Zoom meeting 

online. Mr. Craig Rood was excused.  

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Geoff 

Phillips, Legal Counsel. Dr. Alicia Gray, Chief of Medical Staff, and Mr. Taylor Jones, County 

Commissioner Liaison, attended via Zoom meeting online.  

 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CLINIC PROPOSAL OVERVIEW 

 

Dr. Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer, asked if everyone had received a copy of her 

printed information. She provided some background and said it was an organizational decision to 

move forward with pursuing a behavioral health clinic. She stressed it is really meant to provide 

an additional service and access to our community. Dr. Clevenger reviewed data of rates and 

service providers. She reviewed questions from the Board. She reviewed what we are currently 

doing in detail. Dr. Clevenger reviewed verification of expenses and revenues. She emphasized 

the return on investment may not be financial. She said, as a healthcare facility, we feel it is the 

right thing to do for the underserved members of our community. She said collaboration is the key. 

The process for patients under a Title 25 hold was discussed. They are currently under the care of 

Hospitalists and are on observation status until medical needs supersede and then admitted as a 

medical patient. Ms. Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer, said we see an average of 4.8 days per 

stay. We are projecting to 55 patients this year. Data shows 60% are self-pay, 35% are Blue Cross 

Blue Shield, and there are some with Medicare or Medicaid. Dr. Clevenger said when someone is 

here waiting 30-45 days, they were waiting for a bed. When discharged, we often see them back 

again. Ms. Robin Jenkins, Director of Care Management, said a location we wait for openings is 

Wyoming Behavioral Institute (WBI). Dr. Gray said most patients go to the Wyoming State 

Hospital. She said it is very difficult to get patients into WBI. She said it is really up to the State 

Hospital where these patients go. Dr. Clevenger said the plan to start is two separate clinics and 

then evaluate. We would like to start small, try to grow to see the impact to our community, and if 

positive, then enhance an opportunity to bring a psychiatrist. Ms. Love reviewed the financials. 

She said the insurance is no different through COPIC for providers than what we offer now. Dr. 

Clevenger said we added one day a week on to our QLER contract. She said that would/could go 

away. Dr. Sowada asked what problem we are attempting to solve. Is our goal to provide 

counseling or is it to get people stabilized on their medications? Dr. Clevenger referred to the nurse 

model and said the focus is on medication management. If we go to a counseling model, we will 

never have enough providers. Dr. Clevenger said the purpose is to solve a disparity of service. She 

said providers practice in their realm of practice. Dr. Sowada said the direction we take determines 

which staff are hired. Ms. Crystal Hamblin, Director of Cardiopulmonary Services, said if it was 

her as the provider, she would want to focus on medication management. She said she personally 

66/244



 

 

Minutes of the April 22, 2025 Board of Trustees Special Meeting 

Page 2 

likes to refer to the experts. Ms. Pendleton said she appreciates the starting small approach clarified 

today. Ms. Jodi Cheese, Specialty Clinics Practice Manager, said the majority of what we are 

currently doing in the clinics is medication management. Dr. Clevenger referenced working on a 

Memorandum of Understanding with Southwest Counseling moving forward. Mr. Phillips 

mentioned additional liability issues with enhanced federal standards related to HIPAA. Ms. Suzan 

Campbell, In House Legal Counsel, said we would not have any additional liability issues. Dr. 

Gray said the clinic would be an added benefit to our community. She said medication management 

appointments sometimes take 1 – 2 months to get so that would be a benefit alone. When asked 

how long we think it would take to start, the response was 60-90 days. Ms. Pendleton thinks this 

is step 1. She said we can’t get to step 10 without starting at step 1. Commissioner Jones said the 

County Commissioners will not tell the Board what to do. He said Title 25 is a big thing. Mr. 

Kelsey said he would like more information on our relationship with Southwest Counseling. He 

said this presentation has been helpful and is appreciated. He said it is certainly worth discussion, 

deliberation, contemplation, and thought. Ms. Richardson thanked Dr. Clevenger and the team for 

the great, informative presentation. She said we want to do everything we can to help our 

community and address their concerns. She thanked the Board for their questions and agreed this 

is a very important topic. The Trustees thanked the presenters. Dr. Sowada said the topic will be 

on the May meeting agenda.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

The meeting adjourned at 9:51 a.m.   

 

 

 

   

   

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

Attest: 

 

 

 

 

 

Judge Nena James, Secretary 

67/244



68/244



69/244



70/244



71/244



72/244



73/244



74/244



75/244



76/244



77/244



78/244



79/244



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:5/7/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 

 Suspend active “Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, 
Guidelines and Forms” 

 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Recommended suspension at the current time approved by the Governance 
Committee at their April 21 meeting.  
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments:. 

 ☒ Board  Comments:. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

80/244



81/244



82/244



83/244



84/244



85/244



86/244



87/244



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:5/7/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 

 Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and 
Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

 MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix 

 Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☐ Revision 

 ☒ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approved by the Governance Committee at their March 17 meeting. Presented at 
the April Board of Trustees meeting for first review. Presented at the May 7 
meeting for second read and approval. 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments:. 

 ☒ Board  Comments:. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

88/244



DRAFT

S Draft PS ID 17862650

A N/A

R D N/A

D
A

B 
T

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies
and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of

Sweetwater County

Board of Trustees

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE:
T            , ,   
     M H  S C ( “H”). I
          H' , 
,   ,         
  S L, I-H C,   ,   
   B  T  H-    .

SCOPE:
T   H-       , , 
 . O     P, S, P, P/
P, G,  F        .

TEXT:
I. P S

A. T B  T ( "B")  M H  S C 
         H, 

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 7

89/244



DRAFT

   H    .

B. T            W. S.
§ 18-8-104,     B     
   H,        
   H’  ,  ,  
    .

C. T B      --    H. T 
   H     S L,   
      H'   
   .

D. T B          
  H. W       H
  ,  B     
     , , ,  
,     H’ , 
,   . A    
   MHSC P & G D A M.

E. T B         ,
  , ,   ,    
     . S   
B'           
 .

II. D  D  R

A. T B  T     , ,     
            
    H.

B. D          
B’  . A    B   
   S L, ,   .

III. P A P

A. A       MHSC P & G D
A M.

IV. P D  D

A. T B  T        
  H      S L, I-
H C   .

B. S L, I-H C,       
        ,  
 H’  ,  ,   .

C. T C C,    S L,   
          .

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 7

90/244



DRAFT

D. A , ,        
    (.., PS). T CEO  
       .

E. T P, S, P, P/P, G,  F 
   . T    
          
   :

1. J C C: D   
        
H ,   , H ,
   .

2. B & G C: D   
   H , ,  
 ,    .

3. C C: D    
   ,  ,  , 
  ( HIPAA ).

4. G C: D    
  B ,  , B 
,  B   .

5. Q C: D     
  ,  ,  , 
 .

6. H R C: D   
    , , , ,
 ,   .

F. A         , 
          B 
T         MHSC P & G
D A M.

G. T B          
     H’ , ,  , 
 . T B  T     
  S L, I-H C,  B ,  
  .

V. D  S R

A. T B          
     S L,   
     B   .

B. S L,  I-H C      
       B’  , 
      B      .

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 7

91/244



DRAFT

C. T      B  T     
         
        . D  
, ,  S L      P,
S, P, P/P, G,  F   
  .

D. T P, S, P, P/P, G,  F 
         
    . T   
     .

VI. R P R

A. A            
     , ,   .

1. T         
C  M & M S (CMS),  
  MHSC, C A H (CAH) , 
  .

2. A       H’ 
   P, S, P, P/P,
G,  F ,     P  G
A M.

3. T CEO, I-H C,  S L   
        
         
 B  T   .

B. P      ,  
,       , ,   .
R         
.

VII. E  B A

A. T       S L  
   B       MHSC P &
G D A M. T    :

1. O        H'
,  ,    (.., 
 ).

2. R     --   (..,
- ,  ).

3. S           
M S      H’ M E
C.

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 7

92/244



DRAFT

B. H,         
   B  T        
H’    .

VIII. U  A R

A. I           
 B , S L    MHSC P &
G D A M.

B. I        ,      
 B   .

C. W  ,  B’        
  , ,   .

IX. R

A. B  T:

1. R   H-    
,     , ,  
.

2. E         H'
, ,   .

3. M     H'  
   .

B. C E O (CEO):

1. O  , ,     H
   .

2. E  S L      
 .

3. R   B        
    .

C. I-H C:

1. D, , ,       
H      .

2. E   ,    
        .

3. E      .

D. S L O H R:

1. O       
      D  H
R  I-H C,    H
    .

2. R         

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 7

93/244



DRAFT

B,     MHSC P & G D
A M.

3. E      .

E. C R: E       
       , :

1. J C C: C   
.

2. B & G C: F    
  .

3. C C: L     .

4. G C: B    .

5. Q C: P     .

6. H R C: E   
.

NOTE: C       
      H’ , , 
 . T        B 
T         
  .

F. S L:

1. D, ,      
      .

2. E      .

3. P          CEO  
B  T.

X. D  U C

A. T           .

1. T B      , 
     .

2. S       ,   ,  
   .

B. T B  ,   ,    
 ,  ,         
      P  G A M.

1. A    ,  ,     ,
         
, ,   .

2. W     ,    

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 7

94/244



DRAFTA S

Step Description Approver Date

 ,      -  - 
      .

3. T H          
   .

XI. W G I D

A. N            H’  
     W G C A, W. S. § 1-39-101
 . T H         ,
  .

References
· W. S. § 18-8-104 (H       )

· W G C A, W. S. § 1-39-101  .

Board of Trustees Approval:

Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater
County. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862650/. Copyright © 2025
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 7 of 7

95/244



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 17868228

Approved N/A

Review Due N/A

Document
Area

Board of
Trustees

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 5

96/244



DRAFT

Board of Trustees

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 5

97/244



DRAFT

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 5

98/244



DRAFT

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 5

99/244



DRAFT

Attachments

 3.7.25Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix_Page_1.jpg

 3.7.25Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix_Page_2.jpg

Approval Signatures

Step Description Approver Date

Board of Trustees Approval:

MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix. Retrieved 03/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17868228/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 5

100/244



DRAFT

S Draft PS ID 17862888

L  M H 

S C

A N/A

R D N/A

D
A

Q & R
M

R.
S

CAH C-0991
§485.631()(1),
CAH C-1006
§485.635(),
CAH C-1008
§485.635()(2)
+ 4 

Pols, Stnrs, Plns, Prours/Prosss,
Gulns n Forms

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE
T             , ,
, ,          
. T    ,     , , 
       .

SCOPE
T    , , , ,     
        , --   
H.

Intrton wt Govrnn Poly

T         P  D, A,
 O  P  G D     MHSC P & G
D A M. I     , , , , 
    H’ -- . I       
 ,  G P   A M  ,  
  . A         
B  T, CEO,  C C  .

Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862888/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 6

101/244



DRAFT

Dntons:

I. POLICY-           
 . T        
   . This is the WHY.

II. PROCEDURE - T            
        . (O  ., 2020).This is the HOW.

III. PLAN - A   o rqurmnts n/or nmrks,     
    . This is the WHAT and WHY.

IV. PROTOCOL (CLINICAL) – S  PROCEDURE      -
 . A   -- ,     ,
            ’   
   . P      
     -      .
P       . This is also the HOW. Refer to Standing
Orders, Protocol and Order Sets document.

V. STANDING ORDERS- P-        
  ,          
             
    ;         
       . S O     
 . This is also the HOW . Refer to Standing Orders, Protocol and Order Sets
document.

VI. ORDER SETS - O   -, , -  
     . O S       .
This is also the HOW . Refer to Standing Orders, Protocol and Order Sets .

VII. GUIDELINE - R         . A guideline 
           . G 
     . (O  ., 2020).

VIII. FORM - A -  . F       .

IX. DOWNTIME FORM -          . D  
      (EMR) ,     
 EMR      EMR .

TEXT
I. D, R,  R P  D

A. R /: D      
    , , , 
,    ,     .

1. M          
         
   MHSC P & G D A

Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862888/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 6

102/244



DRAFT

M.

2. T   C A§485.635()(2) & (4),   
 (APC)    M S  
,           
 .

3. T M S C        
  ;  C N O;  C C
O;         ,
,  .

II. P       .

A. V           
    , .. PS, L.

B. I         ""  .

C. C         ,  
 ,   , .. OSHA, CMS, TJC.

D. C      /   ,
 ,    E    
,  ,  - .

E. M         .

III. C     . T    . O   
 WORD    .

A. T

B. S  P

C. D ( )

D. T –   

E. R ( )  APA 

F. R S ( )

G. A ( )

H. A    (PS) .

I. D       .

IV. C         PS

A. A      “P”

1. F     ,  
    “P A.”

2. P          ,
 “Draft Policy  “P A.”

B. A W F”  “P”

Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862888/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 6

103/244



DRAFT

1. F      
   "A W F"

2. F         ,
Draft Policy  "A W F"

V. P      

A. N   P, P, P, P,  O, O S,
G, S  F    /   
  ,       .

1. D         
  "D P"      

2. D-      
  .

B. M           
 ,   ,  C N O,  C
C O,           
  B     .

VI. A       , , , ,
,       MHSC P & G D A
M. A           M 
         
. P         

A. T /         
       .

1. M         
.

B. T /         
        .

C. T        ’   
     .

D. A  , ,      
  H’    (PS,  ).
D      :

1. P        .

2. O          .

3. E        
  .

VII. S  L R:

A. T          
        P 
D, A,  O  P  G D 

Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862888/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 6

104/244



DRAFT
A

 F C .

 S P.

A S

Step Description Approver Date

M H  S C   MHSC P & G
D A M.

B. R,          MHSC
I     . I   ,  
    D  L      
 .

C. K         
     , .. PS, L.

REFERENCES
D  H  H S. (2016). V  . R 
://..///--/----
-/.

I, A. V. (2014, O 13). P     : A 
 . P S & Q H . R  J 6, 2020 
://..//---- ----
-.

M, B. M., G-F, L., T, B. K., T, M., W, K., & S, L. (2016). A
         -  
       U S. W E B
N, 13(1): 6-14. :10.1111/.12133

O, K., B, C., F, M., S, K. M., & M-H, S. R. (2020, J). A O
C  I  S E-B P. C C N, 40(3), 59-63. ./
10.4037/20209630963. R  ://./

T J C (TJC). H A S, 2020. MHSC I

D - S O, P  O S

Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862888/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 6

105/244



DRAFT

R. S

CAH C-0991 §485.631()(1), CAH C-1006 §485.635(), CAH C-1008 §485.635()(2), TJC LD.04.01.07, EP
1, 2, TJC NR.02.01.01, EP 2, TJC NR.02.02.01, EP 1-5, TJC NR.02.03.01, EP 1-3

Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms. Retrieved 04/2025. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/17862888/. Copyright © 2025 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 6

106/244



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:5/7/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 

 CAH – Plan of Care and Scope of Services 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approved by the Governance Committee at their April 21 meeting. Presented at 
the May Board of Trustees meeting for first review. 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☒ For Review Only 

 ☐ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments:. 

 ☒ Board  Comments:. Geoff Phillips reviewed/developed 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

107/244



I. GOVERNANCEBOARD OF TRUSTEES 

• The Hospital Board of Trustees’ role is to serve as the governing body of the Hospital. In 

matters of policy development, approval, and governance oversight, the BOT shall act in 

accordance with the Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and 

Governance Documents and the MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval 

Matrix. These documents establish the framework and delegation of authority for policy 

approval and governance. In the event of any conflict between this section and either the 

overarching policy or the Matrix, the terms of the Policy for Development, Approval, and 

Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents and the Approval Matrix shall govern. 

• Board of Trustee (BOT) meetings are open to the public and take place the first 

Wednesday of every month beginning at 2:00 PM. Hospital Board members also serve on 

standing board committees that meet at various times, dates and hours of the day. 

• Board members are assigned to standing committees by the Board President. 

• The BOT is responsible for oversight of the Hospital. 

• The BOT responsibilities include making strategic decisions for the organization, hiring 

and monitoring an effective CEO, ensuring the organization is providing safe, quality 

care, overseeing the organization's financial well-being, staying educated in health care 

industry news and best practices, and being a representative of the organization in the 

community. 

• The BOT is not involved in the day-to-day operations of the Hospital. The daily operation 

of the Hospital is Senior Leaderships' responsibility. 

• The Board of Trustees consists of five (5) members who are citizens of Sweetwater 

County and appointed by the Sweetwater County Commissioners. 

• A County Commission liaison attends monthly Board of Trustee meetings and other 

meetings attended by Board of Trustee members whenever possible. 

• BOT'S CONTRACTED SERVICES 

o Legal services 

• AFFILIATIONS OR SOURCES OF REFERENCE 

o American Hospital Association (AHA) 

o Wyoming Hospital Association (WHA) 

o Veralon/Iprotean-educational resource for healthcare boards 

II. SENIOR LEADERSHIP 

• The role of Senior Leadership is to provide overall leadership and management of the 

Hospital, including the development of strategies related to the delivery of patient 

care. The plan for the provision of patient care is enacted through the planning, 

evaluating, directing, coordinating and implementing the services of the organization to 

meet or exceed the needs of the patient. 

108/244



• Senior Leadership consists of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 

Clinical Officer, Chief Nursing Officer, and Chief Experience Officer. 

• One (1) Executive Administrative Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer and one 

(1) Administrative Assistant for the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Clinical Officer and 

Chief Nursing Officer work to ensure that functions within the executive offices are 

carried out and flow smoothly. 

• Administration office hours are from 8:00 AM - 5:00 PM Monday - Friday, with the 

exception of holidays. However, a member of Senior Leadership serves as Administrator 

On-Call on a rotating basis to ensure at least one senior leader is available by telephone, 

in person or email 24 hours a day, 7 days per week, 365 days per year. 

• Senior Leadership is accountable for the quality of care, safety and satisfaction of all 

patients and staff served at the MHSC. Members of Senior Leadership interact with 

patients and citizens of Sweetwater Country through direct and indirect communication.  

• The MHSC contracts with numerous services in order to provide health care services to 

all persons needing care at the MHSC. The Board of Trustees, Chief Executive Officer 

and General Legal Counsel are responsible for reviewing, updating and maintaining all 

contracts, memorandum of understanding and other agreements with contracted services. 

• AFFILIATIONS OR SOURCES OF REFERENCE 

o American Hospital Association (AHA) 

o Wyoming Hospital Association (WHA) 

o American Nurses Association (ANA) 

o American Organization of Nurse Leaders (AONL) 

III. LEADERSHIP TEAM 

• Each clinical and non-clinical area has a director or manager who is responsible for 

departmental functional activities, operations, quality and patient experience and patient 

safety initiatives, and for managing the resources of the department to meet the needs of 

the patient. 

 

109/244



I. GOVERNANCEBOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 The Hospital Board of Trustees’ role is to serve as the governing body of the Hospital. In 

matters of policy development, approval, and governance oversight, the BOT shall act in 

accordance with the Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and 

Governance Documents and the MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval 

Matrix. These documents establish the framework and delegation of authority for policy 

approval and governance. In the event of any conflict between this section and either the 

overarching policy or the Matrix, the terms of the Policy for Development, Approval, and 

Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents and the Approval Matrix shall govern. 

 Board of Trustee (BOT) meetings are open to the public and take place the first 

Wednesday of every month beginning at 2:00 PM. Hospital Board members also serve on 

standing board committees that meet at various times, dates and hours of the day. 

 Board members are assigned to standing committees by the Board President. 

 The BOT is responsible for oversight of the Hospital. 

 The BOT responsibilities include making strategic decisions for the organization, hiring 

and monitoring an effective CEO, ensuring the organization is providing safe, quality 

care, overseeing the organization's financial well-being, staying educated in health care 

industry news and best practices, and being a representative of the organization in the 

community. 

 The BOT is not involved in the day-to-day operations of the Hospital. The daily operation 

of the Hospital is Senior Leaderships' responsibility. 

 The Board of Trustees consists of five (5) members who are citizens of Sweetwater 

County and appointed by the Sweetwater County Commissioners. 

 A County Commission liaison attends monthly Board of Trustee meetings and other 

meetings attended by Board of Trustee members whenever possible. 

 BOT'S CONTRACTED SERVICES 

o Legal services 

 AFFILIATIONS OR SOURCES OF REFERENCE 

o American Hospital Association (AHA) 

o Wyoming Hospital Association (WHA) 

o Veralon/Iprotean-educational resource for healthcare boards 

II. SENIOR LEADERSHIP 

 The role of Senior Leadership is to provide overall leadership and management of the 

Hospital, including the development of strategies related to the delivery of patient 

care. The plan for the provision of patient care is enacted through the planning, 

evaluating, directing, coordinating and implementing the services of the organization to 

meet or exceed the needs of the patient. 

110/244



 Senior Leadership consists of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 

Clinical Officer, Chief Nursing Officer, and Chief Experience Officer. 

 One (1) Executive Administrative Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer and one 

(1) Administrative Assistant for the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Clinical Officer and 

Chief Nursing Officer work to ensure that functions within the executive offices are 

carried out and flow smoothly. 

 Administration office hours are from 8:00 AM - 5:00 PM Monday - Friday, with the 

exception of holidays. However, a member of Senior Leadership serves as Administrator 

On-Call on a rotating basis to ensure at least one senior leader is available by telephone, 

in person or email 24 hours a day, 7 days per week, 365 days per year. 

 Senior Leadership is accountable for the quality of care, safety and satisfaction of all 

patients and staff served at the MHSC. Members of Senior Leadership interact with 

patients and citizens of Sweetwater Country through direct and indirect communication.  

 The MHSC contracts with numerous services in order to provide health care services to 

all persons needing care at the MHSC. The Board of Trustees, Chief Executive Officer 

and General Legal Counsel are responsible for reviewing, updating and maintaining all 

contracts, memorandum of understanding and other agreements with contracted services. 

 AFFILIATIONS OR SOURCES OF REFERENCE 

o American Hospital Association (AHA) 

o Wyoming Hospital Association (WHA) 

o American Nurses Association (ANA) 

o American Organization of Nurse Leaders (AONL) 

III. LEADERSHIP TEAM 

 Each clinical and non-clinical area has a director or manager who is responsible for 

departmental functional activities, operations, quality and patient experience and patient 

safety initiatives, and for managing the resources of the department to meet the needs of 

the patient. 

 

111/244



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:5/7/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 

 BOT – Memorial Hospital of Sweetawater County Meeting Guidelines 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approved by the Governance Committee at their April 21 meeting. Presented at 
the May Board of Trustees meeting for first review. 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☒ For Review Only 

 ☐ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments:. 

 ☒ Board  Comments:. Geoff Phillips reviewed/developed 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

112/244



BOT - Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting Guidelines 

 

 

       Board of Trustees 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 

These Guidelines are intended to provide a framework for the preparation, notification, and operation of 

meetings of the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (Hospital) Board of Trustees (Board) 

concerning topics not otherwise addressed in the Wyoming Statutes, the By-Laws of the Board, or in the 

Board Governance Committee Charter. These Guidelines are prepared by the Governance Committee of 

the Board and are approved by the Board. They may be amended at any time by the Board. 

TEXT: 

I. Agenda Preparation 

A. The Board President, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and the Executive Assistant to 

the CEO meet at least a week before each regular monthly meeting of the Board to 

prepare the agenda for the meeting. 

B. Typically, a less formal meeting is required for the preparation of an agenda for special 

meetings of the Board. 

II. Public Access to the Meeting Packet 

A. The meeting packet associated with regular monthly meetings of the Board should be 

published on the Hospital’s website at least two days before the date of the meeting. 

B. When possible, the meeting packet for special meetings of the Board should also be 

published on the Hospital’s website in advance of the meeting. It is noted that a meeting 

packet may not be prepared for every special meeting. 

III. Orientation Memo Associated with New and Old Business Agenda Items 

113/244



A. Prefacing each agenda item under the Old and New Business section of the meeting 

agenda, staff should prepare a brief “Orientation Memo” designed to orient Board 

members concerning the agenda item. 

B. To ensure consistency, the Executive Assistant to the CEO should develop a template that 

would be used each time so that the memo format is standardized for every meeting 

and for each agenda item. 

C. The following content for the Memo must include: 

1. Date of the Board Meeting 

2. Topic 

3. If a policy or other document … is it a revision or a new policy/document? 

4. Brief Senior Leadership comments (if any) 

5. Board Committee action (if applicable) 

6. Is the agenda item for review only or for Board action? 

7. Legal Counsel Review … In-House Counsel or Board Counsel 

8. Senior Leadership Recommendation 

IV. Review and Approval of Hospital Policies & Program Documents 

A. All review and approval of policies and governance documents by the Board shall be 

conducted in accordance with the Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of 

Policies and Governance Documents and the MHSC Policy & Governance Document 

Approval Matrix. 

V. As a general practice, new policies and program documents or substantive revisions to existing 

ones should be presented to the Board for “review only” at the first meeting, with final approval 

scheduled for a subsequent meeting. This allows Board members time for meaningful review 

and feedback. Minor or non-substantive revisions may be considered and approved at the same 

meeting where they are introduced, at the discretion of the Board President, so long as the 

changes do not alter the legal, financial, or strategic impact of the policy. Medical Staff forms, 

documents, or clinical policies that have been reviewed and approved by the Medical Executive 

Committee (MEC), and that do not require additional Board oversight under the Approval 

Matrix, may be approved by the Board at the same meeting they are first presented. Board 

Committee Reports 

A. Board Committee reports to the Board may be presented by the Committee Chair either 

in writing or verbally at the discretion of the Committee Chair. 

VI. Executive Session 

A. Invitations to attend Executive Sessions of the Board are extended by the Board 

President. 

114/244



B. The CEO should always be in attendance unless excused for a period of time by the 

Board President when his/her regular performance evaluation is being conducted or for 

other reasons associated with his/her performance or compensation. 

C. The Executive Assistant to the CEO is typically in attendance to document the discussion. 

If absent, an Acting Executive Assistant may be present to document the discussion or, 

alternatively, a taped recording may be substituted. 

 

115/244



BOT - Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting Guidelines 

 

 

       Board of Trustees 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 

These Guidelines are intended to provide a framework for the preparation, notification, and operation of 

meetings of the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (Hospital) Board of Trustees (Board) 

concerning topics not otherwise addressed in the Wyoming Statutes, the By-Laws of the Board, or in the 

Board Governance Committee Charter. These Guidelines are prepared by the Governance Committee of 

the Board and are approved by the Board. They may be amended at any time by the Board. 

TEXT: 

I. Agenda Preparation 

A. The Board President, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and the Executive Assistant to 

the CEO meet at least a week before each regular monthly meeting of the Board to 

prepare the agenda for the meeting. 

B. Typically, a less formal meeting is required for the preparation of an agenda for special 

meetings of the Board. 

II. Public Access to the Meeting Packet 

A. The meeting packet associated with regular monthly meetings of the Board should be 

published on the Hospital’s website at least two days before the date of the meeting. 

B. When possible, the meeting packet for special meetings of the Board should also be 

published on the Hospital’s website in advance of the meeting. It is noted that a meeting 

packet may not be prepared for every special meeting. 

III. Orientation Memo Associated with New and Old Business Agenda Items 

116/244



A. Prefacing each agenda item under the Old and New Business section of the meeting 

agenda, staff should prepare a brief “Orientation Memo” designed to orient Board 

members concerning the agenda item. 

B. To ensure consistency, the Executive Assistant to the CEO should develop a template that 

would be used each time so that the memo format is standardized for every meeting 

and for each agenda item. 

C. The following content for the Memo must include: 

1. Date of the Board Meeting 

2. Topic 

3. If a policy or other document … is it a revision or a new policy/document? 

4. Brief Senior Leadership comments (if any) 

5. Board Committee action (if applicable) 

6. Is the agenda item for review only or for Board action? 

7. Legal Counsel Review … In-House Counsel or Board Counsel 

8. Senior Leadership Recommendation 

IV. Review and Approval of Hospital Policies & Program Documents 

A. All review and approval of policies and governance documents by the Board shall be 

conducted in accordance with the Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of 

Policies and Governance Documents and the MHSC Policy & Governance Document 

Approval Matrix. 

V. As a general practice, new policies and program documents or substantive revisions to existing 

ones should be presented to the Board for “review only” at the first meeting, with final approval 

scheduled for a subsequent meeting. This allows Board members time for meaningful review 

and feedback. Minor or non-substantive revisions may be considered and approved at the same 

meeting where they are introduced, at the discretion of the Board President, so long as the 

changes do not alter the legal, financial, or strategic impact of the policy. Medical Staff forms, 

documents, or clinical policies that have been reviewed and approved by the Medical Executive 

Committee (MEC), and that do not require additional Board oversight under the Approval 

Matrix, may be approved by the Board at the same meeting they are first presented. Board 

Committee Reports 

A. Board Committee reports to the Board may be presented by the Committee Chair either 

in writing or verbally at the discretion of the Committee Chair. 

VI. Executive Session 

A. Invitations to attend Executive Sessions of the Board are extended by the Board 

President. 

117/244



B. The CEO should always be in attendance unless excused for a period of time by the 

Board President when his/her regular performance evaluation is being conducted or for 

other reasons associated with his/her performance or compensation. 

C. The Executive Assistant to the CEO is typically in attendance to document the discussion. 

If absent, an Acting Executive Assistant may be present to document the discussion or, 

alternatively, a taped recording may be substituted. 

 

118/244



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:5/7/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 

 BOT – Senior Leadership Plan: Filling CEO Absences & Vacancies; Filling 
Senior Leader Absences & Vacancies; Identifying & Developing Internal 
Senior Leaders 

 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approved by the Governance Committee at their April 21 meeting. Presented at 
the May Board of Trustees meeting for first review. 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☒ For Review Only 

 ☐ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments:. 

 ☒ Board  Comments:. Geoff Phillips reviewed/developed 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
The CEO participates in the Governance Committee and recommends approval. 

119/244



BOT - Senior Leadership Plan: Filling CEO Absences & Vacancies; Filling Senior Leader 
Absences & Vacancies; Identifying & Developing Internal Senior Leaders 

 

 

       Board of Trustees 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 

It is important that the Hospital have in place guidelines and a process for filling a short or 
long term absence of the CEO or filling the vacancy when the CEO leaves the position 
permanently. This is also true for other senior leadership positions. This policy has two 
major purposes: 
(1) To help the Hospital prepare for CEO or other Senior Leadership absences and 
permanent departures by bringing order at a time of potential turmoil, confusion, and high 
stress; 
(2) Identifying and developing skills and talent by mentoring promising candidates 
employed by the Hospital with the potential to fill Senior Leadership positions on a 
temporary or permanent basis. 

DEFINITIONS 

Acting:            Substitutes during an absence of a Senior Leader 

Interim:           Fills the role of a Senior Leader when the Leader has departed and a 
permanent replacement has yet to be appointed 

Long Term Absence:  One that is expected to last three consecutive months or more 

Short Term Absence: One that is expected to last more than one month, but less than three 
consecutive months 

120/244



TEXT: 

I. ABSENCES OR PERMANENT DEPARTURE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER (CE0) 

A. Absences (Long or Short Term) 

1. In the event of an unplanned absence of the CEO, the Administrator on 

Call (AOC) shall immediately inform the Board President or designee of 

the absence. As soon as it is feasible, the Board President or designee shall 

convene a meeting of the Board of Trustees (Board) to affirm the 

procedures prescribed in this policy.  The Board may make modifications 

as necessary. If possible, the Board shall consult with the CEO prior to 

appointing an Acting CEO. 

2. In the event of a planned absence of the CEO, the Board shall meet to 

discuss the matter, consult with the CEO, and appoint an Acting CEO. 

3. Normally, one of the following Senior Leaders will be appointed Acting 

CEO; however, the appointment shall be made at the discretion of the 

Board. 

a. Chief Nursing Officer 

b. Chief Financial Officer 

c. Chief Clinical Officer 

d. Chief Experience Officer 

4. The decision about when the absent CEO returns to Hospital duties shall 

be determined by the Board President in conjunction with the absent CEO, 

and approved by the Board. They shall determine a mutually agreed-upon 

schedule and start date. A reduced work schedule for a short period of time 

may be allowed with the intention of returning to a full time commitment. 

B. Permanent Departure 

1. Should the CEO leave Hospital employment for any reason, the Board 

shall meet as soon as feasible after becoming aware of the departure to 

discuss the departure, determine a transition plan, and the next steps to 

take. The Board may, over time, take any one or more of the following 

actions: 

a. Appoint a permanent replacement 

b. Appoint an interim CEO 

121/244



c. Appoint a search committee 

d. Retain a consultant to assist with recruiting, interviewing, and 

selecting a replacement 

C. Authority and Compensation of the Acting or Interim CEO; Appointment and 

Compensation of a Permanent CEO 

1. The individual appointed as an Acting or Interim CEO shall have full 

authority for decision making and independent action as a permanent 

CEO. 

2. The salary of the Acting or Interim CEO shall be recommended by the 

Board Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee and approved 

by the Board. 

3. The appointment and compensation of a permanent CEO shall be made in 

accordance with prevailing Hospital policies. 

D. Board Oversight 

1. The Board member(s) responsible for monitoring the work of the Acting 

or Interim CEO shall be members of the Board Executive Oversight and 

Compensation Committee. 

2. Board members on the Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

should be sensitive to the special support needs of the Acting or Interim 

CEO in the temporary leadership role. If the Acting or Interim CEO is 

appointed internally from the ranks of the Senior Leaders, it is recognized 

that it may not be reasonable to expect the Acting or Interim CEO to 

perform the duties of both positions for longer than three (3) months. 

Consequently, in this situation, it may be necessary to fill the Senior 

Leadership position temporarily until the permanent CEO returns to work 

or until a new permanent CEO is hired. 

E. Communication Plan 

1. If prior communication has not occurred, immediately upon transferring 

the responsibilities to the Acting CEO, Interim CEO, or to the permanent 

replacement, the Board President shall notify Hospital employees, medical 

providers, Foundation Board members, key volunteers, and the CEO of 

the University of Utah Healthcare System of the delegation of authority. 

The Board President shall also work with appropriate Hospital staff to 

prepare a local press release. 

122/244



2. The Acting CEO, Interim CEO, or the permanent replacement shall 

communicate the temporary or permanent leadership change to state 

licensing agencies and other constituent groups. 

II. ABSENCES OR PERMANENT DEPARTURE OF OTHER SENIOR LEADERS 

A. Absences (Long or Short Term) 

1. In the event of an absence of a Senior Leader below the level of the CEO, 

long or short term, planned or unplanned, the CEO may, at his or her 

discretion, appoint an Acting replacement in consultation with the 

Executive Oversight & Compensation Committee. 

2. The decision about when the absent Senior Leader returns to Hospital 

duties shall be determined by the CEO in conjunction with the absent 

Senior Leader. They shall determine a mutually agreed upon schedule and 

start date. A reduced work schedule for a short period of time may be 

allowed with the intention of returning to a full time commitment. 

B. Permanent Departure 

1. If the Senior Leader’s departure is permanent, the CEO shall, upon 

consultation with the Executive Oversight & Compensation Committee, 

execute a transition plan. The transition plan could, over time, include any 

one or more of the following actions: 

a. The appointment of a permanent Senior Leader 

b. The appointment of an interim Senior Leader 

c. The appointment of a search committee 

d. The retention of a consultant to assist with recruiting, interviewing, 

and selecting a replacement 

e. At the discretion of the CEO, that may eliminate the need for 

reappointment, by consolidating Senior Leader positions or 

assigning duties and responsibilities to other Senior Leaders. 

C. Authority and Compensation of the Acting or Interim Senior Leader; Appointment 

and Compensation of a Permanent Senior Leader 

1. The individual appointed as the Acting or Interim Senior Leader shall have 

full authority for decision making and independent action as the 

permanent Senior Leader. 

123/244



2. The salary of the Acting or Interim Senior Leader shall be determined by 

the CEO in consultation with the Executive Oversight & Compensation 

Committee and approved by the Board. 

3. The appointment and compensation of a permanent Senior Leader shall be 

made in accordance with prevailing Hospital policies. 

D. Communications Plan 

1. The CEO shall communicate the leadership change with all necessary 

constituents. 

III. IDENTIFYING AND DEVELOPING INTERNAL SKILLS & TALENT 

A. Leadership plays an essential role in the success of the Hospital. Change in Senior 

Leadership positions is inevitable requiring advanced preparation and planning. 

One of the purposes of this policy is to help the Hospital prepare for Senior 

Leadership position absences and departures. 

B. To implement this objective, members of the Senior Leadership team should 

actively identify and mentor potential candidates through a deliberative 

interactive process to foster and develop the traits needed in a Senior Leader. 

Some of the key traits important in a great leader include: 

1. Vision…being a strategic thinker 

2. Courage…the ability to take reasonable risks to achieve worthwhile goals 

3. Integrity…the desire to be honest and to value ethical & moral principles 

4. Humility…the ability to contain one’s ego and to acknowledge mistakes 

5. Focus…the ability to maintain a positive focus at work and in life 

6. The desire to continually improve 

7. The ability to understand that leaders are only as strong as their team and 

team members 

8. Interest in leading by example 

9. The ability to effectively motivate others 

10. Capacity to work at a high energy level 

11. Ability to endure challenging times without undue discouragement 

12. Ability to embrace change 

124/244



13. Ability to remain calm, cool and resilient in the face of conflict and 

criticism 

C. Senior Leadership should work together, in a coordinated way, to proactively seek 

out individuals employed by the Hospital with great leadership potential and 

provide appropriate and meaningful leadership training opportunities for them 

throughout the year. 

 

125/244



BOT - Senior Leadership Plan: Filling CEO Absences & Vacancies; Filling Senior Leader 
Absences & Vacancies; Identifying & Developing Internal Senior Leaders 

 

 

       Board of Trustees 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 

It is important that the Hospital have in place guidelines and a process for filling a short or 
long term absence of the CEO or filling the vacancy when the CEO leaves the position 
permanently. This is also true for other senior leadership positions. This policy has two 
major purposes: 
(1) To help the Hospital prepare for CEO or other Senior Leadership absences and 
permanent departures by bringing order at a time of potential turmoil, confusion, and high 
stress; 
(2) Identifying and developing skills and talent by mentoring promising candidates 
employed by the Hospital with the potential to fill Senior Leadership positions on a 
temporary or permanent basis. 

DEFINITIONS 

Acting:            Substitutes during an absence of a Senior Leader 

Interim:           Fills the role of a Senior Leader when the Leader has departed and a 
permanent replacement has yet to be appointed 

Long Term Absence:  One that is expected to last three consecutive months or more 

Short Term Absence: One that is expected to last more than one month, but less than three 
consecutive months 

126/244



TEXT: 

I. ABSENCES OR PERMANENT DEPARTURE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER (CE0) 

A. Absences (Long or Short Term) 

1. In the event of an unplanned absence of the CEO, the Administrator on 

Call (AOC) shall immediately inform the Board President or designee of 

the absence. As soon as it is feasible, the Board President or designee shall 

convene a meeting of the Board of Trustees (Board) to affirm the 

procedures prescribed in this policy.  The Board may make modifications 

as necessary. If possible, the Board shall consult with the CEO prior to 

appointing an Acting CEO. 

2. In the event of a planned absence of the CEO, the Board shall meet to 

discuss the matter, consult with the CEO, and appoint an Acting CEO. 

3. Normally, one of the following Senior Leaders will be appointed Acting 

CEO; however, the appointment shall be made at the discretion of the 

Board. 

a. Chief Nursing Officer 

b. Chief Financial Officer 

c. Chief Clinical Officer 

d. Chief Experience Officer 

4. The decision about when the absent CEO returns to Hospital duties shall 

be determined by the Board President in conjunction with the absent CEO, 

and approved by the Board. They shall determine a mutually agreed-upon 

schedule and start date. A reduced work schedule for a short period of time 

may be allowed with the intention of returning to a full time commitment. 

B. Permanent Departure 

1. Should the CEO leave Hospital employment for any reason, the Board 

shall meet as soon as feasible after becoming aware of the departure to 

discuss the departure, determine a transition plan, and the next steps to 

take. The Board may, over time, take any one or more of the following 

actions: 

a. Appoint a permanent replacement 

b. Appoint an interim CEO 

127/244



c. Appoint a search committee 

d. Retain a consultant to assist with recruiting, interviewing, and 

selecting a replacement 

C. Authority and Compensation of the Acting or Interim CEO; Appointment and 

Compensation of a Permanent CEO 

1. The individual appointed as an Acting or Interim CEO shall have full 

authority for decision making and independent action as a permanent 

CEO. 

2. The salary of the Acting or Interim CEO shall be recommended by the 

Board Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee and approved 

by the Board. 

3. The appointment and compensation of a permanent CEO shall be made in 

accordance with prevailing Hospital policies. 

D. Board Oversight 

1. The Board member(s) responsible for monitoring the work of the Acting 

or Interim CEO shall be members of the Board Executive Oversight and 

Compensation Committee. 

2. Board members on the Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

should be sensitive to the special support needs of the Acting or Interim 

CEO in the temporary leadership role. If the Acting or Interim CEO is 

appointed internally from the ranks of the Senior Leaders, it is recognized 

that it may not be reasonable to expect the Acting or Interim CEO to 

perform the duties of both positions for longer than three (3) months. 

Consequently, in this situation, it may be necessary to fill the Senior 

Leadership position temporarily until the permanent CEO returns to work 

or until a new permanent CEO is hired. 

E. Communication Plan 

1. If prior communication has not occurred, immediately upon transferring 

the responsibilities to the Acting CEO, Interim CEO, or to the permanent 

replacement, the Board President shall notify Hospital employees, medical 

providers, Foundation Board members, key volunteers, and the CEO of 

the University of Utah Healthcare System of the delegation of authority. 

The Board President shall also work with appropriate Hospital staff to 

prepare a local press release. 

128/244



2. The Acting CEO, Interim CEO, or the permanent replacement shall 

communicate the temporary or permanent leadership change to state 

licensing agencies and other constituent groups. 

II. ABSENCES OR PERMANENT DEPARTURE OF OTHER SENIOR LEADERS 

A. Absences (Long or Short Term) 

1. In the event of an absence of a Senior Leader below the level of the CEO, 

long or short term, planned or unplanned, the CEO may, at his or her 

discretion, appoint an Acting replacement in consultation with the 

Executive Oversight & Compensation Committee. 

2. The decision about when the absent Senior Leader returns to Hospital 

duties shall be determined by the CEO in conjunction with the absent 

Senior Leader. They shall determine a mutually agreed upon schedule and 

start date. A reduced work schedule for a short period of time may be 

allowed with the intention of returning to a full time commitment. 

B. Permanent Departure 

1. If the Senior Leader’s departure is permanent, the CEO shall, upon 

consultation with the Executive Oversight & Compensation Committee, 

execute a transition plan. The transition plan could, over time, include any 

one or more of the following actions: 

a. The appointment of a permanent Senior Leader 

b. The appointment of an interim Senior Leader 

c. The appointment of a search committee 

d. The retention of a consultant to assist with recruiting, interviewing, 

and selecting a replacement 

e. At the discretion of the CEO, that may eliminate the need for 

reappointment, by consolidating Senior Leader positions or 

assigning duties and responsibilities to other Senior Leaders. 

C. Authority and Compensation of the Acting or Interim Senior Leader; Appointment 

and Compensation of a Permanent Senior Leader 

1. The individual appointed as the Acting or Interim Senior Leader shall have 

full authority for decision making and independent action as the 

permanent Senior Leader. 

129/244



2. The salary of the Acting or Interim Senior Leader shall be determined by 

the CEO in consultation with the Executive Oversight & Compensation 

Committee and approved by the Board. 

3. The appointment and compensation of a permanent Senior Leader shall be 

made in accordance with prevailing Hospital policies. 

D. Communications Plan 

1. The CEO shall communicate the leadership change with all necessary 

constituents. 

III. IDENTIFYING AND DEVELOPING INTERNAL SKILLS & TALENT 

A. Leadership plays an essential role in the success of the Hospital. Change in Senior 

Leadership positions is inevitable requiring advanced preparation and planning. 

One of the purposes of this policy is to help the Hospital prepare for Senior 

Leadership position absences and departures. 

B. To implement this objective, members of the Senior Leadership team should 

actively identify and mentor potential candidates through a deliberative 

interactive process to foster and develop the traits needed in a Senior Leader. 

Some of the key traits important in a great leader include: 

1. Vision…being a strategic thinker 

2. Courage…the ability to take reasonable risks to achieve worthwhile goals 

3. Integrity…the desire to be honest and to value ethical & moral principles 

4. Humility…the ability to contain one’s ego and to acknowledge mistakes 

5. Focus…the ability to maintain a positive focus at work and in life 

6. The desire to continually improve 

7. The ability to understand that leaders are only as strong as their team and 

team members 

8. Interest in leading by example 

9. The ability to effectively motivate others 

10. Capacity to work at a high energy level 

11. Ability to endure challenging times without undue discouragement 

12. Ability to embrace change 

130/244



13. Ability to remain calm, cool and resilient in the face of conflict and 

criticism 

C. Senior Leadership should work together, in a coordinated way, to proactively seek 

out individuals employed by the Hospital with great leadership potential and 

provide appropriate and meaningful leadership training opportunities for them 

throughout the year. 

 

131/244



 

MHSC Board of Trustees: May 2025 

Chief Clinical Officer (CCO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by: Kari Quickenden, Pharm.D., MHSA 

 

1. The Medical Imaging Department of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) continues to progress on 

a project with Huntsman Cancer Institute (HCI) for breast MRI services.  The collaboration will enable patients to 

have their breast MRI exams performed at MHSC and interpreted by a fellowship-trained breast MRI radiologist 

at HCI.  At this point, we have an executed agreement and have successfully pushed images to HCI.  The next 

steps include the MHSC team working with the HCI team to finalize the breast MRI protocols and 

credentialing/privileging of HCI physicians.  A select number of fellowship-trained breast MRI radiologists are 

working on obtaining their Wyoming licenses.  We expect we will be able to begin the service in mid-late 

summer 2025.  

2. The Medical Imaging Department is in the initial stages of the replacement project for the Picture Archiving and 

Communication System (PACS).  The team has started the build process and is on schedule to convert to the new 

system in the fall of 2025.  

3. Quality-Patient Safety: Tracie Soller, Director of Medical Imaging, in collaboration with the Medical Imaging 

Technologists and Dr. Matti, has developed the 2025 Medical Imaging Order Guidelines.  The goal of the 

resource document is to provide ordering guidance and streamline the ordering process for providers.  The 

document is available via a link on the hospital intranet as well as the main hospital website page.  The 

development of this document came out of the Central Scheduling work group, which continues to work on 

central scheduling-related process improvements.  The document is currently available to internal providers, and 

we are also distributing it to community providers.  

4. A team has been working with Cerner on the Unified Consumer Communications (UCC) project.  Amy Magana, 

a Nurse Informaticist, is leading the project.  The UCC project will improve patient appointment reminders for 

hospitals and clinics.  The team is currently in the testing phase of the project, with a tentative go-live in early 

June 2025.  

5. Quality-Patient Safety: We are excited to welcome Starlyn Kunz to the Quality Department.  Starlyn joins the 

team with six years of experience in employee health and safety.  She is already rounding with the team and 

asking great questions regarding standards and process improvements.  Please join us in welcoming Starlyn to 

MHSC.  

6. Quality-Patient Safety: The acute care quality reporting programs are officially closed.  There will not be 

complete data submission for Q4 of 2024 due to our transition to Critical Access Hospital (CAH) designation.  

The Quality Department has notified the quality reporting agencies that we will begin submitting data for January 

2025.  Press Ganey and Cerne have been updated with this information and are active in the quality system with 

our new CAH CCN (CMS Certification Number).   

7. Quality-Patient Safety: Our Patient Safety Committee recently met and restructured its reporting calendar.  

Beginning in July 2025, Directors will report to the Patient Safety Committee twice per year on their action 

plans/progress related to their culture of safety survey results.  Press Ganey administered the survey in the fall of 

2024.  We administer the culture of safety survey every two years.  As part of our efforts to meet the CMS patient 

safety structural measures, we are exploring options for a culture of safety pulse survey for the calendar year 

2025.  

8. Quality-Patient Safety: The clinical laboratory is actively performing its interim College of American 

Pathologists (CAP) self-inspection.  CAP is our accrediting organization for the clinical laboratory.  The clinical 

laboratory team has identified a few minor items to correct in the next 30 days as a result of the interim self-

inspection.  

9. The Sweetwater Regional Cancer Center was awarded a $10,000 grant through the Wyoming Breast Cancer 

Initiative (WCBI) for a breast boutique.  The breast boutique will offer the following complimentary 

items/services: breast forms and prosthetics, post-surgery bras, recovery garments, compression sleeves and 

132/244



gloves, wigs, head covers, brushes, shampoo/conditions, scalp care products, cream for radiation burns, 

educational materials and bra fitting consultations.  A few staff members will become certified to perform the bra 

fitting consultations.  The breast boutique will be a valuable service to our oncology patients.  

10. I had the opportunity to attend a Survivor Family Night event at the Broadway Theater on 04/24/2025 hosted by 

the Sweetwater Regional Cancer Center.  Approximately 70 community members attended the event.  The team 

provided education and resources.  Additionally, community members were able to view a movie to encourage 

social time with family.  The event was possible via grant funding received from WCBI.  After the movie, several 

people took the time to tell the team what a wonderful time they had.  Some expressed they rarely get to go to 

social outings like this with their families, and thus, it meant a lot to them.  Several also expressed they attended 

because they wanted to see the team that had taken care of them.  I want to extend a big thank you to the 

following team members who planned and participated in the event: Tasha Harris, Rita Calzada, Lacey Reddick, 

Eva Wasseen, Ramona Allen, Bri Schafer, Danielle Hale, Josie Ibarra, Megan Benedict, Stephanie Dupape, Dr. 

Josh Binks, Dawn Piaia, Kerry Dixon, Heather Sell, and Deborah Defauw.   

11. As of 05/01/2025, Deborah Defauw, Director of Rehabilitation Services and Physical Therapist, will have 

completed half of the required coursework needed to obtain her Certificate of Achievement in Pelvic Health 

(CAPP) from the American Physical Therapy Association.  Pelvic health cards have been given to the SANE 

team to inform victims of available services if needed.  Additionally, Deborah is working with our OB department 

to provide information for new mothers.  

12. The Diabetes Self Management is experiencing significant growth.  The team has received 37 referrals since 

January 2025 vs nine total patients seen in calendary year 2024.  I would like to thank the Education Department 

and the Clinical Dietietians for their work on program.   

13. A small group attended the University of Utah Affiliate Symposium 04/17/2025-04/18/2025.  The symposium 

was an excellent opportunity to network with other affiliate hospitals as well as connect with our affiliate 

colleagues at the University of Utah.   

Respectfully submitted, 

Kari Quickenden  

 

 

 

 

 

133/244



MHSC Board of Trustees: May 2025 

Chief Experience Officer (CXO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by Cindy Nelson, SHRM-SCP, FPCC 

 

Patient Experience Pillar 

We continue to utilize our person-centered care culture to improve the patient experience and 

improve the satisfaction for our patients to provide compassionate care to every life we touch for 

every patient, every time.  

"One of the most sincere forms of respect is actually listening to what another has to say." 

(Bryant H. McGill) 

We continue to focus on Active Listening for our house-wide Compassion Initiative during the 

second quarter of 2025. Included is data shared with hospital staff April 17. Staff were asked to 

think about what behaviors or habits they have changed at work to help make improvements 

happen. We want to make these changes sustainable and keep them going. Karali Plonsky, 

Patient Experience Director, noted the surveys are from clinical areas so clinical staff have an 

impact, however non-clinical staff play a profoundly impactful role in each patient's experience.  

Department Baseline 
% 2024 

AIM % 
(+2%) 

Stretch % 
(+3%) 

Year to Date 
2025 % 

% Change 
from baseline 

OB 74.07 76.07 77.07 100.00 +25.93 
M/S 64.9 66.9 67.9 81.82 +16.92 
ICU  71.43 73.43 74.43 45.45 -25.98 

Inpatient 64.9 66.9 67.9 75.00 +10.10 
Surgery  90.48 92.48 93.48 96.72 +6.24 

ED 65.71 67.71 68.71 69.29 +3.58 
MOB 88.01 90.01 91.01 89.65 +1.64 
3000 87.77 89.77 90.77 89.36 +1.59 

MHSC 
Average 77.48 79.48 80.48 81.76 +4.28 

Last Updated: 4/17/25 
*MHSC’s average is not an official number from Press Ganey. Score was identified by adding up all department scores and dividing by the 

number of departments. The purpose of MHSC’s average is to show the importance of everyone working together to improve our patients’ 

experiences. 

To help staff understand the data, the following message was shared with staff: 

Did you know that the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS) only look at "top-box" 

answers?  Meaning, they only look at the number of times a patient said their bathroom was 

"always" kept clean or that our compassion was "very good."  Patients get multiple survey 

response options and only the highest one is counted or shown in the data.  

 For example, let's look at the section for the ICU (one of our most complimented departments). 

At first glance, it may appear alarming that ICU's year-to-date percentage for the survey 

question, "Degree to which all staff showed compassion" seems to be decreasing. But is it 

actually as alarming as it appears?  It's important to understand how we look at these scores to 

better understand the data.  

  

134/244



When we break down the data, we can see the "Distribution of Responses" and see how all of our 

patients scored us for each question.  Below is ICU's Distribution of Responses for this survey 

question.  

 

We can see that of the 11 patients who returned a survey so far this year, 5 gave us a top-box 

score of "very good" and 6 of them gave us a score of "good."  We had zero patients say "fair, 

poor, or very poor" . It shows us that while the data may look negative at first glance, when we 

dig into it, it does not tell the entire story. When we are presented with data like this, it gives us 

the opportunity to ask ourselves, what's that little bit of extra that I/we can do to help make our 

patient's experiences even better?  What can I do to help?  

We continue to share data with staff as well as strategies/solutions to improve to raise awareness 

and place a focus on the importance of the initiatives we are working on.  

Workgroups continue meeting to develop strategies to improve patient experience and patient 

satisfaction scores in Hospital Environment – Cleanliness & Restfulness (formerly Quietness), 

Discharge Information, and Care Coordination (formerly Care Transitions). Reports were 

presented to the Performance Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) Committee in April and 

the updates were included in the April Quality Committee meeting packet. 

The Patient & Family Advisory Council (PFAC) met April 21 and the question for discussion 

was, “How important is it to you that every person introduce themself with their name and 

department/job title when you are a patient or visiting a patient?” Our activity that night was a 

tour of the Nutrition Services Department. The presentation for the May 19 meeting is the Top 

10 Patient Safety Concerns for 2025 and the CMS Patient Safety Structural Measures, 

specifically the role of the PFAC in the attestation process for Domain 5. The question for 

discussion that night is, “What should the Hospital be aware of to improve your care 

experience?” 

Employee Experience Pillar 

We continue to work to improve employee retention and employee satisfaction for a happier, 

healthier staff by weaving our culture throughout HR and management practices to recruit, 

reward, and retain staff committed to carrying out our mission. Human Resources is coordinating 

with Nutrition Services to prepare for a delicious Hospital Week 12-16. Efforts are being made 

to ensure we celebrate all staff on all shifts at all locations.  

  

135/244



MHSC Board of Trustees: May 2025 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by:  Tami Love 

 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY - Revenue decreased in March coming in at $22,850,422, under budget by 
$1.4 million    Expenses are staying stable, slightly over budget at $11.2 million.  Our bottom line for 
March was a loss of $178,000.  Through three quarters of the fiscal year, our gross revenue is under 
budget by $2 million, net revenue is under budget by $585k and expenses are under budget by $1.3 
million.   Revenue is projected to be higher in April, at $23.5 million and with expenses staying 
stable, the estimated bottom line will be close to break even.  Collections are projecting near $17 
million as Medicare payments are catching up. We will see all of our financial ratios turn in the right 
direction in April and expect them to be close to our strategic plan goals for year end. 

CRITICAL ACCESS.  We released about $18 million in Medicare claims the week of March 6 and 
were notified on March 17 that the claims had started processing.  We started receiving payments 
the first week of March.  We have now released all of the CAH claims and have verified 
reimbursement at the cost to charge ratio as stated in our Noridian rate letter.  With payments 
starting to come in, we have started to see the positive impact to both Days in AR and Days Cash on 
Hand in April.  We are still waiting on the State for their CAH survey.  We continue to look into 
adding swing beds and have started to research the 340B drug program as we automatically qualify 
as a CAH.  The estimated timeline for 340B is January 2026 as we do need to complete our first year 
end cost report as a CAH before applying. 

CONSTRUCTION PROJECT UPDATE.  Several concurrent construction projects are happening at 
the hospital with the following updates and timelines. 

MOB Front Entrance- This is the most recent scheduled project and, the most challenging. The 
fence around the front parking area of the MOB has been erected as parking lot improvements will 
begin first.  This project will be expanding out the front vestibule roughly 4 feet, moving the double 
exit/entrance egress doors down, taking out the fireplace and replacing carpet. This project will take 
roughly 3-4 months to complete and will be in full swing in a couple of weeks. 

Medical Imaging Phase II – There have been a few hold-ups with this project. It has been moving 
forward at a steady pace with all walls completely framed. Electrical is being ran and we are 
currently waiting for the back ordered VAV boxes that provide heat/cooling for spaces. This project 
is slated to be complete sometime towards the end of May but could move up depending on how 
fast the equipment can be installed and implemented.  

Laboratory Expansion- This project has the most active and noticeable changes but is still a little 
behind. The expansion section is slated to be completed mid-September or early October. Once 
complete, work will move to the second phase of this project, which includes renovation of the 
existing Laboratory. 

136/244



 

MHSC Board of Trustees: 5/2025 

Chief Nursing Officer (CNO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by: Ann Marie Clevenger DNP, RN, NEA-BC 

1. College Drive: Clinics and Occupational Medicine 

a. The Family Medicine group assists with scheduled days at Wamsutter Clinic twice 

weekly, caring for patients at Sageview Care Center and Deer Trail. The Walk-In 

Clinic has regularly scheduled providers who include Family Medicine to assist with 

patient census and decrease wait times. The clinic also serves as a leader in 

occupational medicine, including eight companies on retainer and over 75 companies 

that it serves. 

2. Surgical Services and MOB Surgical Clinic 

a. New Procedure 

i. The Surgical Services Team is working with Dr. Hoffman, the Surgery 

Clinic, including Jodi Cheese, Practice Manager, and the Surgical Services 

Department to coordinate a plan for trialing a plan of care for a patient 

considering and who could potentially qualify for a sleeve gastrectomy 

procedure at MHSC. 

3. University of Utah Affiliate Conference 

a. I had the opportunity to attend the University of Utah Affiliate Conference. It 

provided a wealth of information on the University and what other hospitals in its 

network of affiliates are working on. They also included their short—and long-range 

plans for their facilities and growth projections, considering and collaborating on 

how we, as affiliate organizations, and the University could work together fluidly to 

keep patients at home for care when possible or expedite transfers when a higher 

level of care was required. 

4. Strategic Initiative:  

a. Quality and Safety 

i. We are meeting to discuss and propose a Nurse Professional Peer Review 

(NPPR) Committee. It is best practice to have NPPR, which aligns Nursing 

Excellence and Magnet requirements to improve quality and safety and 

enhance the nursing profession. We have spoken to the Magnet Director at 

Cheyenne Regional, who leads this program. We are meeting to further 

develop. When it starts, we will update you. 

b. Reducing Turnover and Travel Staff Update 

i. I provide leadership education to nursing services leaders monthly. In 

addition, each month, one leader shares something to enhance leadership 

skills or lessons learned. 

ii. Nursing Services, with the help of Human Resources, held a Recruitment 

Brunch on April 28th, 9-11 am, CR 1-3, with 13 graduate nursing students in 

attendance who were interested in MHSC. 

1. New Grad Application Period May 6- May 16th   

2. Group Leader Interview Panel 

3. The successful applicant's start date is June 30th 

137/244



4. Nemo (Nursing Education Mini Orientation Residency Program) 

every Thursday for six weeks to fit into their existing schedules 

c. Mental Health Services: The Sweetwater Behavioral Health Clinic (SBHC) Business 

Proposal was brought to the April Board of Trustees Meeting, where I presented. A 

Board of Trustees workshop was held on April 22, 2025, with a PPT presentation and 

coordination of answers to questions posed by Board Members.  

Please let me know if you have any additional insight that may be helpful in this report. Thank you for 

being so supportive of the MHSC teams. Ann 

138/244



 

 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

April 15, 2025 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on April 15, 2025, 

at 2:30 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Craig Rood, Chairman  

Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee 

   Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Director of Facilities 

Mr. Steven Skorcz, Facilities Supervisor 

Mr. Will Wheatley, PlanOne Architects 

   

 

Mr. Rood called the meeting to order. 

 

Mr. Rood said we did a great job at the Commissioner meeting earlier that day.  Ms. Richardson 

and Mr. Rood both shared a mission moment. 

 

Mr. Rood asked for a motion to approve the agenda. Mr. Kelsey made a motion to approve the 

agenda. Ms. Richardson seconded; the motion passed.  

 

Mr. Rood called for a motion to approve the minutes for the March 18, 2025, meeting.  

Ms. Love moved to approve the minutes. Mr. Johnston seconded; the motion passed.   

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Johnston reported on the March metrics report.  He said the average days open are creeping up.  

We have several flooring repair projects in the queue that we are currently waiting on pricing. 

 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Medical Imaging Core and X-ray 

 

Mr. Johnston said they are waiting on VAV’s for needed valve repairs.  The project is moving 

along nicely and is right on schedule.  Siemens was onsite last week for the electrical walk through 

and review for equipment placement.   

 

Laboratory Expansion project - SLIB 

 

Mr. Johnston reported that internal walls were being framed.  They are still a little behind schedule 

but making way on the total timeline.  He has reviewed and signed a few contingency allocations.  

They did have to make some corrections on the canopy.  Mr. Rood asked what type of items are 

being put through the contingency balance.  Mr. Johnston some minor items like door lettering, 

med gas, ceiling outlets, lighting changes and some corner guard changes.  Mr. Rood asked for a 

list of all contingency change orders be reported at these meetings.  Mr. Johnston said they are 

tracked on the pay applications and the balance is currently at $78,000. 

 

139/244



 

 

Minutes of the April 15, 2025, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

MOB Entrance – SLIB 

 

Mr. Johnston said they will start barricading the parking lot on April 21.  He worked with the State 

for a plan for an emergency exit and path of egress.  This will require the front elevator to be taken 

out of service.  They will start by removing the double doors and then demolishing the fireplace. 

 

Master Plan 

 

Ms. Richardson said we are working on the capital budget and discussing what we will be 

submitting to the County for maintenance next year. There was discussion on being conservative 

next year on any master plan projects.  There are several maintenance projects that should fall 

under the County maintenance funds.  The University of Utah is expected to move out of the Clinic 

space in October.  Mr. Rood commented on Commissioner Jones comment at the Commissioner 

meeting regarding the hospital being the “most transparent agency” they have.   

 

Tabled Projects 

 

Foundation Area Renovation – Ms. Love said this project is still tabled until a decision is made on 

what the space will be used for once the Foundation and Legal office move to the new building.  

There were several options for this space in the master plan recommendations. 

 

County Maintenance Fund 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for more discussion on the definition of maintenance.  Ms. Richardson 

reviewed what happened at the Commissioner meeting earlier that day.  It was decided to use the 

remaining FY25 funds for the OB project.  We have always been very transparent with the 

money received from the County but there is some disagreement on the definition of what 

maintenance means per the State statute.  The committee discussed the next steps for the County 

budget request.  Mr. Kelsey shared the definition of “major maintenance” from the State statute 

for county governments. It was decided we would send a list of the projects we plan on doing in 

the new year to the County, with the budget request. 

 

New Business 

 

The committee charter was reviewed with no need for any changes.  The committee approved to 

move the Building & Grounds Committee charter to the full Board for approval. 

 

Other 

 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, May 20, 2025; 2:30pm. 

 

Mr. Rood adjourned the meeting at 3:26 pm. 
 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

140/244



Governance Committee Minutes 
April 21, 2025 

1:30 P.M. 
 

Attendance: Marty Kelsey, Chair; Kandi Pendleton, Member; Irene Richardson, Member; Geoff 
Phillips, Board Attorney 
 
Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order at 1;35 P.M. 
 
Moved by Kandi, seconded by Irene to recommend that the Board suspend the following policy 
at the May meeting of the Board until it can be reviewed and changed so as to not conflict with 
the Operations Policy due to be approved at the May meeting of the Board. “Policies, 
Standards, Plans, Procedures/Processes, Guidelines and Forms”. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Kandi, seconded by Irene to approve the recommended changes to the following 
policy and to submit them to the Board for consideration on first reading at the May meeting of 
the Board. “CAH—Plan of Care & Scope of Services.” Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Kandi, seconded by Irene to approve the recommended changes to the following 
policy and to submit them to the Board for consideration on first reading at the May meeting of 
the Board. “ BOT—Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Meeting Guidelines.” Motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Kandi, seconded by Irene to approve the recommended changes to the following 
policy and to submit them to the Board for action at the May meeting of the Board. “ BOT—
Senior Leadership Plan: Filling CEO Absences & Vacancies; Filling Senior Leader Absences and 
Vacancies; Identifying & Developing  Internal Senior Leaders.” Motion carried unanimously. 
 
The Committee discussed education needs. It was determined to perhaps schedule a time in 
June for a departmental presentation to the Board…such as the Walk-in Clinic. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 2:00 P.M. 

141/244



To: Board of Trustees 

From: Barbara J. Sowada  

Re: Quality Committee Meeting 

Date: April 16, 2025 

The Quality Committee met April 16th from 8:15 to 9:30 am by Zoom.  

 

Major discussion items were as follows: 

1. Star Rating.  At the most recent refresh, MHSC has maintained its 4-star rating from 

CMS.  

2. Barbara McDonald provided a thorough Infection Prevention risk assessment, plan, 

summary, and YTD surveillance. Take-aways for 2025 

a. Comprehensive surveillance 

b. Surveillance limited by available tools, e.g. Cerner 

c. Reboot auditing and leadership accountability for staff 

d. Plan approved by Committee and send to Board with recommend to approve. 

3. Surgical Services First Case On Time Start 

a. National benchmark is 90% 

b. Winter average was 53%, March was 70% 

c. Not clear whether this benchmark has value for MHSC 

4. Safe use of opioids and discharged on anticoagulant therapy—hospital is doing well on 

both measures. 

5. Sepsis Bundle—fell below the goal for January and February 2025. Reasons for fall out 

have been identified and are being addressed 

6. Increase in workplace violence attributed to one behavioral health patient 

 

142/244



1 

 

Executive Update – MHSC Board Quality Committee Meeting 

PROVIDED BY  Stephanie Mlinar, Kari Quickenden, Ann Clevenger, Tami Love, Irene Richardson, Cindy Nelson 

REPORTING DATE April 2025 Board Quality Committee Monthly Meeting 

General Highlights 

• Update on the Star Rating Refresh presented.  MHSC’s star rating will refresh by the end of April.  We will maintain our 4-star rating. 

• Annual Infection prevention summary, risk assessment and plan reviewed and discussed. 

• Review of Surgical Services First Case on Time Starts 

• Review of summary for electronically captured clinical measures (eCQMs) 
 

Patient Experience Pillar: Reported to PIPS April 8, 2025 

 
Objective/Initiative 

(Increase by 3% per year) 

 
Dept. 

 
Baseline 

(CY 
2023)  

 
Target 
Goal 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Baseline 

(CY 2024)  

 
Target Goal 

(2% increase) 

 
Stretch Goal 
(3% increase) 

 

CY 2025 
YTD 

Care Transition/Care Coordination 
(HCAHPS)* 
 
--CY 2025 is only reflecting Care Coordination.   
The Care Transition domain has been 
discontinued. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Inpatient 
[MS, ICU, 

OB] 
 
 

 
 
 

54.41% 

 
 
 

57.4%  

 
 
 

58% 

 
 
 

52.96% 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Re-evaluate goals 
in Feb ’25 

MS: 50.17% 
ICU: 60.18% 
OB: 57.89% 

Overall 
52.96% 

MS: 52.17% 
ICU: 62.18% 
OB: 59.89% 

Overall 
54.96% 

MS: 53.71% 
ICU: 63.18% 
OB: 60.89% 

Overall 
55.96% 

MS: 74.29% 
ICU: 51.28% 
OB: 91.67% 

Overall 
70.38%* 

 
 
Discharge information (HCAHPS)* 

 
 
 

86.25% 

 
 
 

89.25% 

 
 
 

90% 

 
 
 

88.72% 

MS: 87.49% 
ICU: 93.59% 
OB: 88.46% 

Overall 
88.72% 

MS: 89.49% 
ICU: 95.59% 
OB: 90.46% 

Overall 
90.72% 

MS: 90.49% 
ICU: 96.59% 
OB: 91.46% 

Overall 
91.72% 

MS: 88.46% 
ICU: 91.67% 
OB: 100% 

Overall 
91.94%* 

 
Hospital Environment: 
Cleanliness sub measurement  

 
 
 

74.54% 

 
 
 

77.54% 

 
 
 

78% 

 
 
 

72.24% 

MS: 69.01% 
ICU: 80.85% 
OB: 77.78% 

Overall 
72.24% 

MS: 71.01% 
ICU: 82.85% 
OB: 79.78% 

Overall 
74.24% 

MS: 72.01% 
ICU: 83.25% 
OB: 80.78% 

Overall 
75.24% 

MS: 63.33% 
ICU: 53.85% 
OB: 75.00% 

Overall 
59.52%* 

 
Hospital Environment: 
Quietness sub measurement     

 
 

64.02% 

 
 

67.02% 

 
 

75% 

 
 

62.55% 

MS: 59.76% 
ICU: 66.67% 
OB: 73.08% 

Overall 
62.55% 

MS: 61.76% 
ICU: 68.67% 
OB: 75.08% 

Overall 
64.55% 

MS: 62.76% 
ICU: 69.67% 
OB: 76.08% 

Overall 
65.55% 

MS: 64.29% 
ICU: 38.46% 
OB: 75.00% 

Overall 
54.55%* 

143/244



2 

 

 
Objective/Initiative 

(Increase by 3% per year) 

 
Dept. 

 
Baseline 

(CY 
2023)  

 
Target 
Goal 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

 
Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Baseline 

(CY 2024)  

 
Target Goal 

(2% increase) 

 
Stretch Goal 

(3% increase) 

 

CY 2025 
YTD 

Degree to which all staff showed 
compassion (HCAHPS)* 
 
*Survey data may lag by 49 days per CMS 
reporting guidelines. 

  
 

73.31% 

 
 

76.31% 

 
 

77% 

 
 

64.90% 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Goals evaluated 
Feb 2025 

MS: 64.7% 
ICU: 71.43% 
OB: 74.07% 

Overall 
64.90% 

MS: 66.7% 
ICU: 73.43% 
OB: 76.07% 

Overall 
66.90% 

MS: 67.7% 
ICU: 74.43% 
OB: 77.07% 

Overall 
67.90% 

MS: 82.76%* 
ICU: 45.45%* 
OB: 100%* 

Overall:  
75.00% 

 
 
 
Degree to which all staff showed 
compassion (non-HCAHPS areas) *  
 
*Survey data may lag 

Surgical 
Services:  
 
Emergency 
Department:  
 
Medical 
Office 
Building: 
 
 
3000 College 
Hill Clinics 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Not evaluated at this level in 2024 

Surgical 
Services: 
90.71% 

 
Emergency 

Department: 
72% 

 
Medical Office 
Building: 88% 

 
 

3000 College 
Hill Clinics:  

87.79% 

Surgical 
Services: 
92.71% 

 
Emergency 

Department: 
74% 

 
Medical Office 
Building: 90% 

 
 

3000 College 
Hill Clinics: 

89.79% 
 

Surgical 
Services: 
93.71% 

 
Emergency 
Department 

76% 
 

Medical Office 
Building: 91% 

 
 

3000 College 
Hill Clinics 

90.79* 

Surgical 
Services: 
98.28%* 

 
Emergency 

Department: 
68.60%* 

 
Medical Office 

Building: 
89.73% 

 
3000 College 
Hill Clinics: 

89.38%* 

Sub-measure question chosen to affect 
compassion question. 

• OB/MS/ICU specific 
question “Nurses Attitude 
Towards Requests” 

• Surgical Services/ED 
specific question “Nurse’s 
Response to 
Questions/Concerns” 

• 3000/MOB specific question 
“Concern of Nurse/Asst for 
problem” 

OB 81.40% 84.4% 86.4% 81.48%  
 
 
 
 
 

These metrics will not be continued for 2025.  The focus is the degree to which all staff showed 
compassion. 

MS 
ICU 

74.42% 
69.66% 

77.42% 
72.66% 

78% 
73% 

67.88% 
76.00% 

Surgical  
Services 

 
91.03% 

 
94.03% 

 
96.03% 

 
89.02% 

ED 70.19% 73.19% 75.19% 68.20 

MOB 
 Clinics 

 
80.18% 

 
83.18% 

 
85.18% 

 
80.93 

3000 College 
Clinics 

 
82.36% 

 
85.36% 

 
85.36% 

 
80.34 

 
Formal leader training program  
4 cohorts x 8 (2hr) sessions = 32 sessions 

 
Leadership 

Team 

 
NA 

 
100% 

 
N/A 

91% 
[29/32] 
*TJC 
visit 

 

Exploring additional training opportunities 
 

Dedication of one Senior Leadership 
meeting per month for implementation and 
management of 3-year strategic plan 

 
Senior 

Leaders 

 
0 

 In 
develop-
ment 

In 
develop-
ment 

 
NA 

 
NA 

 
NA 

 

 
12 

 
NA 

 
2 

144/244



3 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

 
Care Coordination 
 

  Care transitions provides post-discharge phone calls.  Preparing to go home checklist provided to patients 
prior to discharge.   
Using active listening initiative for care coordination purposes as well. 

 
 
 
Discharge Information   
 

 
Case management post-
acute instructions did 
not auto populate into 
discharge instructions 

 
Creates a gap in 
discharge information 
that is available for 
patients 

Staff to contact case management prior to printing of discharge instructions to allow for post-acute 
instructions to print. 
OB is giving post-partum hemorrhage and preeclampsia instructions to all patients.  Increasing discharge 
phone call follow ups.   Speak up campaigns have been shared with patients. 
The Patient Educator RN targets seeing 40% of the discharges on MS and ICU set to go home.  Pre-built 
folders are ready for education with patients. 
Pharmacy provided education regarding “communicating about medication to improve patient safety and 
experience. 

Compassion:  
OB, MS, ICU (inpatient) and 
Surgical Services, ED, MOB & 
3000 clinics (outpatient) 
 
A hospital-wide compassion 
initiative rolled out.  First and 
second phase: Active 
listening.   

Occasionally patients or 
families are verbally or 
physically abusive or 
aggressive toward staff. 
 
Outpatient settings are 
more difficult to observe 
providers interacting 
with patients and 
demonstrating active 
listening. 

  
Scores reviewed with staff for inpatient units.  
Education provided to staff on what active listening looks like. 
Ongoing reinforcement of compassion driven patient care, active listening, and timely initiation of patient 
requests. 
TeamSTEPPS is used in Surgical Services with crucial conversations if necessary. 
 
The Emergency Department is seeing increases in overall top box scores compared to last year. 
 
Staff put themselves in the patient’s position and use closed-loop communication. 

 
 
Hospital Environment – 
Cleanliness:   
 

  Updating EVS cards with language of who to ask on the care team for certain cleanliness topics. 
Inpatient rooms being cleaned twice per day with few exceptions. 
Toilets will be labeled as sanitized in occupied rooms as well as after patients are discharged. 
Scheduling additional education for communication regarding cleanliness with patients and visitors. 
OB has daily C.N.A. checklists for cleanliness. 
Standing agenda items for cleanliness at staff meetings on MS and ICU. 

 
Hospital Environment – 
Quietness:  

  Maintenance repaired loud closing doors.   
Sleep masks and ear plugs were purchased for patients. 
Discussed keeping conversations outside of rooms quiet.   
Signage posted that promotes a quiet hospital environment 

Formal leader training:   
 

None identified  Exploring additional Peak Leadership Training 
Person Centered Care culture leadership training for new leaders 
Proposing Just Culture training for leaders 

Dedication of one Senior 
Leader meeting per month for 
Strategic Plan 

None identified 
 

  
This is ongoing. 
 

Translation Services PIPS:  
Evaluating and designing a plan 
to provide translated signs in 
Spanish for the hospital, MOB, 
and 3000 Clinics 

Cost prohibitive for FY 
2026. 
Life Safety Codes may 
limit what can and 
cannot be hung. 

Increase the length of 
time to project 
completion. 

Follow up with: U of U, Foundation Director, work on wayfinding maps and exploring the cost of a “you 
are here” sign like in malls or airports. 

Grievance PIPS: 
Completion of actions for 
investigations and follow up on 
complaints/grievances 
 

The timing of receipt of 
a complaint to the next 
Grievance Committee 

May not reach 100% 
based on timing. 

Continue to send information at times that directors are more readily available. 
Consider looking at metrics for a cut-off time prior to grievance committee having all actions completed. 

145/244



4 

 

Employee Experience Pillar: Reported to PIPS April 8, 2025 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Improving Phone and Email 
accuracy PIPS  
Patient Access for clinics and 
hospital settings 

Some phone numbers 
and email addresses do 
not pull to the Patient 
Experience Survey 
Vendor Press Ganey 

Should MHSC desire to 
move to an electronic 
form of surveys, not 
having phone numbers 
and emails pull correctly 
can limit who receives 
surveys. 

The group is reconvening to discuss how information is collected, where it is entered in Cerner the hospital 
and clinic’s electronic health record. 
Accurate phone numbers and emails also allow patients to access the patient portal to view their medical 
record and some testing results. 

Rehabilitation Services PIPS 
Physical therapy, Occupational 
Therapy, Speech Therapy 

  Providing tele-health services.  The Rehabilitation Services Director continues to research and implement 
access for therapy services via tele-health. 

 
Objective/Initiative 

 

 
Baseline 

 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Target 
Goal 
(10%) 

 
Stretch 
Goal 
(15%) 

 

CY 
2025 
YTD 

 
Reduce staff turnover by 10% per year, using the 
current turnover rate.   
 
 

CY 2023: 21% 
 

National Average 
2023: 22.7% 

10% 
reduction 

 
18.9% 

 
 

18% 

 
 

18% 

 
 

January 2025 

 
 

16.2% 

 
 

15.3% 

 
 

17% 
(end of 

Feb) 

 
Improve our employee engagement scores by 3% per 
year. 
 

Baseline data 
collected October 

2024 

 
NA 

 
NA 

 
3.91 

 
This is our baseline, the next survey in 2026 

 
Hire a consultant to evaluate and review salaries at a 
minimum of every three years. 
 

 
Consultant hired 

and review 
completed 

 
NA 

 
NA 

 
Completed 

 

 
Budgeting for FY 26 review 

 
 

 
Comprehensive program for directors to develop 
relationships, etc. 
 

 
NA 

 
100% 

 
NA 

91% 
[29/32] 

*TJC visit 
 
100% Jan 

2025 

 
 

Exploring additional training opportunities 
 

 
 

 
Develop plans for success sharing bonuses for 
employees if goals are reached. 
 

 
NA 

 
1 sharing 

bonus 

 
NA 

 
1 sharing 

bonus 
6/2024 

 
June 2025 

146/244



5 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Reduce Staff turnover by 10% 
per year, using the current 
turnover rate. 
 
Additional goal to remain 
under national staff turnover 
rate (YTD 22.7%) 
   

 
 
None identified 

 The plan continues to be documented in the tracking system. 
Cross-trained staff list available and being used for retention.  Over 40 nursing staff are cross-trained and 
competent to provide care in additional units. 
Recruitment and retention are complex.  Individual employees may need to change jobs because of family-
related needs.  
We will continue to do the ER nurse residency and NEMO courses.   
HR includes stay and exit interviews.  They celebrate Employee Appreciation Day, Hospital Week, Bravos, 
and host a lifestyle page for the website. 

Employee Engagement Survey  The goal lists that it will 
improve by 3% per 
year. This survey is 
conducted every 2 
years. 

A new survey vendor was 
used for the Employee 
Engagement Survey. 
Calculating a percentage 
increase may prove 
difficult because a baseline 
is different between the 
vendors.  

The Employee Engagement survey was completed in October 2024.  HR will present overall findings 
 
We will be able to look at engagement scores in 2026 if we keep the current schedule and vendor. 

Salaries were reviewed with 
adjustments made at the 
beginning of FY 2025 

  Hiring a consultant to review salaries is being budgeted for FY 2026. 

Comprehensive program for 
Directors (also listed under 
patient experience pillar) 

  As documented in the Patient Experience Pillar 

Success sharing bonus 
implemented at the end of June 
2024 

  Evaluation of the ability to offer success sharing bonuses will occur in June 2025. 

 
 
New Hire RN Retention 
PIPS:  Education Department 
Since June 2024 – 32 new 
nurses hired and only 2 have 
separated from the 
organization giving a 6.25% 
turnover rate. 

  We worked with the directors to review the orientation plans, mini residency—nemo, nursing skills day, 
preceptor training, education opportunities, and cross-training opportunities.  
Healthy workforce to reduce bullying and bad attitudes. Leadership training. 
Preceptor pay and travelers to help with staffing and safety.  
We also offer staff continuing education and other educational opportunities, including specialty classes and 
U of U training courses. 
We have also had 19 RNs transfer to other areas, which has provided these nurses with opportunities to 
learn new skills and explore options at MHSC. Some of these transfers also allow us to build our cross-
trained pool. 
The education dept and the directors have a meeting planned to review and revise any areas of the new hire 
orientation process/ nemo/ and skills day and have this ready to implement with the new Grads this spring. 

Nutrition Services PIPS: 
Unidine 
Policy changed to hire certified 
food handlers or have existing 
staff become certified 

  Changing new hire orientation for Unidine to be the same day and occur with MHSC hires. 

Person-Centered Care 
Committee PIPS 
 

  Rounding on employees with a goal of visiting with at least 80% of staff monthly. 

147/244



6 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Medical Staff Services PIPS:   The time to process applications has decreased.    We are going to partner with AMA and will utilize their 
VeriCre platform. VeriCre will interface with our Credentialing Software and will  download provider 
information from the AMA profile. So, when we send out the initial applications, a lot of the information 
will be pre-populated.  
We are now sending out on-line applications for reappointments, in addition to the initial applications. We 
have received positive feedback from the providers who have completed the on-line reappointment 
applications. 

Information Services PIPS: 
Meeting goal for monthly ticket 
completion 

  We hope to bring on a cybersecurity analyst to bring focus and reduce cybersecurity workload. Implement 
affective AI to reduce workloads while maintaining services and cybersecurity.  
As technical debt is reduced, and AI is implemented we hope to a more effective workforce, and a slight 
reduction of workloads. 

148/244



7 

 

Quality & Safety Pillar – Last Updated March 14, 2025 

 
 

Objective/Initiative 

 
 

Baseline 

 
Target Goal 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Target 
Goal 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 
CY 2025 

YTD 

 
 
C. Diff 

Baseline data: 
January 2024 – May 

2024: 
4 cases 

No more 
than 1 case 

from 4/1/24 
to 3/31/2025 

No cases 
from 

4/1/24 to 
3/31/2025 

 
0 

 
Re-evaluate goals April 2025 

 
0 

 
SEP-1 Bundle Compliance 

 
Calendar year January-

May 2024: 72.58% 

70% 
compliance 

by 6/30/2025 

75% 
compliance 

by 
6/30/2025 

 
75.31% 

 
January 

2025 

 
78% 
By 

6/30/2025 

 
83% 
By 

6/30/2025 

66.67% CY 
 

76.98% 
FY25 YTD 

 
OP23 -Stroke measure: 70% compliance by end 
of CY 2024, stretch goal 80% (re-evaluate in Jan 
’25) 

 
Per July 2024 Hospital 

Compare Report: 
67% 

70% 
compliance 

by end of CY 
2024 

80% 
compliance 
by end of 
CY 2024 

 
90.91% 

 
January 

2025 

 
95% 

By 6/2025 

 
100% 

By 
6/2025 

 
100% 

CY & FY 25 
YTD 

Create process improvement position that will 
require Lean training and be responsible for 
leading improvement efforts 

 
Position does not 

currently exist 

 
1 FTE 

 
NA 

Not 
budgeted 
for FY 
2025 

 
January 

2025 

 
Interview 
and hire 
by June 

‘25 

 
Interview 
and hire 
by May 
2025 

 
Candidate 
will start 
April 21, 

2025 

 
 
Create patient and staff education 

No nurse educator 
 
 

Using Symplr for staff 

1 RN Educator 
Reintroducing 
Brown Bags, 

Prosper 
Training 

 
 
 

NA 

Met 
 
 

Met 

 
 

NA 

 
 

Continuing with current plan and goals 

100% of clinical staff will complete TeamSTEPPS 
training by the end of three years (CY 2027) 
 

 
0% 

 
66% 

 
75% 

 
79% 

 
January 

2025 

85% of 
clinical by 

6/25 

90% 
Clinical by 

6/25 

 
83% 

 

In-house legal counsel will provide a “risk 
management minute” quarterly each year and 
provide a recording for all staff 

 
0% 

 
8 

 
10 

 
8 

 
NA 

 
12 

 
12 

 
Meeting 

goal 

Develop methods that will allow Synergi to 
categorize reports and create the ability to track 
and trend data 

HIPAA specific cases 
Using process 

improvement modules 

 
10% PIPS in 

Synergi 

 
25% 

 
82.1% 

 
February 

2025 

 
Add data stratification 

for Health equity. 
100% of PIPS in Synergi 

 
100% of 
PIPS in 
Synergi 

Utilize Health Equity Plan to promote the highest 
quality outcomes and safest care for all people 

No disparities identified 
based on stratification of 

demographics 

1 disparity NA 0 found February 
2025 

Meet attestation for 
Age-Friendly Care 

5 Domains 

 
0 

149/244



8 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

 
C. Diff: 
BioFire testing is available with 
reflex testing.   
 
Meeting goal 

 
None identified 

 
Interdisciplinary review 
resulted in improved 
process. 

 
Continued monitoring. 

 
Sep-1 Bundle Compliance: 
 
Goal met 
 

 
Continuing to work 
through identified 
process 
barriers/challenges 
 

  
Continue weekly OFIs with timely feedback to team members. 
 

 
OP 23 – Stroke Measure: 
 
Meeting goal 

 
None identified 

  
Continued monitoring 

 
Process Improvement position   

  Interviews were held and candidate to start on April 21st. 
 

 
Create Staff and Patient 
Education:  Staff education – 
Prosper training held for 
evidence-based research 
regarding suicide prevention 
offered by community agency 
 
Patient education – educator 
hired, meeting goal 

 
None identified 

 Staff: Annual education will be completed by the end of March.  Several courses offered including Trauma 
Nurse Certification Course (TNCC), Advanced Cardiac Life Support (ACLS), Advanced Pediatric Life 
Support (PALS).  Multiple other in-house education was provided. 
 
Patient: 
Reviewing health literacy tools. 
Shadowing at U of U with unit Educator. Evaluating educational tools for patients to include in FY 2026. 

Initiative regarding 
TeamSTEPPS. Attendance 
Tracking is in place and the 
activities are open to clinical and 
non-clinical staff.   Current 
clinical staff 83% completion.  
Non-clinical staff 19% 
 

 
None identified 

 
Improve inter-and 
intradepartmental 
communication 

Three sessions for each of the three levels are available for staff to sign up each month. 
Monthly report sent to leadership with updates on compliance. 
Milestone goal for June 2025 – 85% completion rate for clinical staff. 
 

Risk management minutes are 
being presented at medical staff 
meetings. 

None identified Provide education for 
staff, including employed 
medical staff 

In-house legal counsel continues to bring risk management minutes to medical staff meetings. 

Synergi report categorization 
with further development for 
HIPAA, grievance/complaint, 
and process improvements 

None identified Further categorization 
increases tracking and 
trending capabilities 

The Patient Safety Organization (PSO) contract executed, will begin project build within the next two to three 
months. 

Health Equity: AHA HETA 
assessment completed. Tailored 
MHSC’s HE plans and charter 
to match resources and strategic 
goals. 

None identified  Align the age-friendly structural measures with health equity efforts. 

150/244



9 

 

Regulatory Readiness - Last Updated March 14, 2025 

 
PIPS Projects 

 
Baseline 

 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Planned 
updates 

 
Target 
Goal 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 
CY 2025 YTD 

Emergency Management: All Senior Leaders 
complete FEMA courses for better understanding 
of Incident Command Structure 

 
0% 

 
100% 

 
NA 

 
80% 

 
April 2025 

   

Environment of Care: Evaluating changes for a 
tobacco free campus 

NA Completed NA Signs ordered April 2025    

PICC Team: PICC line data in Synergi 
                     95% success insertion [1 attempt] 
                     Decrease catheter readjustment 

 
NA 

 

100% 
95% 
<5% 

NA 
100% 
0% 

100% 
89% 
4.6% 

 
April 2025 

   

Trauma         Improve hourly GCS charting. 
                     Improve hourly VS charting. 
                     Improve EMS scene time <20” 

38% 
54% 
78% 

65% 
75% 
85% 

75% 
85% 
90% 

44% 
75% 
82% 

 
April 2025 

   

Physician Recruitment:  Completed contracts 0 67% 75% 67% April 2025 75%   

Blood Utilization: Consent completed. 
                              Order to administer. 
                              Transfusion indication 

97% 
95% 
100% 

100% 
100% 
100% 

NA 
NA 
NA 

99% 
99% 
99% 

 
April 2025 

   

Code Blue Committee 
 

In development ----- ------ ------- April 2025    

Cardiopulmonary: Ventilator Orders 69% 100% NA 93% April 2025 100% NA  

Sleep Lab: decrease turn around read times 50% 100% NA 100% April 2025 100% NA  

Dietitians: reconciling dietary orders 
 

In development  ------ ------ ------ April 2025    

MS/ICU     Critical Values MS – 98% 
ICU – 97% 

95% 100% MS – 88% 
ICU – 94% 

April 2025    

                   BCMA MS – 93% 
ICU – 93% 

95% 98% MS – 96.63% 
ICU – 93.1% 

April 2025    

Falls: reduce and maintain fall rate to 
less than 2.5 per 1000 acute care 
patient days 

CY 2023 
5.33 / 1000 patient 
days 

Less than 
2.5 / 1000 
patient days 

Less than 
1.5 / 1000 

patient days 

1.21 / 1000 
patient days 

April 2025    

OB: unexpected complications of newborn/1000 live 
births 

Severe and Moderate 
in overall total 
Overall:  58.51 

Overall: 29.4 
Severe: 12.8 
Moderate:  
18.1 

Overall:  25 
 

Severe: 12 
 

Moderate: 17 

Overall: 51.63 
 
Severe: 29.89 
 
Moderate: 21.79 

April 2025    

3000 College Drive:  Sample medications In development ----- ------ ------ April 2025    

151/244



10 

 

 
PIPS Projects 

 
Baseline 

 

 
Target Goal 
 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Target 
Goal 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 
CY 2025 update 

Dialysis:  Central Venous Catheters 10-15% 
               Increase AV Fistulas to 85-90% 

 
93.15% 

 
90% 

 
95% 

 
92% 

April 2025    

Opioid Safety In development ------ ----- ----- April 2025    

Behavioral Health In development ------ ------ ------ April 2025    
 

Community, Services and Growth Pillar - Last Updated March 14, 2025 

Objective/Initiative 
 

 
Baseline 

 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Target Goal 

 
Stretch Goal 

 
CY 2025 YTD 

Improve and establish outreach to community 
and outlying areas/ Increase number of 

community presentations 

 
 
 

Baseline data 
unavailable, goals 
are being set by 

each team. 
 

    

Community education 7 
presentations 

8 
Presentations 

7 
presentations 

January 2025 Add 6 
presentations 

Add 8 
presentations 

6 total 
presentations 

Diabetes Education Training Whole 
Process 

On target January 2025 Manage referrals 13/15 
scheduled 

Care for the caregiver Resources 
for caregiver 

Whole 
Process 

On target December 
2025 

Increase 
community 

Contact 

Have 211 
Ambassador 

 
Meeting goal 

Mental health Secure 
mental 
health 

services 

Whole 
process 

On target January 2025 Prosper 
training for 
MHSC staff 

Increasing 
access to 

Qler 
telehealth 

 
Meeting goal 

Improve from a Google 2-star Rating to a 
Google 3-star rating by the end of three years 

 
2.3 

 
3 

 
4 

 
4.1 

NA  
4 

 
4.5 

 
4.2 

Utilize master plan to identify areas where we can 
provide outreach to outlying areas 

In development ---------- --------- ------------- Remains in 
development 

   

Develop a strategic communication/marketing 
plan. 
 

10 testimonial 28 30 39 January 2025   Adding meet 
the team 
profiles 

 

 

 

152/244



11 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Community Education goal is 
to have a total of 7 
presentations in 2024   
Goal met 
 
 
 
Radiation Oncology is working 
with in-house translators to 
provide Spanish documents in 
the education binder for new 
patients. 
 

Scheduling can 
sometimes be difficult. 
Some departments are 
not as comfortable with 
public speaking. 
 
 
Documents from 
outside entities are not 
in Spanish 

None identified at this 
time 
 
 
 
 
 
 
None identified at this 
time 

Young at Heart Lunch & Learn-Jan. 28 
Rock Springs Chamber of Commerce-Feb. 13 
Rock Springs Health Academy- Feb. 13 

Currently have planned presentations: 
School District #1 Retired Teachers-March 3 
Rock Springs Health Academy-March 5 
Young at Heart Lunch & Learn- April 22 

 
Monthly radio spots with KREO 
 

Diabetes Education: Diabetic 
Self-Management Education 
(DSME) site change from 
Public Health to MHSC. There 
were five referrals in the first 
week upon the transition from 
Public Health to MHSC. 

None identified at this 
time 

RN patient educator 
performs the nurse visit, 
and the Director of 
Education is the DSME 
Quality Coordinator. 
Medical Nutrition 
Therapy (MNT) continues 
through MHSC 
Dieticians. Potential 
impact to increase 
appointments as the RN 
patient educator meets 
with patients while 
hospitalized.  

Contract renewed.  Referrals are being scheduled. 

Care for the Caregiver: 
Care for the Caregiver team 
members will 
attend/participate/present at 2 
public events to meet the 
community members we serve, 
network with other service 
providers, and build 
relationships in our community 
in 2024.  Goal exceeded for CY 
2024 with 3 events attended. 
 

None identified None identified 2025: Care for the Caregiver team members will attend/ participate/ present at 4 public events  
MHSC will have an employee train and be the SWC 211 Ambassador. Caregivers need to know the services and 
providers available to them in our county and state.  
The employees of MHSC are the largest group of caregivers in our county and planning is in place for providing 
support. 
 
 

Accomplishments 
 

Issues Impact Action Plan 

Mental Health:    8 hours of telehealth offered for outpatients on Wednesdays.  Feedback is positive and patients are returning for 
further visits. 
 

153/244



12 

 

 

Financial Stewardship Pillar - Last Updated March 14, 2025 

Objective/Initiative 
 

 
Baseline 

 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Target Goal 

 
Stretch Goal 

 
CY 2025 

YTD 

 
Improve Days of Cash on Hand by 10% 
each year for three years  

 
1/1/24 = 110.9 

 
FY25 = 119 

 
125 

 
110 days  

No change, 
inline to 
meet FY 

goal 

FY26 = 
131, FY27 

= 144 

 
 

 
102 

 
Reduce and maintain Days in A/R to 45 days 
by the end of 2024 

 
CY 24 Jan-Jul 
Average 63 days 

 
54 days 

 
45 by 12/31/27 

 

75 *estimated 
With Medicare 
claims removed 
from A/R, the 

estimated 58 days 
 

Change 
target goal 
to 54 days 
by FY25 

 
54 days by 
6/30/25 

  
81.29 

 
Maintain the level of claims denials at state 
and national benchmarks 

 
CY 24 Apr-June 
24.7% 

 
(target goal 
<15% by 
end of FY 

2025) 

 
 

<12% by end of 
FY25 

 

 
 

14% 

Goal may 
be 

reevaluated 
once clear 

reporting is 
available 

 

 
Less than 
15% by 
June 30, 

2024 

 
 

(7%) 

 
 

11% 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Improve Google Star Rating 
Meeting and exceeding the goal 

None identified   

Utilize Master Plan:  no update 
at this time, planning in 
progress 
 

  Senior leaders will meet to discuss priorities. 

Marketing plan is focusing on 
nutrition and sharing our 
successes, on target to meet 
goal 

None identified   

Chronic Care Management is 
working toward increasing 
Medicare annual wellness visits. 
Goal is exceeded as of 
12/4/2024. 

None identified   

154/244



13 

 

 
Objective/Initiative 

 

 
Baseline 

 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 
CY 2024 
Outcome 

Goal Re-
evaluation 
planned 

 
Target Goal 

 
Stretch Goal 

 
CY 2025 

YTD 

 
 
 
Reduce and maintain Days Not Final Billed 
(DNFB) 

 
 
 
CY 24 Jan-Aug 
Average 10.1 
days 

 
 
 
 

5 days 

 
 
 

< 5 days by end of 
FY25 

 

 
 
 

31.7  
 

(with Medicare 
claims removed 

from DNFB, the 
number is estimated 

at 4.79 days) 

Due to 
CAH 

conversion, 
held 

Medicare 
claims have 
overstated 

this 
ratio.  Once 
claims are 
billed, we 
should be 
on track to 
meet goal. 

 
 
 
 
 

On hold 
until letter 
received 

from 
Noridian 

  
 

 
32 
 

With 
Medicare 

claims 
removed 
5.6 days 

 
 

Build the MHSC County Maintenance Fund to 
$2,000,000 by the end of three years / Work with 
the County Commissioners to set annual budget 
to achieve $2,000,000 goal over three-year 
strategic plan and still allow for adequate funds in 
annual budget for routine maintenance 

 
7/1/2024 

$500,000 rolled 
over 

 

 
$2,000,000 by 

the end of 
three years 

 
Intermediate goal - 

$1 million by 
06/30/25 

 

 
Funds cannot be 

rolled over until the 
end of the fiscal year. 

 
 

Pending property tax legislation 
 
 

 

Build and maintain the building fund to the 
amount of depreciation expense by the end 
of three years / Supplement the building 
fund from monthly, quarterly, or annual 
contributions from cash flow from 
operations to achieve the total amount of 
depreciation expense by the end of three-
year strategic plan 

 
 
 
 

6/30/2024 
$7,000,000 

 
 
amount of 
depreciation 
expense by 
the end of 
three years 

 

Intermediate goal 
- $8 million by 

06/30/25.  $9 M 
by 6/30/26. $10 
M by 06/30/27 

and 
12/31/27.  Stretch 

- $12M by 
12/31/27 

 
 
 
 

$7,447,000 as of 
12/31/24 

 
 
 
 
 

No change 

Intermediate 
goal - $8 

million by 
06/30/25.  $9 

M by 
6/30/26. $10 

M by 
06/30/27 

and 
12/31/27.   

 
 
 

Stretch - 
$12M by 
12/31/27 

 
 
 

$7.4 
million 

Decrease the number of Nursing and 
Respiratory Therapy travel staff by 30%, per 
year for three years 

 
CY 2023 

RT/RN staff 
17 total 

 
RT/RN 

Staff 11.9 
total 

 
RT/RN Staff 

11 total 

 
21 total 

1 RT and 20 RN 

 
 

January 
2025 

 
 

RT/RN 
staff 11 total 

 

 
 

RT/RN 
Staff 9 total 

 
16 total 

1 RT and 
15 RN Nursing leadership will work with Human 

Resources to recruit and retain permanent 
staff and reduce travel staff by 30% per year 

Additional goal contract staff expenditure 
total less in total for CY 2024 compared to 
CY2023 

CY 2023 
Jan- Dec 

$4,233,263.17 

 
NA 

 

 
NA 

CY 2024 (Jan-Nov) 
*Dec financials not ready  

$3,795,535.48 

January 
2025 

   

155/244



14 

 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Improve days of cash on hand Slow release of billing 
with CAH Medicare 
Number 

Altering the current 
amount of days of cash 
on hand 

 

Reduce and maintain Days in A/R Slow release of billing 
with CAH Medicare 
Number 

Altering current number 
of days in AR 

 

Maintain the level of claims denials No identified issues   

Reduce and maintain Days Not 
Final Billed:  DNFB split into HIM 
and PFS cases 

Slow release of billing 
with CAH Medicare 
Number 

Altering current number 
of days in AR 

 

Build the MHSC County 
Maintenance Fund 

 Pending property tax 
legislation may change 
this initiative 

Request for carryover funds will be made in April 2025 
 
 

Accomplishments Issues Impact Action Plan 

Build and maintain the building 
fund:  receipt of QRA funds 
helped replenish the building fund. 

Conversion to Critical 

Access billing held 

since Oct. 1 

  

Decrease the number of Nursing 
and Respiratory Therapy travel 
staff: 
Contracted with Linked-In 
Targeted adds with Indeed 
Targeted Facebook adds 

National staffing 
shortages. 
 
Colleges are not seeing 
the same level of 
enrollment or limited 
capacity for students. 

 
 
Not having travel staff for 
Med Surg, this will have 3 
RNs for day/night shift 
and limit bed capacity to 
15 patients. 

Continue to “grow our own” through scholarships. 
Cross-training 
Preceptor incentive 
NEMO program for new nurses to have mentors 

Alignment of individual 
departmental performance 
improvement projects (PIPS) has 
identified two additional areas for 
financial stewardship. 

None identified   Surgical Services – working on endo room turnover times, nearing goal 
Patient Navigation – working on a self-pay project, meeting goal 

 

156/244



157/244



158/244



159/244



160/244



161/244



162/244



163/244



164/244



165/244



166/244



167/244



168/244



169/244



170/244



171/244



172/244



173/244



174/244



175/244



176/244



177/244



178/244



179/244



180/244



181/244



182/244



183/244



184/244



185/244



186/244



187/244



188/244



189/244



190/244



191/244



192/244



193/244



194/244



195/244



196/244



197/244



198/244



199/244



200/244



201/244



202/244



203/244



204/244



205/244



206/244



207/244



208/244



209/244



210/244



211/244



212/244



213/244



214/244



215/244



216/244



217/244



218/244



219/244



220/244



221/244



A FOUNDATION IN INFECTION PREVENTION

Patient Safety Competency Curriculum for the Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
222/244



OBJECTIVE
MEET THE PATIENT SAFETY STRUCTURAL MEASURE FOR BOARD-LEVEL EDUCATION

This course will:

• Provide a solid understanding of  the 

underlying principles in Infection 

Prevention

• Support critical evaluation of  MHSC 

performance

• Develop the ability to ask informed 

questions by providing updates on the state 

of  the science

223/244



Shifting the focus from 
What to How and Why

When someone is asked to do something “because I 

told you to” without context, the opportunity for 

ownership is removed. 

If  instead, a person chooses to do something because 

of  what they know and understand, it’s theirs! 

If  I know why, I comply.

Infection Prevention education has historically 

focused on a long list of  “what” at the expense of  the 

learner’s need to know why.

224/244



The Transmission Of Infectious Disease

To prevent the spread of  infectious 

disease, it’s essential to understand 

how transmission happens: not by 

magic or bad luck.

Microbes travel as far as you can 

throw them or carry them.

The transfer of  microbes is 

instantaneous upon contact.

The 5 Second Rule is a Myth

225/244



CHAIN OF INFECTION

Break any link in the chain 

and an infection is prevented.

226/244



STANDARD PRECAUTIONS

• Primary objective: keep the 

goo off  of  you, if  you do get it 

on you, wash it off

• The same applies to the 

environment

• All patients are considered 

potentially infectious

227/244



TRANSMISSION-BASED PRECAUTIONS
Transmission-Based Precautions: 

interventions designed to prevent the 

spread of  a specific known or suspected 

pathogen

• Contact

• Contact Enteric

• Droplet

• Aerosol

• Airborne Contact

• High-Consequence Pathogen

228/244



Preventing Infection- How Precautions Apply In Community Life
Preventative Action Mechanism of Transmission Chain-link Broken

Immunization Multiple- disease dependent Vulnerable Host

Wearing a mask/face covering Contact, Droplet Portal of  Entry (personal protection)

Wearing a mask/face covering Droplet, Aerosol, Airborne Portal of  Exit (source control)

Washing fruits and vegetables Contact Reservoir

Washing hands as soon as you get 

home

Contact Mode of  Transmission and Reservoir

Staying home when you are sick Multiple- disease dependent Portal of  Exit (source control)

Adhering to safe food temperature 

guidelines when cooking

Contact Enteric Infectious Organism and Mode of  

Transmission (inhibiting microbial 

growth- cold; killed organisms- heat)

229/244



Preventing Infection- How Precautions Apply In The Hospital
Preventative Action Mechanism of Transmission Chain-link Broken

Immunization Multiple- disease dependent Vulnerable Host

Wearing a mask in a coughing 

patient’s room

Contact, Droplet Portal of  Entry (personal 

protection)

Masking a coughing patient at 

triage

Droplet, Aerosol, Airborne Portal of  Exit (source control)

Cleaning high-touch surfaces Contact Reservoir

Putting a patient in an AIIR 

(negative pressure room)

Airborne (also use for Aerosol 

when available)

Mode of  Transmission (avoid 

measles in the HVAC system)

Sterilization of  instruments Contact Infectious Organism (if  none 

present, they can’t cause infection)

Hand Washing Contact Infectious Organism and Mode of  

Transmission (organism not 

carried on hands from one place to 

another)
230/244



“I never get sick, I don’t need to wear PPE.”

MYTH: if  I don’t feel sick, I can’t 
spread germs.

FACT: many microbes can spread without the source 
knowing they are ill or that they have are spreading a 
pathogen.

Humans have more 
microbial cells 
living on us and in 
us than we have 
human cells and we 
can transmit them, 
benign or 
pathogenic alike.

THE WHY OF IT:

231/244



IT’S ALL ABOUT THE PATIENTS
When patients are in the hospital, 

they are particularly vulnerable 

because of  their illness or condition. 

Worse, they are also in an 

environment which concentrates 

many kinds of  illness in one place, 

unlike in the community. This 

double whammy is the reason we 

are fastidious about preventing 

germs from spreading.

Remember, it’s not about us and 

what makes our jobs easier. 

It’s not about us at all. 

It’s about them!
A case of  the sniffles which is inconvenient for you might kill them.

232/244



Sources Of Risk In A Hospital/Community System
A Bidirectional Relationship

       

What impacts the community impacts the hospital and what impacts the hospital impacts the community.

233/244



Predictable Risks In The 
Hospital- If we can predict 
it, we can address it.

Staff: presenteeism, unwashed hands

Equipment: failure to clean equipment (stethoscopes, IV 
pumps, lab draw caddies)

Medical devices: natural barriers to microbial entry 
compromised by central lines, urinary catheters, ventilators

Environment: contamination from sink drains, uncleaned 
over-bed tables, uncleanable or compromised furniture

Procedures: deposition of  microbes into a surgical wound, 
skin antisepsis failure, mistake during aseptic technique

Utility Contamination: Legionella species in the water 
system, dust from the HVAC system inhaled

Construction: debris entering the HVAC system, uncontained 
debris contaminating the environment and equipment

234/244



Mitigation- 
How Do We Prevent Infection?
Effective prevention begins with knowing what’s 
going on

Comprehensive Surveillance- if  you don’t look, you 
miss stuff

New to MHSC- all positive diagnostics for 
infectious disease, all NHSN* definitions, 
syndromic presentations, etc.

Environment of  Care rounding is part of  
comprehensive surveillance.

Thorough surveillance supports evidence-based 
interventions and comparison to national 
benchmarks.

*NHSN (National Healthcare Safety Network)- a non-regulatory system for 
gathering nation-wide data from healthcare entities run by CDC which CMS 
(regulatory) uses to evaluate compliance with performance metrics.

There, whether you see it 

or not.

Risk

235/244



Tracking And Trending- Epidemiology

Monitoring the occurrence of  infections over 
time allows Infection Prevention to distinguish 
between background incidence and a worrisome 
up-tick requiring intervention beyond the basic 
measures already in place (typical containment 
strategies like Standard Precautions).

MHSC has implemented epidemiological tools 
such as epidemic curves, trend reports, and line 
listing. These support reporting requirements to 
local public health as well as regulatory 
reporting requirements.

236/244



Interventions- What do we 
do when we find a problem?

The quality of  the intervention depends first on the 

quality of  the data, then:

1. Regulatory compliance

2. Nationally recognized standards of  practice

3. Literature reviews

4. Peer consultation- professional bodies such as 

APIC

Innovation and creativity- with all of  the above in 

place, Infection Prevention seeks to advance the 

science when they see opportunities to do so.

IP Creativity- Hand Washing Video from Alameda 

Health System

237/244



Interpretation: How Do You Evaluate An Infection Prevention Program?
Define what constitutes a problem: 

HAI (Healthcare Associated Infection): determined by rigorous application of  NHSN definitions and 

considered to be associated with the inpatient encounter

CAI (Community Associated Infection): defined within the NHSN framework as infections likely to 

have originated prior to the inpatient encounter

These definitions are used by CMS in various programs and metrics including pay for performance and 

other financially linked incentives. Misapplication (knowing/intentional) of  these definitions is 

considered Medicare fraud. 

In practical terms, this means that the NHSN definitions determine what is and is not an HAI. 

Providers do not adjudicate HAI determinations and diagnosis does not apply unless provider 

diagnosis is a specifically included criterion of  an HAI definition (uncommon). Consider how this 

differs from HAC (Healthcare Associated Condition) definitions in Quality workflows.

238/244



INTERPRETATION: COMPARISON 
AND NATIONAL BENCHMARKING

SIR (Standardized Infection Ratio) - a risk-adjusted calculation 

which allows hospitals to compare their observed over expected 

performance to their peers with 1 being average for infections.

SUR (Standardized Utilization Ratio) - a risk-adjusted calculation 

which allows hospitals to compare their observed over expected 

performance to their peers with 1 being average for device utilization.

These ratios replace rates as the standard benchmarking tool for 

Infection Prevention purposes. They are useful because they compare 

like with like and level the playing field.

(Pharmacy is now using NHSN for Antimicrobial Stewardship 

purposes and also has standardized ratios for their work.)

Our goal: SIRs and SURs of less than 1, the lower the better.

239/244



AUDITING- KEEPING TABS ON CLINICAL PRACTICE
Infection Prevention monitors more than just 

HAIs:

1. MDRO (Multi-Drug Resistant Organisms)

2. Hand Hygiene

3. Transmission-Based Precautions Compliance

4. Blood Culture Contamination

5. Antimicrobial Stewardship

6. EVS Auditing

7. Water Systems

And more…

240/244



Infection Prevention Assessment Of MHSC

Annual Risk Assessment and Plan-

Each Year Infection Prevention generates a 

set of  documents which provide the 

interpretation of  Infection Prevention 

metrics, an evaluation of  the previous year’s 

work, and the proposed interventions for the 

coming year.

These are living documents which are 

updated as needed.

241/244



On The Horizon

Current Concerns:

Measles – ongoing outbreaks (1st US deaths in 10 years)

Avian Influenza (Bird Flu, HPAI, H5N1- no consistent 

nomenclature yet)- economic concern for the moment, risk of  

transitioning into a human pathogen with pandemic potential

Tuberculosis- ongoing outbreak

Pertussis- ongoing outbreak

Mpox- ongoing outbreaks globally, uncontained

Candida auris- newer MDRO to the US healthcare setting, high 

mortality, difficult to clean out of  the environment

242/244



SUMMARY: KEY TAKE AWAYS

1. An Infection Prevention program’s effectiveness depends 
on its data which is only as good as its surveillance.

2. Infection Prevention is a team sport- the best intervention 
in the world with fail without the participation of  
everyone.

3. Infection Prevention is a Return On Investment (ROI) 
department. HAIs are expensive and so are issues with the 
physical plant. Through surveillance, of  the people and 
the facility, Infection Prevention ultimately saves the 
hospital money.

PS: Competency based learning requires assessment- your 
post-test is coming soon!

243/244



Infection Prevention Foundations Quiz 

1. Do you have to be symptomatic (feel ill, know you’re sick) to transmit microbes? 
a. Yes 
b. No 

2. What do we call an infection that meets an NHSN definition and occurred under our 
care? 

a. Nosocomial infection 
b. Healthcare Associated Infection 
c. Hospital Acquired Infection 

3. SIR (Standardized Infection Ratio) is a ratio of the number of observed infections 
over the number of expected infections, which is risk adjusted. 

a. True 
b. False 

4. Why do we now use SIR and SUR instead of rates? 
a. Because CDC wanted to make things more complicated. 
b. Because rates don’t facilitate peer-to-peer comparison and aren’t risk 

adjusted (including by setting). For example, it doesn’t make sense to 
compare a critical access hospital to a 1000 bed teaching hospital or to a 
nursing home. 

5. Why is it useful to compare our SIRs and SURs to a national average? 
a. CMS uses these metrics in their programs including those with financial 

consequences. 
b. If we only ever compare ourselves to our own past, we might be doing very 

well and never know it, and thus waste resources that could be applied to 
another opportunity. 

c. We might be doing very poorly and not realize it because we have made 
steady improvements over time. This could lead to taking our foot off the gas 
when more work is warranted. 

d. All of the above. 

244/244


	Agenda - May 7, 2025 Mtg
	Orientation Memo Barbara MacDonald Appointment
	Appointment Letter 2025_February_IP Appointment of Barbara McDonald MHSC Board letter Ann Marie Clevenger
	Infection Prevention Annual Update
	Orientation Memo Peer Review Stephanie Mlinar
	Professional Practice Review Plan -Medical Staff Peer Review-Draft May 2025
	Orientation Memo FOR EMPLOYEE HEALTHPLAN POLICY Patty OLexey
	CAH- Employee Health Plan 4-23-25
	CAH- Employee Health Plan-Changes
	Minutes for April 2 2025 Regular Meeting Draft
	Minutes for April 22 2025 Special Meeting Draft
	FY25 44 Osmopro Max
	FY25 53 Stryker Mako Rio Robotic Arm
	Orientation Memo Template - Active Policy on Policies and others for approval May 2025 Update
	Policies Standards Plans Procedures Processes Guidelines and Forms Active to Suspend
	Policies from the Governance Committee
	1. Policy for Development, Approval, and Oversight of Policies and Governance Documents at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
	MHSC Policy & Governance Document Approval Matrix
	3. Policies, Standards, Plans, Procedures_Processes, Guidelines and Forms
	Orientation Memo Template - CAH Plan of Care & Scope of Services for first read May 2025
	Plan of Care 4.21.25.gjp GovernanceportionofPlanofCareandScopeofServices for May 2025 Clean
	Plan of Care 4.21.25.gjpredline.GovernanceportionofPlanofCareandScopeofServices Redline for May 2025
	Orientation Memo Template - BOT MHSC Meeting Guidelines for first read May 2025
	Meeting Guidelines 4.8.25.BOT.meetingguidelines.gjp for May 2025 Clean
	Meeting Guidelines 4.8.25.BOT.meetingguidelines.gjpredline for May 2025
	Orientation Memo Template - BOT Senior Leadership Plan for first read May 2025
	Succession.policy.gjp. Clean May 2025
	Succession.policy.gjp.redline May 2025
	Chief Clinical Officer
	Chief Experience Officer
	Chief Financial Officer
	Chief Nursing Officer
	Building and Grounds Committee
	Governance Committee
	Quality chair report April 2025 Barbara Sowada
	Executive Summary with Data April 2025
	Finance Part 1 for May 2025
	Finance Part 2 for May 2025
	Finance Part 3 for May 2025
	A Foundation in Infection Prevention Mar 2025
	Board Competency- Infection Prevention Foundations Quiz

